
Cm 9452 July 2017  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

UK Asset Resolution Limited 

Annual Report & Accounts 

for the 12 months to 31 March 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Registered in England and Wales under company number 07301961 



 

 



Cm 9452  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

UK Asset Resolution Limited 

Annual Report & Accounts 

for the 12 months to 31 March 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Presented to Parliament 

by the Economic Secretary to the Treasury 
by Command of Her Majesty 

July 2017 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
© UK Asset Resolution Limited copyright 2017 

 

The text of this document (this excludes, where present, the Royal Arms and all departmental or agency logos) may 
be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium provided that it is reproduced accurately and not in a 
misleading context. 

 
The material must be acknowledged as UK Asset Resolution Limited copyright and the document title specified. 

Where third party material has been identified, permission from the respective copyright holder must be sought. 
 

Any enquiries related to this publication should be sent to us at pressoffice@ukar.co.uk. 

This publication is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications. 

Print ISBN 9781474144414 
Web ISBN 9781474144421 

 

ID 01051711 07/17 
 

Printed on paper containing 75% recycled fibre content minimum. 
 

Printed in the UK by the Williams Lea Group on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
UK Asset Resolution Limited contacts 
This document can be found on our website at www.ukar.co.uk. 

 

General enquiries should be addressed to: 

UK Asset Resolution Limited – Registered Office: 
Croft Road 
Crossflatts 
Bingley 
West Yorkshire 
BD16 2UA 

 

E-mail: pressoffice@ukar.co.uk 

Company number 07301961 

mailto:pressoffice@ukar.co.uk
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications
http://www.ukar.co.uk/
mailto:pressoffice@ukar.co.uk


UK Asset Resolution Limited Annual Report & Accounts 2017 

1 

 

 

 

Contents 
 

 
Page 

 

UKAR Group overview 3 
Chairman’s statement 5 

Chief Executive Officer's introduction 7 

Strategic Report 

Key highlights 10 
Strategy and operating environment 
- Company strategy 12 
- Customer strategy 13 
- People strategy 14 
- Community and environmental strategy 15 
Risk overview 16 

Directors’ Report and Governance Statement 

Corporate governance 
- Governance structure 20 
- Board of Directors 21 
- How the Board operated in 2016/17 25 
Directors’ Remuneration report 31 
Audit Committee Chairman's report 45 
Nomination Committee Chairman's report 49 
Transaction Approvals Committee Chairman's report 52 

Risk Committee Chairman's report 54 
Key performance indicators 57 
Financial review 59 
Risk management and control 69 
Corporate social responsibility report 74 
Other matters 77 
Statement of Directors’ and Accounting Officer's responsibilities 78 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Independent Auditor’s report - Group 79 

Accounts 

Consolidated Income Statement 87 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 88 
Consolidated Balance Sheet 89 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 90 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 91 
Notes to the Financial Statements 92 
Independent Auditor’s report – Company 144 
Company Balance Sheet 146 

Company Statement of Changes in Equity 147 
Company Cash Flow Statement 147 
Notes to the Company Financial Statements 148 



UK Asset Resolution Limited Annual Report & Accounts 2017 

2 

 

 

 



UK Asset Resolution Limited Annual Report & Accounts 2017 

3 

 

 

UKAR Group overview 

About UKAR 

UK Asset Resolution Limited ('UKAR') is the holding company established on 1 October 2010 to bring together the 
government-owned businesses of Bradford & Bingley plc ('B&B') and NRAM plc. These businesses are both closed to new 
business and are in run-off. UKAR is wholly owned by Her Majesty's Treasury ('HM Treasury'), whose shareholding is 
managed by UK Financial Investments Limited ('UKFI'). The full governance structure is set out in a framework document 
('the Framework Document') agreed between UKAR and HM Treasury (see page 20 for details). 

 
On 5 May 2016, UKAR sold NRAM plc to affiliates of Cerberus Capital Management LP (‘Cerberus’). Prior to the sale, on 30 
April 2016, assets and liabilities not included in the transaction were transferred from NRAM plc to a newly established 
subsidiary of UKAR, known as NRAM (No.1) Limited. On 18 July 2016, NRAM (No.1) Limited changed its name to NRAM 
Limited. Throughout the Annual Report & Accounts ‘NRAM’ refers to the underlying business. 

 

On 6 June 2016 UKAR commenced a seven year contract with Computershare Loan Services (‘Computershare’), which 
owns the UK's largest third-party mortgage administration business, for the outsourcing of mortgage servicing operations. As 
part of this process, c.1,700 colleagues transferred to Computershare. 

 

In addition, UKAR Corporate Services Limited ('UKARcs'), a subsidiary business of UKAR, is responsible for the 
administration of the government's Help to Buy: mortgage guarantee scheme and Help to Buy: ISA scheme on behalf of HM 
Treasury. The schemes are managed on a nil-gain nil-loss basis with all costs being fully reimbursed by HM Treasury. 

 

Mission and purpose 
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Key Facts  

 
March 2017 March 2016 

Number of customers 148,000 238,000 

Book value of customer loans £19.5bn £35.5bn 

Employees 175 1,912 

 

UKAR customers reduced by 90,000 during the year including 11,000 transferred to Cerberus on the sale of NRAM plc and 
57,000 relating to the sale of assets to Prudential and funds managed by Blackstone. UKAR continue to provide oversight of 
the customers sold to Prudential and Blackstone as part of an interim servicing arrangement. 

 

Sale of Assets 

To provide context for the financial disclosures within this report, the following details the asset sale transaction that took 
place shortly before the 31 March 2017 year end. 

 

On 30 March 2017, following an open and competitive process UKAR agreed to sell two separate B&B asset portfolios 
comprising performing buy-to-let loans for a total of £11.8bn to Prudential and funds managed by Blackstone. The sale was 
the result of a highly competitive process and the price achieved reflects the strong fundamentals of the assets and was at 
the upper end of expectations. However, due to the low margin on these loans the sale resulted in an accounting loss of 
£384.7m, which has been recognised in these accounts. The customer loans that were the subject of the sale were 
derecognised from the 31 March 2017 Balance Sheet and a balance for ‘amount owed in respect of sale of loans’ 
recognised. See page 66 for further details. 

 
The sale was based on the portfolio position as at 30 September 2016 of £11.8bn, from which point the buyers 
retrospectively acquired the cash flows from ownership of 104,000 loans originated by Bradford & Bingley and B&B‘s 
principal subsidiary, Mortgage Express. 

 
Cashflows received on the portfolio between 1 October 2016 and 30 March 2017 of £0.4bn were retained by UKAR and 
primarily used to repay the Working Capital Facility (‘WCF’). Due to the timing of the transaction, the £11.4bn balance due 
was settled after the financial year end, with £11.0bn used to repay the Financial Services Compensation Scheme (‘FSCS’) 
statutory debt in April 2017. The balance of £0.4bn was also used to repay the WCF. 
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Chairman’s statement 
 

The past 12 months have been significant for UKAR, and in my first Chairman's Statement following my appointment to the 
role in June 2016 I am pleased to report that we have achieved all our operational and financial targets, as explained further 
in the Chief Executive’s report. 

 
I succeeded Richard Pym who had served as Chairman since the formation of UKAR in October 2010 and who initiated the 
divestment of our mortgage servicing operations to Computershare, which took place in June last year. This has proved to 
be very successful, particularly from the perspective of our customers who are being served to the highest standards by our 
former colleagues. We continue to be responsible for the oversight of all of our customers, focusing on treating them fairly 
and helping those in financial difficulty. 

 
In addition to the transfer of our mortgage servicing operations, we have achieved our performance targets and continue to 
make great progress in repaying our debt to taxpayers.   Our financial results are spelt out in the Chief Executive's report. 
The final stage of the £13bn sale of NRAM assets to Cerberus completed in July 2016, and the subsequent National Audit 
Office report into the sale judged that this extremely large and complex transaction was professionally executed and 
achieved value for money. 

 

We took the recommendations in that report into account when we sold a further large asset portfolio comprising performing 
buy-to-let loans originated under the Bradford & Bingley and Mortgage Express brands for £11.8bn to Prudential and funds 
managed by Blackstone. Although this sale was agreed in March 2017 financial settlement did not occur until after our 
financial reporting year-end. The sale enabled £11.0bn of the £15.7bn loan from the FSCS, which was funded by HM 
Treasury, to be repaid in April 2017 and delivered good value for taxpayers. See page 4 for further details. 

 

The Board 

As was anticipated in last year's report, we said farewell to three of our board members during the summer of 2016. As 
mentioned previously, Richard Pym stepped down as Chairman at the beginning of June 2016 and retired from the boards of 
UKAR, Bradford & Bingley and NRAM in July 2016. Kent Atkinson and Richard Banks also stepped down from those 
boards in June 2016. All three had served on those boards since UKAR was established and I am very grateful to each of 
them for their contributions. David Lunn, one of our UKFI appointed Non-Executive Directors also stepped down from the 
boards in February 2017 when he moved to another role in HM Treasury and he was replaced by Peter Norton. Peter has 
been closely involved with UKAR for over two years and joined the boards in April 2017. 

 
Michael Buckley stepped down from the boards in June 2017, having served on the board of Bradford & Bingley for ten 
years and on UKAR since its establishment in October 2010. His wise counsel will be much missed. After a thorough 
recruitment process, we have identified Brendan Russell, a former Barclays and Royal Bank of Scotland executive, to 
succeed him. 

 

Following these departures, Ian Hares (formerly Finance & Investment Director) succeeded Richard Banks as Chief 
Executive, Sue Langley replaced Kent as Senior Independent Director, and we welcomed Brendan McDonagh as a board 
member in April 2016, becoming chair of the Audit Committee in June 2016. Details of the board changes, structure and 
biographies of each board member can be found on pages 21 to 26. 

 

At the end of the year, our internal review of the performance of the Board was positive and confirmed that the new board is 
working well as a team and in a constructive manner. The results of the evaluations for the various board committees were 
also positive and provided assurance that they remained fit for purpose. 
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Chairman’s statement (continued) 

The Future 

We are now preparing for the next phase of our programme to repay the FSCS loan in full and thereafter to repay other 
borrowings from HM Treasury. Whilst we have been blessed with stronger financial markets than many expected during the 
year, the speed at which we can undertake future asset sales will depend, as ever, on the appetite of financial markets for 
our assets and steps that we need to take to look after the interests of our customers. I believe that we have the right 
people in place to undertake further transactions which will enable us to repay the UK taxpayers, in full, as efficiently and as 
quickly as we can. 

 
I thank all board members for their contribution to the effective operation of UKAR and their support for me as Chairman. I 
would also like to thank all our colleagues, including those who transferred to Computershare, for their efforts in helping 
UKAR to achieve such success to date, and positioning us so well for the future. 

 
 
 

 
John Tattersall 

Chairman 
3 July 2017 
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Chief Executive Officer's introduction 
 

This year saw significant change for colleagues with asset sales and the outsourcing of our mortgage servicing operation. 
We now comprise around 175 colleagues with 1,700 colleagues having moved across to Computershare. 

 

Financial Performance 

I am pleased to report that UKAR achieved all four of its financial targets agreed with UKFI for 2016/17 (for details see page 
10). Over the past 12 months we paid the government £3.6bn (March 2016: £6.8bn) including £3.3bn (March 2016: £6.3bn) 
of principal on our loans. Administrative expenses for the year (excluding UKARcs costs) were £13.2m lower at £161.8m 
(March 2016: £175.0m). Reflective of our shrinking Balance Sheet, underlying profits reduced to £706.0m (March 2016: 
£1,055.4m) and statutory profits before tax were £346.9m (March 2016: £1,175.8m). 

 

The difference between underlying and statutory profits is explained more fully on page 59. The key difference was the 
accounting loss of £384.7m recognised on the sale of performing B&B assets to Prudential and funds managed by 
Blackstone. Whilst these assets were sold below book value, they are low yielding and the sales process was very 
competitive with the outcome comparing favourably to the fair value of the assets that was reflected in the prior year financial 
statements. 

 
The steady reduction in arrears cases has continued with 4,617 accounts in arrears by 3 months or more (March 2016: 
6,377). This is a fall of 88% since UKAR was formed in 2010 and therefore it is unrealistic to expect such large declines to 
continue. Encouragingly 69% of customers in arrears are in a long term arrangement to repay and so ultimately should 
return to financial health. 

 
A summary of UKAR's financial performance can be found on page 10, with more detail provided in the Financial Review on 
pages 59 to 68. 

 

Balance Sheet 

Since UKAR was formed in 2010 the UKAR companies have repaid £23.7bn of government funding, including £3.3bn in 
2016/17. 

 
As at 31 March 2017, lending balances stand at £19.5bn (March 2016: £35.5bn). In total, the Balance Sheet has reduced by 
£81.5bn from £115.8bn at formation to £34.3bn at 31 March 2017. 

 
The asset sale to Prudential and funds managed by Blackstone was agreed in March 2017, however, financial settlement 
occurred during April 2017 and as a result the Balance Sheet reduced by a further £11.4bn with an equivalent repayment of 
government funding after our financial year-end. See page 4 for further details. 

 

Costs 

The outsourcing of our mortgage servicing operation has resulted in the nature of the cost base changing significantly, with 
around two thirds of direct costs following the contract and being replaced with servicing fees payable to Computershare. 
Unlike a number of the direct costs, the fees payable to Computershare are subject to VAT. Nevertheless costs fell by 7. 2% 
year-on-year. 
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Chief Executive Officer's introduction (continued) 

Customers 

UKAR’s approach to good conduct and delivering fair and appropriate outcomes to our customers is fully aligned with the 
Financial Conduct Authority's ('FCA's') principles and continues through our partnership with Computershare. 

 
The number of UKAR customers has reduced by 90,000 (including 68,000 due to asset sales) to 148,000 (March 2016: 
238,000) with 158,000 mortgage accounts (March 2016: 298,000) and 35,000 unsecured loan accounts (March 2016: 
42,000). In the main, these loans continue to perform well and over 93% of customers are up to date with their mortgage 
repayments. In addition, UKAR continues to provide oversight of the 104,000 accounts (57,000 customers) sold to 
Prudential and funds managed by Blackstone as part of an interim servicing arrangement. 

 

In addition to our contact strategies for customers in arrears, we also engage proactively with other customers who may 
need help with their financial situation to ensure they are ready for the future. The total number of mortgage cases three or 
more months in arrears, including those in possession, reduced by 28% to 4,617 cases as at 31 March 2017 (March 2016: 
6,377). Further information on our customer strategy is on page 13. 

 
Although we aim for excellence in customer and debt management, we continue to deal with several legacy issues including 
Payment Protection Insurance (‘PPI’) and we continue to do the right thing for our customers and redress where appropriate. 
Following the announcement of PS17/3 by the FCA in March 2017 we now have clarity on the way forward on PPI and have 
reviewed our provisions accordingly. In total, we have provided a further £64.4m for remediation in the year, the bulk of 
which is in respect of PPI. 

 

UKAR Corporate Services 

UKARcs continues to provide administration support for the government’s Help to Buy: mortgage guarantee scheme and the 
Help to Buy: ISA and all service levels are being maintained across both initiatives. 

 

Colleagues 

The majority of our colleagues are based in offices in West Yorkshire which are shared with Computershare. We have legal 
and regulatory responsibility for our customers and by working closely with our former colleagues we have clear oversight of 
the service our customers receive. 

 
Our much reduced size means we have fewer generic roles within UKAR and a greater proportion of specialist and 
managerial positions. The unique nature and likely longevity of the business gives a heightened focus on our strategic 
objective of being a great place to work as it is important that, where necessary, we can retain and recruit the right skills for 
us to achieve our goals. The latest internal survey results continued to show high levels of colleague engagement 
demonstrating that we are succeeding in this objective (see our people strategy on page 14). 

 

Conclusion 

The huge effort and commitment of many colleagues over the past few years has enabled UKAR to smoothly transition to 
this new chapter in our history. Our former colleagues at Computershare are continuing to deliver good service and fair 
treatment to our customers, and those of us that remain with UKAR are now driving forward our objective of repaying the 
government debt. On behalf of the Board, I thank everyone involved in helping UKAR to achieve its objectives and I thank 
the Board and my Executive management team for their support to me personally. 

 
 
 

 
Ian Hares 

Chief Executive Officer 
3 July 2017 
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March 2017 March 2016 

 

Key highlights 

Highlights of 2016/17 

During the year we have made significant progress against all our key objectives and overall mission of maximising value for 
the taxpayer. Internally, UKAR measures its financial performance against the following four key performance indicators: 

 

Financial measure 2016/17 Target March 2017 March 2016 

Underlying Profit Before Tax >= £622.0m £706.0m £1,055.4m 

Net Government Loan Repayments >= £2.7bn £3.3bn £6.3bn 

3m+ Residential Arrears <= 5,199 4,617 6,377 

Ongoing Administrative Expenses * <= £167.2m £161.8m £175.0m 

* Excluding UKARcs costs (2016/17 £5.7m; 2015/16: £5.4m). 

 
Underlying profit for the year to March 2017 has decreased by £349.4m to £706.0m (March 2016: £1,055.4m).   The 
reduction was primarily driven by lower net interest income as a result of the shrinking Balance Sheet. Underlying profit is an 
internal performance measure which excludes the remediation of inherited regulatory defects, certain gains or losses such 
as the sale of assets at a discount or premium and movements in fair value and hedge ineffectiveness relating to financial 
instruments. 

 
Net government loan repayments of £3.3bn were £3.0bn lower than the prior year. The decrease in the repayments to HM 
Treasury is primarily due to a £3.0bn drawdown to fund the repayment of third party debt. In addition, 2016/17 included 
£0.5bn of net asset sale proceeds compared to £5.0bn in 2015/16.   Since the formation of UKAR in October 2010, £23.7bn 
of the government loans have been repaid. Government loan repayments resulting from the sale of assets to Prudential and 
funds managed by Blackstone were made in April 2017 and will be reflected in the 2017/18 Annual Report & Accounts. 

 

Arrears levels for both B&B and NRAM have fallen as a direct consequence of asset sales and proactive arrears 
management coupled with the continued low interest rate environment. The total number of mortgage accounts three or 
more months in arrears, including those in possession, reduced by 28% from 6,377 at 31 March 2016 to 4,617 cases as at 
31 March 2017. The reduction was driven by strong underlying performance (1,441) and asset sales (319). 

 

Ongoing administrative expenses (excluding £5.7m UKARcs costs) for the year were £161.8m. This was £13.2m lower than 
the year to March 2016 (£175.0m) primarily driven by the reduction in assets under management, partly offset by the VAT 
now incurred on outsourced mortgage servicing costs. 

 

Statutory Profit Before Tax £346.9m £1,175.8m 
 

 

Statutory profit before tax of £346.9m was £828.9m lower than the prior year (March 2016: £1,175.8m) and was impacted by 
the lower underlying profit, a loss on assets sold and changes to customer redress provisions, partly offset by an insurance 
recovery. 

 
UKAR agreed to sell two separate B&B asset portfolios comprising performing buy-to-let loans for a total of £11.8bn to 
Prudential and funds managed by Blackstone on 30 March 2017. The sale was the result of a highly competitive process 
and the price achieved reflects the strong fundamentals of the assets and was at the upper end of expectations. However, 
due to the low margin on these loans the sale resulted in an accounting loss of £384.7m. This was the first of a programme 
of sales designed to raise sufficient proceeds for B&B to repay the £15.7bn debt from the FSCS and for the FSCS to repay 
its corresponding loan from HM Treasury by 31 March 2018. This was partly offset by a profit of £51.0m from the sale of 
NRAM plc to Cerberus on 5 May 2016. 

 
In 2013 NRAM plc submitted an insurance claim in respect of CCA remediation payments for which a settlement of £50.0m 
has been agreed and received during the year to 31 March 2017. 

 

In March 2017 the FCA confirmed a PPI complaints deadline of 29 August 2019 and also the rules in relation to unfair 
relationships following Plevin v Paragon Personal Finance Limited (‘Plevin’). As a result of this and increased complaint 
volumes received during the year, PPI provisions have been increased by £49.2m. Other customer remediation provisions 
of £15.2m relate to smaller legacy issues and bring the total charge for the year to £64.4m. The prior year benefited from the 
release of a £268.3m customer remediation provision. 

 
Please see pages 59 to 68 for a full review of the 2016/17 financial performance. 
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Key highlights (continued) 

Highlights of 2016/17 (continued) 

Since the formation of UKAR in October 2010 we have made significant progress towards our long term objectives by 
reducing arrears, repaying government loans, reducing the Balance Sheet and driving cost effectiveness. 

 

Balance Sheet assets (£bn) down 70% Repaid £23.7bn of government loans 

 
 

 
3m+ arrears down 88% Ongoing operating expenses* (£m) down 42% 

 

 
* excluding UKARcs costs 
** 12 months to March 2014 

 

Underlying profit (£m) Statutory profit before tax (£m) 

* 12 months to March 2014 * 12 months to March 2014 
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Strategy and operating environment 

Company strategy 

UKAR’s overarching objective is to develop and execute an investment strategy for disposing of its underlying investments in 
NRAM and B&B in an orderly and active way through sale, redemption, buy-back or other means. This is within the context 
of protecting and creating value for the taxpayer as shareholder and, where applicable, as provider of financial support, 
paying due regard to the maintenance of financial stability and to acting in a way that promotes competition. 

 
Our mission to maximise value for the taxpayer is supported by four strategic objectives all of which are underpinned by the 
need to treat all our stakeholders fairly. In 2017 the four objectives were reviewed and updated to reflect UKAR’s progress in 
simplifying the Balance Sheet and the role of the business following the outsourcing of the mortgage servicing operations: 

 
▪ To reduce and protect the Balance Sheet 
▪ To challenge and maximise cost-effectiveness and efficiency 
▪ To work with our partners to ensure continued excellence in customer service and debt management 
▪ To be a great place to work 

 
These strategic objectives continue to support our overarching objective and the success achieved in those areas over the 
past 12 months are highlighted in this strategic overview. 

 

On the formation of UKAR in October 2010 it was anticipated that our strategy would involve three elements. Our first task of 
‘Repair and prepare’ was the formation of UKAR, defining our mission to maximise value for taxpayers whilst ensuring that 
we treat customers fairly and implementing an efficient, integrated operating model for B&B and NRAM. We then moved to 
‘Implement and improve’ with a focus on maximising the value of the mortgage book through optimising redemptions and 
minimising losses, delivering consistently high levels of service and a proactive customer contact strategy to support those 
customers facing financial difficulty. 

 

The third element was to ‘Realise and release’ our potential. On formation, UKAR’s assets were financed by a combination 

of government loans and private sector debt, principally subordinated notes, securitisations and covered bonds. The private 
sector financing has now been almost completely repaid or repurchased, significantly simplifying the Balance Sheet and 
releasing previously encumbered mortgages for potential disposal. 

 

As market conditions improved following the financial crisis we executed a series of mortgage sale transactions including the 
sale of £13bn of assets to Cerberus and TSB in 2015/16. In parallel to this transaction we successfully completed the 
transfer of our mortgage servicing operations to Computershare. This was an important step in our strategy as it enables us 
to accelerate the disposal of our assets in an orderly and active way. UKAR is not able to provide a servicing option to any 
potential asset purchaser and the process of transferring mortgage books to other platforms takes time. The partnership we 
have with Computershare provides stability of service to our existing mortgage customers and also gives any future 
purchasers of our mortgage books an option to keep the customer service where it is. 

 
We are now working on a programme of transactions designed to repay the £15.7bn debt from the FSCS and for the FSCS 
to repay its corresponding loan from HM Treasury. The first phase of this programme involved the sale of buy-to-let loans to 
Prudential and funds managed by Blackstone which enabled £11.0bn to be repaid to the FSCS in April 2017. Subject to 
market conditions the second phase will commence later this year and the programme will be completed by March 2018. 

 
We anticipate that by 2018 our Balance Sheet will have reduced by almost 90% since establishment. It is, therefore, now 
entirely appropriate that we consider the next stage of our strategy and the Board is considering the feasibility of the various 
options available that will enable us to complete our objective of returning in full the UK taxpayers investment in both 
companies. These considerations must also take into account the inherent complexities within the organisation, such as 
legacy business assets and liabilities, the ongoing relationships with participants in previous asset sale transactions, pension 
schemes and UKARcs. 

 

Our value for money framework has three key stages: 
 

▪ An evaluation of whether it is a “good time to sell” which involves taking our own views on market conditions, advice 
from advisors and the views of UKFI and the shareholder; 

▪ On the basis that we conclude that it is a good time to sell, testing ourselves on whether the sale process selected will 
drive enough competitive tension to achieve value for money; 

▪ A theoretical valuation framework that uses observable inputs such as economic drivers of the potential cash flows 
from the assets and market costs of debt and equity to determine a range of potential prices that a reasonable private 
sector investor would be prepared to pay. 

 
Any strategic decisions will be made within the context of the value for money framework, paying due regard to the 
maintenance of financial stability and to acting in a way that promotes competition and ensures that customers’ interests are 
protected. 
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Strategy and operating environment (continued) 

Customer strategy 

Customer servicing 

On 6 June 2016 UKAR transferred its mortgage servicing operations to Computershare. UKAR retains the legal and 
regulatory responsibility for customer outcomes and we take this responsibility seriously. Customers continue to have their 
mortgages serviced by skilled colleagues and there have been no changes to customers’ terms and conditions. UKAR 
requires that the same contact strategies and arrears management practices highlighted below continue under the new 
servicing arrangement. 

 

Our colleague survey demonstrates clearly that our colleagues are very committed to ensuring our customers receive 
excellent service and are focused on ensuring we do the right things for our customers. UKAR has over 148,000 customers 
(March 2016: 238,000), with 158,000 mortgage accounts (March 2016: 298,000) and 35,000 unsecured loan accounts 
(March 2016: 42,000). The majority of these loans continue to perform well with more than 93% of mortgage customers up 
to date with their monthly payments. In addition, UKAR continues to provide oversight of the 104,000 accounts (57,000 
customers) sold to Prudential and funds managed by Blackstone as part of an interim servicing arrangement. 

 

Support for customers experiencing payment difficulties 

Although levels of arrears are reducing we continue to see a number of customers facing financial difficulty including some 
entering arrears for the first time. We endeavour to contact all customers following a missed payment to understand their 
situation and consider solutions to help them manage their mortgage. For customers experiencing temporary or short-term 
financial difficulty this includes a range of forbearance options. During the year, over 11,000 arrangements were 
successfully completed and approximately 544 account modifications were made to assist customers with the repayment of 
their mortgage. Where appropriate we actively encourage customers to seek help from non-fee charging debt advice 
agencies. 

 
Repossession is always viewed as a last resort but unfortunately in some situations this is inevitable and the best course of 
action to prevent further indebtedness for the customer. Repossessions continue to decrease and totalled 1,242 in the year 
(March 2016: 1,853). 

 

Proactive customer engagement 

In addition to our contact strategies for customers in arrears, we also engage proactively with other customers who may 
need help with their financial situation to ensure they are ready for the future. In January 2017 we launched a campaign to 
our Buy-to-Let borrowers to inform them of recent changes to the tax rules surrounding Buy-to-Let loans and to help them 
plan ahead. 

 

Doing the right thing for our customers 

UKAR remains committed to doing the right thing for our customers and where we identify issues that have caused customer 
detriment, we will ensure that they are fully remediated. 

 
An additional provision of £49.2m has been recognised following the publication of the FCA’s Policy Statement PS17/3 
“Payment protection insurance complaints: feedback on CP16/10 and final rules and guidance”, which sets a deadline date 
for complaints at 29 August 2019 and confirms the approach in relation to Plevin. The rules and guidance include an FCA- 
led communications campaign to raise awareness of the deadline and the requirement to proactively contact previously 
rejected mis-selling complainants who are eligible to complain again in the light of Plevin. Reflecting heightened awareness 
of a potential PPI deadline, actual claims volumes received during the year have been higher than previously modelled, 
which combined with the final proposals is expected to lead to higher claims volumes throughout the period to 29 August 
2019 than previously assumed. 

 
In addition, a charge of £15.2m was made for other smaller legacy remediation issues bringing the total remediation charge 
for the year to £64.4m (March 2016: £180.1m credit). 
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Strategy and operating environment (continued) 

People strategy 

Vision 

In early 2017 the Board reviewed UKAR's Vision, Objectives and Values which have been in place since 2010 to ensure 
they remained valid post the divestment of the mortgage operations and the successful progress in achieving our mission. 
To recognise the progress we have made, UKAR’s Vision changed from ‘Creating Success Together’ to ‘Achieving Success 
Together’, which relates to how we work with our customers, colleagues, outsourced partnerships, suppliers and the 
shareholder to achieve our goals. 

 

UKAR continues to believe colleagues are the differentiating factor in delivering strong and sustained performance. 
Therefore, ‘being a great place to work’ is one of our four strategic objectives. We believe it is important that colleagues feel 
valued, are proud of the contribution they make and are given the opportunity to grow and learn new skills. Colleagues who 
enjoy their work strive to do the best they can which increases productivity, ensures quality service is given to our customers 
and maximises value for the taxpayer. 

 

Culture and Values 

The Board, Executives and management set the cultural tone at the top, ensuring that UKAR's values and culture support 
the delivery of UKAR objectives. This is supported by our Balanced Scorecard which places emphasis on conduct and how 
we achieve our targets and feeds into our annual incentive schemes. 

 
How we behave is as important as what we do and our values of Caring, Responsible, Inspiring, Straightforward and 
Positive help us to build on our culture of supporting, developing and challenging individuals to achieve success. 

 

Each of those values have exemplar behaviours which help us to understand what they mean and how they apply to what 
we do on a daily basis. They are supported by our policies and by the principle of good conduct. These are summarised in 
our Code, which sets out the behaviours and standards we expect of each other and our suppliers to ensure we act with 
professional integrity and focus on doing the right thing for all our stakeholders. The Code is published on our website and 
gives our partners and suppliers who work with us a summary of the conduct policies and principles that drive our culture 
and our success. 

 
The values, behaviours and standards that underpin the way we do business were originally shaped by colleagues in 2011 
to ensure that everyone had an opportunity to contribute to the creation of our values. Our values of Caring, Responsible, 
Inspiring, Straightforward and Positive are embedded throughout UKAR from the approach we take to recruiting colleagues 
through to our performance framework, our training programmes and how we incentivise and thank colleagues for the work 
they do. It is not just 'what' is delivered, it is 'how' it is delivered and the behaviours that our colleagues demonstrate as part 
of their day-to-day work. 

 

Engagement 

Our five values encompass all aspects of colleague life at UKAR and we track how we are doing against each of them 
through regular colleague engagement surveys. Our most recent survey in March 2017 had an excellent response rate with 
85% of colleagues sharing their views. The survey tracker score, based upon five key questions measuring UKAR as an 
employer, reached 89% which is 13% above the benchmark figure provided by our survey business partner, People Insight. 
Although our participation group is much smaller following the outsourcing of our mortgage operations, People Insight 
confirmed that this does not affect the validity of the results or percentages, nor our comparator group as we are 
benchmarked by sector rather than size. 

 

Diversity 

UKAR treats colleagues as individuals and we recognise the benefits of having a diverse workforce. Appointments and 
promotions are made according to the ability to meet the requirements of the job and we consider the benefits of all aspects 
of diversity including skills, background, race, experience, gender and other qualities. 

 
The Governance, Engagement and HR Director is the executive responsible for gender equality and inclusion and despite its 
size UKAR has determined to comply with the voluntary Women in Finance Charter as far as it is able. Internal targets for 
gender diversity in senior management have been set which are linked to remuneration by way of the Balanced Scorecard. 
The report on progress against these targets can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 31. 

 

UKAR’s targets for gender diversity across the business are for no less than 45% female and for senior management, no 
less than 25% female and as at 31 March 2017 UKAR's workforce comprises 55% female to 45% male colleagues. On the 
Board at 31 March 2017 we had one female and five male Non-Executive Directors. One of the seven members of the 
Executive Committee and ten of the 34 Management Team members were female. 
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Strategy and operating environment (continued) 

People strategy (continued) 

Learning and development 

UKAR remains committed to providing learning opportunities to equip colleagues with the skills and knowledge needed to 
perform their role as well as developing their employability for the future. We offer sponsorship for the completion of 
qualifications through a variety of study routes and continue to support colleagues’ development aspirations where there is 
opportunity to apply the learning within UKAR and where it will assist them in building a career outside UKAR. During the 
year 86% of colleagues have undertaken development programmes to support their career. 

 

Notwithstanding the smaller size of the organisation, where possible we continue to support placement schemes and 
apprenticeships. In 2016/17 UKAR had one Graduate and we plan to recruit one Undergraduate and one apprentice in 
2017/18. 

 

Well-being 

UKAR supports colleagues through various ’well-being’ programmes, offering membership of a private medical insurance 
scheme or the opportunity to contribute towards a healthcare cash plan and access to the Employee Assistance Programme 
via Unum LifeWorks. 

 

Recognition 

UKAR recognises and celebrate colleagues’ achievements through schemes which enable colleagues to show their 
appreciation of those who demonstrate exemplary behaviour by sending an e-card which appears on the front page of the 
intranet. Colleagues who are an inspiration to others by living the UKAR values, going the extra mile, delivering superior 
performance or demonstrating exemplary behaviour can be nominated for awards. 

 
 

Community and environmental strategy 

Community 

UKAR is committed to community engagement and charitable initiatives with a caring culture that promotes welfare and 
goodwill through voluntary action in the wider community. This activity also provides great opportunities and experiences 
that enhance the quality of life for all concerned. 

 
In the past UKAR has supported local charities chosen by our colleagues at its two major sites in West Yorkshire and 
Sunderland. Following the divestment of our mortgage servicing operations the majority of colleagues are based in West 
Yorkshire and voted Martin House Children’s Hospice as the 2016/17 Charity of the Year. The amount of charitable 
fundraising by colleagues in 2016/17 was £18,103. In addition, UKAR matched employee fundraising to the total of £8,596 
and payroll giving totalled £19,057 through UKAR’s Give As You Earn schemes. 

 

Environment 

Following the outsourcing of UKAR's mortgaging servicing operations to Computershare the management of UKAR's Head 
Office in Crossflatts, West Yorkshire was also outsourced to Computershare. Nevertheless, UKAR remains committed to 
reducing environmental impact, increasing recycling programmes, creating awareness of environmental programmes and 
engaging colleagues in these activities.   In 2016/17 90% of waste at Crossflatts was recycled with the remaining 10% used 
in Energy from Waste projects. 

 

Further details on our community and environmental strategy can be found on page 76. 
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Risk overview 

UKAR adopts an Enterprise-wide Risk Management Framework (‘EWRMF’) which is designed to support the identification, 
assessment, management and control of the principal risks that threaten the achievement of UKAR's strategic and business 
objectives. The EWRMF sits alongside the Ten Year Business Plan, the Capital Statement and the Liquidity Statement in 
defining the high-level architecture of UKAR's business planning and risk management systems. The EWRMF itself is 
underpinned by UKAR's Risk Appetite Framework and a suite of high level risk policies which define the breadth of UKAR's 
exposure to inherent risks and the management of these risks within appetite. The scope of the EWRMF extends to all 
principal risk types faced by UKAR. The table below illustrates the principal risk categories which could impact the delivery 
of the strategic objectives, key mitigating actions, key indicators and the 2017/18 focus. 

 

 
Conduct risk 
The risk of UKAR treating its customers 
unfairly and delivering inappropriate 
outcomes leading to customer detriment or 
impacting market integrity. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Outsourcing risk 
The risk of loss/disruption arising from 
inadequate or ineffective appointment, 
supervision and control or any subsequent 
contractual termination of third party 
service providers. 

▪ 

▪ Conduct Risk Framework to ensure 
customers are central to the delivery of 
our objectives. 

▪ Conduct risk assessments are integral 
to all business change and customer 
initiatives. 

▪ Conduct Risk and TCF Dashboard 
tracked and actioned by relevant 
committees. 

▪ Colleague rewards driven by conduct 
risk metrics. 

▪ Outsourcing Governance Model. 
▪ Outsourcing Policy. 
▪ Service management reporting. 
▪ Assurance and monitoring activity. 
▪ Comprehensive contract and SLAs. 
▪ Clearly defined policies for the Servicer 

to comply with. 
▪ ‘Working in Partnership’ strategic 

approach. 

▪ Volume of upheld complaints. 
▪ Market Regulatory Indicators. 
▪ Quality assurance results. 
▪ Findings from monitoring and outcome 

testing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

▪ SLA and contractual performance 

metrics assessment. 
▪ Assurance Monitoring Results - 

outsourcer and UKAR. 
▪ Independent Third Party Supplier 

Assessment Results. 

▪ Fair and appropriate customer 
outcomes. 

▪ Complaint handling and Root Cause 
analysis. 

▪   Asset sales due diligence. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
▪ Continuing implementation and further 

development of outsource 
relationships. 

▪ Embed risk management and 
assurance monitoring activities. 

▪ Regular assessment of the 
effectiveness of operations. 

▪ Effective issues management by key 
suppliers. 

▪ Assurance activity of core IT 
systems/infrastructure to limit systems 
outages and security breaches. 

 
 

Operational risk 
The risk of loss resulting from inadequate 
or failed internal processes, people and 
systems or from external events. 

▪ Operational Risk Policies. 

▪ Risk & Control Self-Assessment 
(‘RCSA’) process to identify and assess 
key operational risks and control 
effectiveness. 

▪ Scenario analysis to determine the 
potential impact of high impact, low 
likelihood events. 

▪ Forward-looking Key Risk Indicator 
monitoring to proactively identify shifts 
in risk exposure. 

▪ Loss event monitoring to identify control 
failures and appropriate corrective 
action. 

▪ Risk appetite monitoring to ensure we 
are operating within Board approved 
limits. 

▪ Risk oversight of change activities. 
▪ Business Continuity and Disaster 

Recovery plans. 

▪ Overall control effectiveness as 

assessed through RCSA. 
▪ Comparison of scenario analysis and 

RCSA financial impacts against defined 
risk appetite. 

▪ Number and value of operational risk 
loss events. 

▪ Systems risk metrics (availability and 
security incidents). 

▪ Instances of customer and colleague 
financial crime. 

▪ Tracking of operational loss events and 

subsequent control improvements. 
▪ Assessment of cyber risk exposure and 

control effectiveness through security 
penetration testing and colleague 
awareness campaigns. 

▪ Continuing oversight of major change 
activities. 

 
Credit risk 
The current or prospective risk to earnings 
or capital arising when a customer 
(residential or commercial) or counterparty 
defaults on its contractual obligations to the 
company. 

 
▪ Credit Risk Policy, incorporating Board 

approved risk appetite to support the 
ongoing management of credit risk. 

▪ Forbearance Programme structured to 
support customers through periods of 
distress. 

▪ Credit Risk Committee and robust 
processes and controls to identify credit 
risk exposures and action appropriate 
mitigation. 

▪ Euro and US dollar cash balances are 
placed with a range of banks and 
money market funds. 

 
▪ Impairment charge. 
▪ Loan to Value. 
▪ Arrears. 
▪ Counterparty ratings. 

 
▪ Manage the credit risk on the 

underlying mortgage book, considering 
the high proportion of buy-to-let and 
upstream fiscal and other changes to 
property management. 

▪ Interest Only repayment strategy. 
▪ End of Term Account Management. 
▪ Ongoing monitoring of asset sale 

influence on the overall credit quality of 
the book. 

▪ Ongoing monitoring of credit rating 
movements of wholesale 
counterparties. 

 
 

Strategic risk 
The current or prospective risk to earnings 
and/or fair value, given the B&B and the 
NRAM Balance Sheet structures, arising 
from changes in the business environment 
and from adverse business decisions, 
improper implementation of decisions or 
lack of responsiveness to changes in the 
business environment. 

▪ Governance structure. 
▪ EWRMF. 
▪ Risk Appetite Framework. 
▪ Risk policies. 
▪ Capital Assessment Framework. 

▪ Material risks managed within defined 
risk appetite. 

▪ Ongoing monitoring of strategic risks 
with the potential to significantly 
impact the delivery of strategic 
objectives. 

▪ Oversight of the execution of asset 
sales transactions. 

 
 

Principal risk Key mitigating actions Key indicators Focus 2017/18 
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Risk overview (continued) 

 

 
Liquidity risk 
The risk that either B&B and/or NRAM are 

unable to meet their obligations as they 
fall due. 

▪ The defined appetite for liquidity risk is 

low. Sterling liquidity is held as cash 
balances at the Bank of England. 

▪ Stress & Scenario testing is 
undertaken to ensure that B&B and 
NRAM will be able to meet their 
obligations in extreme conditions. 

▪ Changes in the maturity profiles of 

assets and liabilities. 
▪ Level of liquidity. 
▪ Contingency funding plan early 

warning indicators. 

▪ Manage liquidity to ensure UKAR has 

adequate levels of liquidity to meet its 
commitments at all times and maintain 
liquidity within levels agreed with HM 
Treasury facilities and the Liquidity 
Risk Policy. 

 
Market risk 
The risk that changes in interest rates, the 

rate of exchange between currencies or 
the price of securities or other financial 
contracts, including derivatives, will have 
an impact on the results, operations or the 
financial condition of B&B and/or NRAM. 

 
▪ Market risk is managed and monitored 

within defined risk appetite and policy. 
▪ B&B and NRAM use derivative 

instruments to mitigate the market risk 
exposures. 

▪ Stress & Scenario testing is 
undertaken to ensure losses are 
acceptable even under extreme 
conditions. 

 
▪ The sensitivity of interest income to 

changes in market rates. 
▪ Variations on the rate of repayment of 

fixed rate mortgages. 

 
▪ Manage market risk within defined risk 

appetite. 

 
Regulatory risk 
The risk of UKAR failing to comply with 

the legal and regulatory requirements 
applying to its arrangements and 
activities. 

 
▪ Zero tolerance appetite in respect of 

Regulatory Risk. 
▪ Minimum standards and 

responsibilities to ensure the effective 
management of Regulatory Risk. 

▪ Regulatory Risk dashboard tracked 
and actioned by Executive Risk 
Committee. 

 
▪ Volume of regulatory breaches. 
▪ Industry relevant regulatory 

developments. 
▪ Industry fines and cost of redress. 
▪ Regulatory relationships. 
▪ Precedent Court cases affecting 

borrowers and lenders. 

 
▪ Ongoing monitoring of changes in 

regulation and legislation. 
▪ Open dialogue with Regulators. 
▪ Analysis of FCA and other regulatory 

fines. 
▪ Anti-Money Laundering requirements. 
▪ General Data Protection Regulation. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Ian Hares 

Chief Executive Officer, on behalf of the Board 
3 July 2017 

Principal risk Key mitigating actions Key indicators Focus 2017/18 
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Corporate governance 

Introduction 

UKAR is the holding company established on 1 October 2010 to bring together the government-owned businesses of B&B 
and NRAM plc. 

 
UKAR is 100% owned by the UK government which exercises control through UKFI. UKFI was set up on 3 November 2008 
to manage the government's investments in Royal Bank of Scotland, Lloyds Banking Group, Northern Rock and B&B. 

 
As explained in the UKAR Group overview on page 3, on 5 May 2016, UKAR sold NRAM plc to affiliates of Cerberus. Prior 
to the sale, on 30 April 2016, assets and liabilities not included in the transaction transferred from NRAM plc to a newly 
established subsidiary of UKAR, known as NRAM (No.1) Limited. On 18 July 2016, NRAM (No.1) Limited changed its name 
to NRAM Limited. 

 

UKAR governed and controlled NRAM plc (until its sale to Cerberus on 5 May 2016), NRAM and B&B, as their sole 
shareholder during 2016/17. Although managed under a common board and management structure, NRAM and B&B (the 
'Principal Subsidiaries') remained separate legal entities and continued to operate as individual companies with their own 
individual brands and Balance Sheets. 

 

This corporate governance section summarises the governance regime applicable to UKAR including its Principal 
Subsidiaries referred to above (the 'Group') during 2016/17. 

 

UKAR Corporate Services Limited 

In 2013 UKAR was appointed by HM Treasury to administrate the Help to Buy: mortgage guarantee scheme on its behalf 
and in 2015 it also undertook to administer the Help to Buy: ISA scheme. The administration of the schemes are kept 
separate from UKAR's core operations and are managed through UKARcs. 

 

Governance structure 

The governance structure for the Group in 2016/17 was determined by the UK Asset Resolution and UK Financial 
Investments Limited; Relationship Framework Document (the “Framework Document”) agreed between UKAR and UKFI, 
acting on behalf of HM Treasury. The Framework Document sets out how the relationship between the Group and UKFI will 
work in practice. The terms of the Framework Document are updated periodically and the most recent version of the 
Framework Document, approved in March 2017, is reflected below and throughout this report. 

 

Overarching Objective 

The Framework Document is intended to ensure that the relationship between the companies in the Group, UKFI, HM 
Treasury (as Shareholder and the provider of financial support) and the FCA (as regulator), operates in the context of the 
stated overarching objective for UKAR: 

 

“to develop and execute an investment strategy for disposing of its underlying investments in NRAM and B&B in an orderly 
and active way through sale, redemption, buy-back or other means within the context of protecting and creating value for the 
taxpayer as shareholder and, where applicable, as provider of financial support, paying due regard to the maintenance of 
financial stability and to acting in a way that promotes competition.” 

 

The Framework Document requires the Group to set strategic aims and develop a business plan to achieve the overarching 
objective. 

 

Principles of the Framework Document 

The relationship between the Group and UKFI operates according to the following principles under which UKFI: 
 

▪ appoints the Chairman of the Board and is entitled to appoint one or more Non-Executive Directors (‘NEDs’); 

▪ is required to consent to the appointment of other members of the Board proposed for appointment by the Nomination 
Committee and agrees the terms on which the Directors are appointed, remunerated and incentivised; 

▪ agrees with the Board the high level objectives which the business plan (‘the Plan’) is designed to achieve and any 
revisions to it; 

▪ reviews with the Board from time to time the Group's strategic options; 

▪ requires that the Board is accountable to it for delivering the agreed Plan; 

▪ gives the Board the freedom to take the action necessary to deliver the Plan; 

▪ monitors the Group's performance to satisfy itself that the Plan is on track; and 

▪ is to be informed if the Group proposes to take certain significant actions and provide prior written consent before 
such action is taken. 
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Corporate governance (continued) 

Governance structure (continued) 

Monitoring performance 

UKFI monitors the Group's performance against the Plan by means of the following main mechanisms: 
 

▪ two UKFI nominated Directors attended each Board meeting during the year; and 

▪ at least monthly (or, at UKFI’s request more frequently) meetings between the Group and UKFI to review 
performance against the Plan and any agreed objectives. 

 
In addition, UKFI has certain monitoring and information access rights and its approval must be obtained for certain material 
actions and transactions, as defined in the Framework Document. 

 
 

Board of Directors 

UKAR, B&B and NRAM share a common Board of Directors whose biographies are set out below. 

 
The biographical details of each Director demonstrate the broad range of experience and expertise they brought to the 
Board in 2016/17. 

 

John Tattersall – Non-Executive Chairman Ian Hares - Chief Executive Officer 
 

 

John joined the Board of B&B in April 
2010, the Board of UKAR in October 
2010 and the Board of NRAM in 
March 2016, having been a Non- 
Executive Director of NRAM plc from 
October 2010 until its sale in May 
2016. He was appointed Chairman of 
all three companies on 6 June 2016 
and also chairs the Nomination 

Committee and Transaction Approvals Committee of B&B 
and NRAM. 

 
John retired as a partner in PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
in 2009, where he had worked since 1975, latterly as 
leader of the firm's Financial Services Regulatory Practice 
and a senior client relationship partner. He started his 
career in the financial services sector with Kleinwort 
Benson Limited in 1973. Until 2009 he was Chairman of 
the Risk and Regulation Committee of the Financial 
Services Faculty of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales, and a member of the faculty 
board. He is currently Chairman of UBS Limited, The 
Oxford Diocesan Board of Finance, RC Bond Holdings 
Limited and Retail Charity Bonds Plc. He is a Non- 
Executive Director of CCLA Investment Management Ltd, 
St Augustine’s College of Theology Ltd and Diocesan 
Trustees (Oxford) Ltd.   He is also Chairman of the Court 
of the Royal Foundation of St Katharine, and a non- 
stipendiary priest in the Church of England. John served 
as a member of the Independent Commission on 
Equitable Life payments. 

Ian Hares was appointed as Chief 
Executive of UKAR in June 2016, 
having joined UKAR in 2011 as 
Investment Director and 
subsequently took the role of Finance 
& Investment Director in December 
2013. He joined the Boards of 
UKAR, B&B and NRAM plc in July 
2014. In June 2015 he was 

appointed a Director of NRAM and stood down as a 
Director of NRAM plc in July 2016, following the sale to 
Cerberus. He is a member of the Transaction Approvals 
Committee of B&B and NRAM. 

 

Ian has over 35 years’ experience within the financial 
services industry having previously worked for Santander 
UK Group, Alliance & Leicester plc, Girobank plc and 
National Westminster Bank Group. 
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Corporate governance (continued) 

Board of Directors (continued) 
 

Sue Langley - Senior Independent Director Michael Buckley – Non-Executive Director 
 

 

Sue joined the Boards of UKAR and 
B&B in October 2010 and the Board 
of NRAM in March 2016, having been 
a Non-Executive Director of NRAM 
plc from January 2010 until its sale in 
May 2016. She is Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee and a 
member of the Nomination 
Committee of all three companies. 

Sue was awarded an OBE in the 2015 New Year Honours 
list for services to Women in Business. 

 
Sue is Chairman of Arthur J. Gallagher Holdings (UK) 
Limited and was previously CEO of UK Financial Services 
– UK Trade & Investment. Previous roles also include 
Director of Market Operations and a member of the 
Executive Team for Lloyd’s of London, Chairman of 
Lloyd’s Japan and Director of Lloyd’s Asia, Chief 
Operating Officer and a member of the Executive Team of 
the Hiscox Group and Board member for Hiscox 
Syndicates and Hiscox Insurance. She joined Hiscox 
from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP where she was a 
Principal Consultant working with a range of FTSE 
companies. 

Michael has been a Non-Executive 
Director of B&B since July 2007, 
joined the Board of UKAR in October 
2010 and the Board of NRAM in 
March 2016, having been a Non- 
Executive Director of NRAM plc from 
October 2010 until its sale in May 
2016. He is a member of the Audit, 
Risk and Nomination Committees of 

all three companies and of the Transaction Approvals 
Committees of B&B and NRAM. Michael stepped down 
from the board on 27 June 2017. 

 

Michael is Chairman of KKR Alternative Investment 
Management Ltd and KKR Credit Advisors (Ireland) Ltd. 
He is also a senior advisor to a number of privately held 
Irish and US based companies, and is an Adjunct 
Professor at the Department of Economics at NUI 
University College, Cork. 

 
He was the Non-Executive Chairman of DCC plc from 
May 2008 to October 2014 and Senior Independent 
Director of DCC plc from September 2005 to May 2008. 
From April 2003 until April 2012 he was a Non-Executive 
Director of M&T Corporation in the USA. He was Group 
Chief Executive of Allied Irish Banks plc from 2001 to 
2005 having earlier served as Managing Director of AIB 
Capital Markets and AIB Poland. Previously he was 
Managing Director of the NCB Group, and a senior public 

         servant in Ireland and the EU.  

Keith Morgan – Non-Executive Director Brendan McDonagh – Non-Executive Director 
 

 

Keith joined the Boards of UKAR and 
B&B in October 2010 and the Board 
of NRAM in March 2016, having been 
a Non-Executive Director of NRAM plc 
from January 2010 until its sale in 
May 2016. He is the Chairman of the 
Risk Committee and a member of the 
Audit and Remuneration Committees 
of all three companies and the 

Transaction Approvals Committee of B&B and NRAM. 
 

Keith is CEO of the British Business Bank and a Director 
of British Business Bank Plc. He was formerly a Director 
of UKFI, responsible for managing the Government's 
shareholdings in UKAR, B&B and NRAM plc until August 
2012. He was also a Non-Executive Director of Northern 
Rock plc until its sale to Virgin Money in January 2012. 
Keith joined UKFI from Banco Santander where he was a 
Director of Sovereign Bancorp in the U.S.A. focusing on 
the integration of Sovereign into Santander. He was 
previously Director of Strategy & Planning at Abbey 
National, where he was a member of the Executive 
Committee and was also Chairman of Santander's Asset 
Management and Credit Card businesses in the UK. 
Before joining Abbey in 2004, Keith spent 18 years at 
L.E.K. Consulting, where he was a partner specialising in 
financial services. 

Brendan joined the Boards of UKAR 
and B&B in April 2016 and the Board 
of NRAM in June 2016. He is 
Chairman of the Audit Committee 
and a member of the Risk and 
Nomination Committees of all three 
companies. 

 
Brendan is a Non-Executive Director 

and member of the Risk Committee of Allied Irish Banks 
plc. He is also the former Executive Chairman of the 
Bank of N.T. Butterfield & Son Limited, Hamilton, 
Bermuda. He is a former CEO of HSBC North America 
Holdings Inc with responsibility for the Group’s banking 
and consumer finance operations in the US and Canada. 
He was also Group Managing Director for HSBC 
Holdings Inc and a member of the HSBC Group 
Management Board. Brendan started his banking career 
with HSBC in 1979 and worked in Asia, Middle East, 
Europe and North America. 

 
Brendan also serves on the advisory board of the 
business school of Trinity College Dublin. He was 
formally a member of the Board of Ireland's National 
Treasury Management Agency and was Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee and previously Chairman of the 
Audit Committee. He was also Chairman of the 
Investment Committee of the Ireland Strategic Investment 
Fund. 
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Corporate governance (continued) 

Board of Directors (continued) 
 

 

Peter Norton – Non-Executive Director 
(Appointed Post Year End) 

Brendan Russell – Non-Executive Director 
(Appointed Post Year End) 

 
  

 

Peter joined the Boards of UKAR, 
B&B and NRAM in April 2017 after 
being appointed by UKFI to manage 
HM Government's shareholdings in 
the UKAR companies. He is also a 
member of the Transaction Approvals 
Committee of B&B and NRAM. 

 
Peter joined UKFI in March 2014 and 

was appointed to the role of Head of Banking & Capital 
Markets in April 2016. Before joining UKFI Peter worked 
in Investment Banking at UBS, where he advised UK and 
European Financial Institutions on a variety of strategic 
and capital markets transactions. Prior to UBS Peter 
started his investment banking career at Lehman Brothers 
having previously qualified as a chartered accountant with 
Ernst & Young in London. Peter is a member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland. 

Brendan joined the Boards of UKAR, 
B&B and NRAM in June 2017. He is 
a member of the Audit and Risk 
Committees of all three companies, 
and a member of the Transaction 
Approvals Committee of B&B and 
NRAM. 

 
Brendan previously spent almost six 

years as the Head of Corporate Finance at the Royal 
Bank of Scotland (‘RBS’), where he led the team 
responsible for the disposal programme which formed a 
key component of RBS’s recovery plan. Prior to joining 
RBS, Brendan was a Director with Barclays in its 
Corporate Development function, before which he spent 
five years at McKinsey where he was responsible for part 
of the Corporate Finance & Strategy practice, overseeing 
teams based in five European cities. 

 
Brendan has past experience of retail banking and capital 
markets and he has also served as financial adviser to 
both Ofwat and the Office of Rail Regulation. 

 
  

 

Resignations 

As indicated in last year’s Annual Report, the following Directors resigned from the Board during the 2016/17 financial year 
as part of the planned changes following the transfer of mortgage servicing to Computershare: 

 
▪ Richard Pym – stepped down as Chairman on 5 June 2016 and resigned from the Board with effect from 26 July 

2016. 

▪ Kent Atkinson – Senior Independent Director resigned from the Board with effect from 5 June 2016. 

▪ Richard Banks – resigned from the Board with effect from 5 June 2016. 
 

David Lunn, one of the UKFI nominated directors, resigned from the Board with effect from 28 February 2017 to take up a 
role within HM Treasury. In addition, Michael Buckley stepped down from the board on 27 June 2017. 

 

NRAM plc 

On 5 May 2016, the Directors of NRAM plc, with the exception of Richard Banks and Ian Hares, resigned from the Board as 
part of the sale of the Company to Cerberus. To ensure a smooth transition Richard Banks and Ian Hares remained on the 
Board of NRAM plc as Non-Executive Directors until the completion of the transaction. They received no fees for this 
directorship and resigned from the Board of NRAM plc on 18 July 2016. 
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Total 

 

Corporate governance (continued) 

Board of Directors (continued) 

Balance of Executive and Non-Executive Directors 

During 2016/17 the UKAR Board comprised: 

 
 

 
 Directors  

1 April 2016 to 3 April 2016 1 4 2 2 9 

4 April 2016 to 5 June 2016 1 5 2 2 10 

6 June 2016 to 26 July 2016 1 4 1 2 8 

27 July 2016 to 28 February 2017 1 3 1 2 7 

1 March 2017 to 31 March 2017 1 3 1 1 6 

 

The UKAR, B&B and NRAM Boards shared a common membership during 2016/17 except that Brendan McDonagh joined 
the UKAR and B&B Boards on 4 April 2016 but did not join the NRAM Board until 6 June 2016. 

 
The Non-Executive Directors have experience in a range of commercial or banking activities. 

 
The Board has determined that the Non-Executive Directors, who were not appointed by the Shareholder, were 
independent, because of the commonality of purpose between UKAR and the Principal Subsidiaries and a rigorous focus on 
the identification of any specific conflicts of interest.   In addition, the Board has determined that Michael Buckley remained 
an independent Non-Executive Director following service of over nine years on the B&B Board as he remained independent 
in character and judgement and there were no relationships or circumstances which were likely to affect, or could appear to 
affect, his judgement. 

 

As part of the planned changes following the transfer of mortgage servicing to Computershare in June 2016 the Board 
reduced in size by two directors and there were a number of consequent changes to the membership of the Board 
Committees as set out in each Committee Chairman’s report. Whilst UKAR seeks to Comply with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code wherever practicable the reduction in the size of the Board meant that it was no longer always possible to 
comply with the requirements in respect of the number of independent Non-Executive directors on each Committee. 

 
In particular, Mr Morgan, who is a UKFI nominated director is a member of the Audit and Remuneration Committees and 
cannot be counted as an independent Non-Executive Director. However, the Board have recognised that whilst Mr Morgan 
is still employed by the government he is no longer a UKFI employee and, for all practical purposes, he is independent in 
thought and action. 

 

Relationship between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer 

A clear division of responsibility exists between the Chairman and the CEO, which is set out in writing in the UKAR 
Governance Documentation and has been approved by the Board. The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the Board 
and the CEO is responsible for leadership of the business. 

 

Senior Independent Director 

The role of the Senior Independent Director is to act as a sounding board for the Chairman, as a trusted intermediary for the 
other Directors and, where necessary, a point of contact for the Shareholder. The responsibilities of the role include the 
evaluation of the Chairman’s performance. 

 
Kent Atkinson was the Senior Independent Director of UKAR, NRAM and B&B from 1 April 2016 up to his resignation from 
the Board on 5 June 2016. 

 
Sue Langley is now the Senior Independent Director of UKAR, NRAM and B&B having been appointed to the role on 6 June 
2016. 
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Board and Committee Structure 

Risk 
Committee 

Transaction 
Approvals 

Committee * 

Nomination 
Committee 

Audit 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee ** 

 
UKAR, 

B&B & NRAM Board 

 
Committee Chairman 

 

Corporate governance (continued) 

Board of Directors (continued) 

Company Secretary 

The Company Secretary supports the Chairman in designing the induction programme for new Directors, the delivery of the 
corporate governance agenda and by ensuring that information is made available to the Board members on a timely basis. 
The Company Secretary advises the Directors on Board procedures and corporate governance matters. 

 
John Gornall was the Company Secretary of UKAR, NRAM and B&B throughout 2016/17. 

 

How the Board operated in 2016/17 

Board structure and governance 

In accordance with best practice outlined in the UK Corporate Governance Code and the requirements of the Framework 
Document, the Board has delegated various powers and authorities to its Committees. They play a key role in ensuring the 
effectiveness of the corporate governance framework by supporting the Board and carrying out its functions. 

 

 

 
 

 

* The Principal Subsidiaries operate a Transaction Approvals Committee which is included in these accounts for a full 
understanding of the Group Committee Structure. 
** A separate sub-committee has been established by the Board to set the fees of the Chairman and Non-Executive 
Directors see further detail on page 39. 

During 2016/17 the Chairman of each Committee was: 
 

 

Remuneration Committee Sue Langley 
 

Audit Committee Kent Atkinson (1 April 2016 to 5 June 2016) 

Brendan McDonagh (6 June 2016 to 31 March 2017) 

 
Nomination Committee Richard Pym (1 April 2016 to 5 June 2016) 

John Tattersall (6 June 2016 to 31 March 2017) 

 
Transaction Approvals Committee Richard Pym (1 April 2016 to 5 June 2016) 

John Tattersall (6 June 2016 to 31 March 2017) 

 
Risk Committee John Tattersall (1 April 2016 to 5 June 2016) 

Keith Morgan (6 June 2016 to 31 March 2017) 
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Corporate governance (continued) 

How the Board operated in 2016/17 (continued) 

Board structure and governance (continued) 

The changes to the Committee Chairmen in June 2016 reflect the planned changes following the transfer of mortgage 
servicing to Computershare. 

 

Each of the Board Committees have detailed Terms of Reference setting out their remit and authority. Details of the 
membership of each Committee, the role and key activities during 2016/17 are set out in the individual Committee 
Chairman's reports on pages 31 to 56. 

 
The Remuneration Committee Chairman's Report and details of the role of the Remuneration Committee are provided in the 
Directors' Remuneration Report on page 31. 

 

Board and Committee meetings 

The Board and its Committees meet regularly throughout the year. All agendas are structured to allow adequate and 
sufficient time for discussions of the items on the agenda, particularly strategic issues. 

 
The attendance of individual Board members at Board and Committee meetings during 2016/17, together with the overall 
number of meetings held is set out below. Where a Director was appointed or resigned during the year the total number of 
meetings they were eligible to attend is shown in brackets. 

 

 

Number of meetings held 

Board 

10 

Audit 

4 

Nomination 

4 

Remuneration 

5 

Risk 
Transaction 
Approvals * 

5 9 

Chairman      

John Tattersall 10 2 (2) 3 (3) 5 2 (2) 8 (8) 
(appointed Chairman 06.06.2016)       

Richard Pym       

(resigned as Chairman 05.06.2016 and as a 5 (5)  1 (1)   2 (2) 
Director 25.07.2016)       

Chief Executive       

Ian Hares       

(appointed as CEO 06.06.2016, previously 10     9 
Executive Director))       

Richard Banks (resigned 05.06.2016) 3 (3)     2 (2) 

Senior Independent Director       

Sue Langley (appointed SID 06.06.2016), 10  4 5   

Kent Atkinson (resigned 05.06.2016) 2 (3) 2 (2)   2 (2)  

Independent Non-Executive Directors       

Michael Buckley 10 4 4  5 9 

Brendan McDonagh (appointed to UKAR 

and B&B Boards 04.04.2016) 
9 (10) 3 (4) 0 (0) 

 
3 (3) 

 

(appointed to NRAM Board 06.06.2016 7 (7) 2 (2) 0 (0)  3 (3)  

Non-Executive Directors       

David Lunn (resigned 28.02.2017) 10     9 

Keith Morgan 10 2 (2)  5 5 6 

* The Transaction Approvals Committee only relates to the Principal Subsidiaries. 

 
In addition to the scheduled Board and Committee meetings detailed above, four Board Committee meetings were held 
during the year to approve: 

 
• the Interim Financial Statements and Annual Report & Accounts; and 

• documentation relating to completion of the sale of the mortgage servicing operations to Computershare and the 

sale of NRAM plc to Cerberus. 

The Company Secretary or his nominee attended each meeting as Secretary to the Board and other representatives from 
specific business functions and/or external advisors were invited to attend as appropriate. 

 
During the year each of the Non-Executive Directors met the time commitment specified in their letters of appointment. 
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Corporate governance (continued) 

How the Board operated in 2016/17 (continued) 

Board responsibilities 

The Board's role is to provide leadership and oversight of the management of the Company, whilst setting the strategic 
direction, in order to achieve its objectives. The Board is responsible for: 

 

▪ setting the Group's strategic aims and developing and recommending revisions to the Plan to deliver the overarching 
objective set out in the Framework Document. Any proposed revisions to the Plan are subject to review and approval 
by UKFI; 

▪ delivering the Plan in accordance with the requirements of the Framework Document.   In this respect, decisions on 
the day-to-day running of the Group rest with the Board in accordance with the Directors’ statutory, common law and 
fiduciary responsibilities.   UKFI is committed to giving the Board the freedom necessary to deliver the agreed Plan 
and will not interfere in day-to-day operational and commercial matters; and 

▪ ensuring that the necessary financial and human resources are in place for the Group to deliver the agreed Plan, set 
the Group's values and standards and ensure that its obligations to HM Treasury as Shareholder are understood and 
met. 

 
The Board has a written schedule of those matters reserved for its determination and those matters reserved for UKFI, in 
accordance with the Framework Document. 

 

Board activities 2016/17 

The Board’s primary role throughout the year has continued to be to provide leadership and oversight to ensure the 
overarching objectives in the Framework Document are met. 

 

In doing so the Board has overseen further sales of assets and the completion of the transfer of the mortgage servicing 
business to Computershare in June 2016. 

 
These transactions have required significant oversight during the year and in this respect the Board has: 

 
▪ approved and monitored competitive, transparent sales processes; 

▪ overseen the sales processes, including the terms of bids, pricing decisions, selection of bidders to progress further in 
the process, agreement of contractual terms and final approval of the transactions; 

▪ ensured that the terms of the transactions protected the interests of customers and provided value for money to the 
taxpayer; and 

▪ identified and monitored any conflicts of interest. 
 

In addition to the above, the Board continued to provide oversight in relation to ongoing key business activities during 
2016/17 which have included: 

 
▪ monitoring the effectiveness of the new organisational structure following the sale of the mortgage servicing 

operations to Computershare; 

▪ monitoring Computershare’s servicing activity and performance in relation to customer outcomes; 

▪ approving key performance indicators and endorsing Balanced Scorecard results; 

▪ approving the Annual Conduct Risk Assessment, Risk Appetite, Liquidity and Capital Statements; 

▪ approving the redemption of a B&B subordinated note and the unwinding of the Aire Valley securitisation structure; 

▪ ensuring that decision making at all levels reflects good conduct and the fair treatment of customers; and 

▪ approving an updated Vision, Mission Statement and Values; 

 
Board appointments and composition 

UKFI considers that the composition of the Board is a critical factor and seeks to secure an environment in which it shares a 
common view about Board composition and succession with the Chairman, including size, balance of experience and 
diversity. To achieve this and ensure that a common governance approach is applied, the Group operates under the 
following principles: 

 
▪ the Chairman and either the Chairman of UKFI or a senior employee nominated by the Chairman of UKFI (the 

'Nominated Officer'), will discuss and confirm Board composition and succession regularly in the light of performance 
and the requirements of the Plan; 
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Corporate governance (continued) 

How the Board operated in 2016/17 (continued) 

Board appointments and composition (continued) 

▪ UKFI will be entitled to appoint to the Board one or more Non-Executive Directors nominated by UKFI (the 
'Shareholder Directors'); Keith Morgan and Peter Norton, who was appointed to the Board after the year end, are 
currently appointed as such Directors. The Group acknowledges that the Shareholder Directors intend to liaise with 
and report to representatives of UKFI from time to time in relation to the business of the Group and decisions made, 
or to be made, by the Board in order to assist with the exercise of their powers and duties as Directors; 

▪ one or more senior representatives of UKFI will, if so requested by UKFI, attend meetings of the Board in an observer 
capacity; 

▪ the Chairman will discuss with the Nominated Officer any impending changes to Board membership; 

▪ the Chairman of the Nomination Committee will meet with the Nominated Officer as necessary to obtain UKFI’s 
approval to any proposed Board changes before they become subject to the formal appointment/consent procedure. 
The Articles of Association require that at every Annual General Meeting each Director, other than the Shareholder 
Directors who are expressly exempt from this provision, shall retire from office and may offer themselves for re- 
appointment; 

▪ Non-Executive Directors are appointed for a term of 12 months, subject to re-appointment in accordance with the 
above procedures; 

▪ the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors each have a letter of appointment which sets out the terms and 
conditions of their Directorships, including fees payable, where applicable, and the expected time commitment; 

▪ the Nomination Committee reviews the leadership needs of the Group, including succession planning for both 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors and, in particular, the key roles of Chairman and Chief Executive; and 

▪ the Board will ensure that suitably rigorous appraisals are made of the effectiveness of the Chairman and the Board. 
 

The Nomination Committee considers the composition of the Board and its Committees annually to ensure this remains fit 
for purpose and makes any recommendations to the Board for consideration in accordance with its Terms of Reference. 
This takes into account the challenges and opportunities facing the Company, including the strategic direction, and the skills 
and expertise needed on the Board now and in the future. The Chairman regularly meets with UKFI, the shareholder 
representative to discuss UKAR matters, including the constitution of the Board. 

 

Board evaluation 

The Board is committed to undertaking a formal and rigorous annual evaluation of its own performance and that of its 
Committees and individual Directors. The review provides the opportunity for the Board and its Committees to reflect on the 
effectiveness of its activities and the quality of its decisions. 

 
During 2016/17, the Board and Committee evaluation exercise was conducted by the Chairman with assistance from the 
Company Secretary. 

 

The process consisted of individual questionnaires to each Director which sought their views on a wide range of key issues, 
including: 

 
▪ whether members work together constructively and how they interact; 

▪ effectiveness of the Chairman; 

▪ Board and Committee culture; 

▪ Board and Committee meeting processes; and 

▪ approach to training and responsibility for maintaining skills and knowledge levels. 
 

The Company Secretary reported to the Chairman on the outcome of the evaluation exercise, which showed that the Board 
and its Committees are discharging their responsibilities effectively and meeting the requirements of their terms of reference. 

 
The outcomes of the evaluation were positive and all comments have been reviewed by the Board and its Committees. The 
Chairman comments further on the conclusions in his Chairman's Statement on page 5 of these accounts. 

 
Evaluation of individual Non-Executive Directors has also been addressed directly by the Chairman. 

 

The Chairman’s own performance was evaluated by the Directors and his annual review carried out on behalf of the Board 
by the Senior Independent Director. 
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Corporate governance (continued) 

How the Board operated in 2016/17 (continued) 

Induction and training 

The Group requires all newly appointed Directors to undergo a formal induction training programme appropriate to their skills 
and experience, to ensure that they: 

 
▪ are fully aware of and understand their role, duties and responsibilities as a Director; and 

▪ have a good understanding of the operation of the business, so as to contribute effectively. 
 

Directors receive a tailored induction programme designed to meet their individual needs and level of knowledge and 
experience. Where appropriate this includes meetings with the Chief Executive, the Company Secretary, members of the 
Executive Committee (‘ExCo’) and senior management and a briefing from the Group’s solicitors. 

 
The Group also requires Non-Executive Directors to undertake relevant ongoing training and development to improve their 
capabilities and thereby contribute more effectively to Board decision making. 

A comprehensive thematic training programme is in place, which covers key areas of the business and topical issues, such 
as regulatory developments, and takes account of the outcomes of the annual Board evaluation. 

 

The Board is kept up to date on legal, regulatory and governance matters through regular papers from the Company 
Secretary, Risk Director and external advisors as appropriate. 

 

Timely and quality information 

The Board believes that it receives and has access to, on a timely basis, all relevant information which is of a sufficient 
quality to make appropriate decisions and discharge its duties and obligations.   The Board reviewed this matter as part of 
the annual evaluation process and there were no issues arising. 

 
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that Board 
procedures and applicable rules are followed. Where necessary, Directors are able to take independent professional advice 
at the Group’s expense. 

 

Internal control and risk management 

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and seeks regular assurance to satisfy itself that the 
system is functioning effectively in managing risks in the manner which it has approved. Such a system can only provide 
reasonable, not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss, as it is designed to manage, rather than 
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. Throughout the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group has 
operated a system of internal control, which includes an ongoing risk management process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the principal risks faced by the Group.   The Directors confirm that they have carried out a robust assessment of 
the principal risks facing the Group and have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s system of financial and non-financial 
controls including operational and compliance controls, risk management systems and the Group’s material risk exposures 
and associated mitigating actions. 

 
The Group is committed to developing and maintaining an appropriate Risk Management Framework and culture with the 
aim of continuing to ensure that Management understand the key risks that the business faces and its appetite for them. 
This is achieved through an organisational structure with clear reporting lines governed by appropriate business monitoring 
mechanisms, codes of conduct and policy statements. Internal control and risk management systems are integrated into 
strategic considerations and business planning processes. 

 

Under the Risk Management Framework, the Group operates a risk management process, producing an enterprise-wide risk 
profile. This identifies the Group’s principal risks, the probability of those risks occurring and their impact should they occur. 
Management regularly takes action to improve the design and operation of suitable controls, either as a result of its own 
initiative or in response to reports from Internal Audit and other oversight review functions. 

The risk management process is complemented by a formalised reporting and escalation process for emerging control 
issues. Internal Audit has a key role in maintaining the control environment by providing independent assurance on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems. The Risk Committee and the Audit Committee oversee the risk 
management process, regularly consider the enterprise-wide risk profile and receive monitoring reports to update them on 
progress. 

 
The system of risk management and internal control has operated effectively throughout 2016/17 and up to the date of 
approval of the Annual Report & Accounts. 
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Corporate governance (continued) 

How the Board operated in 2016/17 (continued) 

Internal control and risk management (continued) 

In monitoring the effectiveness of this system, the Board takes into account the work of the Risk Committee which reviews 
the Group's principal risks and how these are being managed. The Risk Committee also considers reports from Compliance 
and from Management on the system of internal control, adherence to regulatory requirements and material control 
weaknesses, where these exist, together with actions taken to address them. The Audit Committee considers reports from 
Internal Audit and External Audit on the system of internal control and material control weaknesses, where these exist, 
together with actions taken to address them. The Chairmen of the Risk Committee and the Audit Committee report on the 
outcome of each meeting to the Board, where appropriate, and the Board also receives minutes of these Committee 
meetings. 

 
In addition, as part of the process of preparing this statement, the Board has also performed its annual assessment of the 
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems. This annual assessment adopted the recommendations of 
current best practice guidance issued by the Financial Reporting Council. The Board of Directors is not aware of any 
material risk events or internal control failures that arose across the Group during 2016/17 that are not being addressed in 
accordance with the internal control procedures of the Group. 

 

Going concern 

The Directors have assessed, taking into consideration the principal risks set out on pages 16 to 17 and 71 to 73, potential 
future strategic options and the current and anticipated economic conditions, the Company's and the Group's ability to 
continue as a going concern. As set out in note 1 to the Financial Statements and in the Annual Reports & Accounts of B&B 
and NRAM, HM Treasury has provided confirmation to the Directors of those two companies that it is HM Treasury's 
intention to fund those companies so as to maintain them as a going concern and has provided various on-demand facilities 
to each of those companies, to enable those companies to meet their debts as and when they fall due, for a period up to at 
least 1 January 2019. Accordingly, the Directors of B&B and NRAM confirm that they are satisfied at the time of approval of 
these Financial Statements that the B&B and NRAM companies and groups have adequate resources to continue in 
business for the foreseeable future and for this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
Financial Statements. 

 

Longer term viability 

UKAR was established to oversee the orderly run-off of B&B and NRAM for the UK government and continues to receive 
funding and guarantees from HM Treasury to enable it to undertake this activity. The Board have no reason to believe that 
support from HM Treasury will be withdrawn or curtailed after 1 January 2019. With this in mind, the Directors have 
assessed the longer term viability of the Group, taking into account modelling undertaken as part of the annual refresh of the 
Ten Year Plan, the strategy set out on pages 12 to 15 and the impact of the principal risks set out on pages 16 to 17 and 71 
to 73, and have concluded that, provided the financial support from HM Treasury continues, the Group will remain viable 
throughout the entire period of its run-off. The length of this period will depend on the success of strategic initiatives, 
including the current proposals to sell further mortgage assets. 

 

Corporate governance codes 

In accordance with the requirements of the Framework Document, the Group is committed to complying with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code wherever practicable. The Board and UKFI consider the Group’s compliance on at least an 
annual basis. 
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Directors' remuneration report 

Sue Langley, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, introduces the Directors' Remuneration 
Report and gives an overview of the Committee’s main areas of focus during 2016/17. 

 
“I am pleased to present UKAR's report on Directors' Remuneration for 2016/17. 

 

The successful transfer of our mortgage servicing operations to Computershare Loan Services means 
UKAR now comprises a much smaller number of colleagues. However, we continue to manage all 
colleagues, regardless of their position within the company, against the same set of reward principles, 

which focus on fair and transparent remuneration. The Remuneration Committee is conscious of the continued need to 
motivate, attract and retain colleagues as we progress our business strategy to shrink the Balance Sheet and oversight the 
service given to our customers. 

 
The work of the Committee during 2016/17 has covered a variety of topics within its Terms of Reference and key activities 
undertaken during the year have included: 

 
▪ the annual review of UKAR’s reward strategy, which determined that it continues to remain aligned to our business 

strategy and encourages effective risk management and appropriate customer outcomes in line with the FCA’s 
conduct risk agenda; 

▪ as highlighted in the Nomination Committee report on page 49, there were a number of changes to the management 
structure of UKAR as a result of the successful divestment of the mortgage servicing operation. The Committee 
reviewed the role profiles and external benchmarking data for the CEO and the Executive team and agreed their 
remuneration packages; 

▪ annual Short Term Incentive Plan (‘STIP’) payments for the Executive team were agreed, taking into account the 
strong overall results of business and individual performance. Annual incentive awards are also overlaid by a 
Balanced Scorecard which acts as a reducer; 

▪ in June 2016 the Committee approved payments of the one-off incentives that had been put in place to reward 
colleagues for the additional efforts that enabled the successful transfer of our mortgage servicing operations; and 

▪ the design of the annual incentive schemes for 2017/18 and the targets for the next Medium Term Incentive Plan 
(‘MTIP’) scheme which is expected to run until March 2020 were agreed. 

 
The Committee works closely with UKFI on remuneration matters in line with the Framework Agreement and, although it is 
not required to do so, UKAR continues to seek as far as possible to comply with the regulatory and governance 
requirements which apply to UK listed companies and the FCA's Remuneration Code.” 

 

Membership 

There were no changes to the membership of the Remuneration Committee which was in place throughout 2016/17 and had 
the following membership at 31 March 2017: 

 
Sue Langley (Chairman) 
Keith Morgan 
John Tattersall 

 
Details of the skills and experience of Committee members can be found in the Directors' biographies on pages 21 to 23. 

 

Summary of responsibilities 

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for: 
 

▪ making recommendations to the Board concerning the remuneration arrangements of Executives and other 
colleagues in senior roles with significant influence over the risk profile of the business remuneration arrangements 
(Code Staff); 

▪ recommending proposals in respect of related pay schemes; and 

▪ overseeing any major changes in benefit structures. 
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Directors' remuneration report (continued) 

Meetings 

The Committee held five meetings during the year, complying with the requirements of its Terms of Reference. The 
attendance of individual members at meetings is set out on page 26. 

 

The Committee also invites the following to attend its regular meetings: 
 

▪ the UKFI employed appointed Non-Executive Director; 

▪ Chief Executive Officer; 

▪ members of the Executive Committee responsible for HR and Risk; 

▪ Company Secretary or his nominee; and 

▪ other representatives from business functions and/or external advisors. 
 

Reporting to the Board 

The Committee Chairman reports to the Board after each Committee meeting, summarising the key matters discussed, and 
the Board also receives copies of the minutes of each meeting. 

 

Governance 

The Committee completed an annual review of its Terms of Reference in November 2016 and undertook an evaluation 
process in accordance with the requirements of those Terms of Reference in January 2017. The results of the evaluation 
were discussed by the Committee in February 2017 where it was noted that they were positive and provided assurance that 
the Committee remained fit for purpose. 

 

Directors' remuneration policy 

Policy overview 

UKAR's Reward Policy and principles comply with FCA rules and guidance where possible and applies to all colleagues 
across the organisation. The Policy is reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee and seeks to support UKAR's 
unique circumstances and to be agile to respond to the changing economic and regulatory environment. 

 
The main purpose of the policy is to support the achievement of UKAR's overall business strategy by establishing an 
objective, consistent and fair reward system. This in turn provides a competitive yet cost-effective salary, incentive and 
benefits package to all colleagues that reflects their role, competencies and the contribution they make, both now and in the 
future. UKAR’s culture is shaped by the ‘tone from the top’ and how colleagues behave is as important as what they do. 
Rewards and incentives are aligned to UKAR’s culture and values, each of which have exemplar behaviours which help 
colleagues understand what they mean and how they apply to what they do on a daily basis. UKAR will only reward 
behaviours that underpin longer term business success and does not support, or reward, excessive or inappropriate risk- 
taking behaviours.   The Risk Director’s objectives include the caveat that the delivery of all financial targets are achieved 
with due regard to risk and appropriate challenge. 

 
UKAR's reward policy aims to support the retention and attraction of high quality colleagues by differentiating reward for high 
performers. Reward is only one lever available to mitigate the risk of talented colleagues leaving the company and the 
reward policy is, therefore, aligned closely to the overarching HR strategy which is important to UKAR's success given the 
increasing contraction of the business. 

 

UKAR recognises and consults with the Unite trade union. As part of the pay negotiations for all colleagues, we ensure that 
the Union is fully aware of the approach UKAR intends to take and has an opportunity to raise questions. In 2016/17, UKAR 
continued to apply a consistent salary review process across all of the Group including Executives. 
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Directors' remuneration report (continued) 

Directors' remuneration policy (continued) 

The remuneration policy for Executive Directors 

Table 1 – Key aspects of the remuneration policy for Executive Directors 
 

 
Element 

Purpose 
and link to 

 
Operation 

 
Maximum opportunity 

 strategy   

Base To attract and Roles are benchmarked externally. Salaries are reviewed by the There is no prescribed maximum. 

salary retain key 
talent by 

Remuneration Committee and recommendations are submitted to 
the Board and UKFI, the shareholder representative, based upon 

However, the Remuneration 
Committee reviews the salary 

 ensuring an the skills and experience they bring to the role. against the range each year and 

 appropriate, 
competitive 

 
The approach to pay increases, including that for promotions/ 

they also consider the pay 
approach used for all UKAR 

 benefits increased responsibility is in line with the approach taken for all colleagues. 

 package. colleagues.  

Benefits To provide a The benefit package for Executive Directors includes annual Each benefit has its own maximum 

 competitive 
package, 

holiday entitlement, life assurance, car allowance, private medical 
insurance, income protection insurance, personal accident 

in line with the nature of the benefit 
and the policy that surrounds it. 

 aligned to insurance and assistance with relocation, travel and  

 market 
practice. 

accommodation where necessary. Individuals promoted to 
Executive Director from a below-Board role may retain 

 

  entitlements under UKAR's Redundancy Policy.  

Pension To provide a Executive Directors are either offered a pension allowance or The pension   allowance   for the 

 competitive 
package, 

employer contribution into UKAR's pension plan. The approach 
taken depends on the Director's individual circumstances. 

CEO is set at 15% of base salary. 

 aligned to   

 market 
practice. 
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Purpose 
and link to 
strategy 

Operation Maximum opportunity 

 

Directors' remuneration report (continued) 

Directors' remuneration policy (continued) 

The remuneration policy for Executive Directors (continued) 

Table 1 – Key aspects of the remuneration policy for Executive Directors (continued) 
 

 

Short-Term 
Incentive 
Plans 

 

(Annual 
Bonus) 

To reward 
performance 
for delivery of 
key financial 
and 
operational 
targets. 

UKAR's STIP is linked to achievement of the financial and 
operational targets in place for the relevant year alongside 
individual performance against personal objectives. The 
Remuneration Committee approves personal objectives for the year 
for Executive Directors. 

 
We promote a culture that supports, develops and challenges 
individuals to deliver success. Targets for customer outcomes and 
conduct risk, plus other key organisational metrics, are included in 
the UKAR Balanced Scorecard. Failure to achieve these targets 
would result in a reduction to the bonus pool. 

 
Given UKAR's status, all awards are made in cash as there is no 
option to award shares and 60% is paid initially with the remaining 
40% paid in equal instalments over the following three years. 

 

Any potential awards, including deferrals, are subject to 
Remuneration Committee discretion. Malus and clawback operate 
where appropriate and, in line with best practice, the Remuneration 
Committee considers whether there has been any significant 
issues, such as misstatement of results or misconduct as part of 
their consideration around approval of bonus awards. UKAR 
considered extending the period for deferral but decided not to do 
so, given the size of the awards that are made and the fact that it is 
a business with a limited lifespan. 

 
Should an event occur which the Remuneration Committee 
consider would materially alter achievement against targets, it has 
the discretion to change the personal objectives or targets. 
However, such change, in the opinion of the Committee, must not 
have the effect of making the performance objective or corporate 
assessments materially more onerous or easier to satisfy than it 
was immediately before the event in question. 

Up to 60% of base annual 
salary, each year. 

 
 

 

Medium- 
Term 
Incentive 
Plan 

To reward 
performance 
for delivery of 
key metrics 
directly linked 
to UKAR's 
overarching 
strategy. 

UKAR’s MTIP performance periods run in sequence, rather than 
being a rolling annual grant programme and typically measures 
performance over 3-year periods. As referenced elsewhere in this 
report, the 2014-17 scheme closed a year early, vesting in 2016, 
therefore, the current scheme has been put in place for a 4 year 
period and will vest in 2020. 

 
The scheme rewards the execution of material asset sales and 
awards will only begin to accrue once a minimum asset sale 
threshold is reached. Given UKAR's status, all awards are made in 
cash as there is no option to award shares. 

 

Any potential awards are subject to Remuneration Committee 
discretion and malus and clawback operates where appropriate. 

 
Should an event occur which the Remuneration Committee 
consider would materially alter achievement against targets, it has 
the discretion to change the targets. However, such change, in the 
opinion of the Committee, must not have the effect of making the 
performance objective or corporate assessments materially more 
onerous or easier to satisfy than it was immediately before the 
event in question. 

Up to 60% of base annual 
salary once every three years. 

 

The MTIP is not cumulative. 
The Directors can only 
participate in one scheme at any 
time. Therefore, over a three 
year period the average 
annualised payment would be a 
maximum of 20% of base 
salary. 
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Element 
Purpose 
and link to 
strategy 

Operation Maximum opportunity 

Component 
PRA Remuneration Code for 
large banks 

UKAR’s approach 

 

Directors' remuneration report (continued) 

Directors' remuneration policy (continued) 

The remuneration policy for Executive Directors (continued) 

Table 1 – Key aspects of the remuneration policy for Executive Directors (continued) 
 

 

Phoenix 
Incentive 
Plan 

To reward 
performance 
for delivery of 
the Phoenix 
Project. 

The Phoenix Incentive Plan was developed to incentivise and 
reward performance for the successful divestment of the mortgage 
servicing operations, recognising the operational people risk and 
reinforcing the need to retain high performing colleagues.   Subject 
to the amount of individual contribution to the project payment was 
up to 60% for Executive Directors. The award, including deferrals, 
are subject to Remuneration Committee discretion and malus and 
clawback operate where appropriate. To qualify for the scheme, 
Executives were required to increase their notice periods. 

 

The same deferral arrangements as in the STIP were applied. In 
July 2016 following the successful completion of the transaction 
60% of any award was paid with the remaining 40% being paid in 
equal instalments over the next three years. 

Up to 60% of base annual 
salary. 

 

The Phoenix Incentive was a 
one-off plan. 

 
 

 

Prudential Regulation Authority (‘PRA’) Remuneration Rules 

UKAR is not subject to the variable pay cap introduced under the European Union Capital Requirements Directive (CRDIV), 
and interpreted in the PRA remuneration rules as it is not taking deposits, nor is it writing new business and taking on new 
risk. However, we do seek to comply where appropriate. The table below provides further details. 

 
Table 2 – The accounting approach taken for the different incentive payments 

 

Variable to fixed pay ratio Cap of 1:1 ratio. We seek to comply. Should any individual’s total variable 

remuneration exceed the cap in a given year, the amount over 

the cap would be deferred to the following year. 

 

Deferral Extended for up to 7 years. 40% of annual bonus continues to be deferred over a 3-year 

period. 
 

MTIP awards normally vest after 3 years. 
 

As UKAR is not taking deposits or writing new business, the 

Committee has maintained the 3-year deferral. 

 
 

 

Short Term Incentive Plan 

(including the Phoenix 

Incentive) 

Counts towards the 1:1 cap in 

respect of the performance year to 

which it relates. 

UKAR follows this approach. 

 
 

Medium Term Incentive Plan     Counts towards the 1:1  cap in  the 

performance year immediately prior 

to when the 'grant' is made (i.e. when 

the performance period begins) and 

is counted at maximum value. 

UKAR follows this approach. The 2016/17-2019/20 scheme 

counted towards the variable pay cap for 2016/17. 
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Provision Detailed terms 

 

Directors' remuneration report (continued) 

Directors' remuneration policy (continued) 

Choice of performance measures and approach to target setting 

UKAR has clear performance metrics understandable to every colleague in the business. In addition to financial and 
operational targets, a Balanced Scorecard brings together customer, colleague, culture and conduct measures and is 
applied to all annual bonus schemes including the STIP. Given the nature of its ownership and the focus on repaying 
government debt, the MTIP scheme is aligned to accelerating repayment of the Government loan. Details of schemes are 
found in table 1. 

 

Differences in remuneration policy for the Executive Director compared to other employees 

The reward policy applies to all colleagues in the organisation and aims for objectivity, consistency and fairness. However, 
market practice means that to ensure UKAR remains competitive there are different benefits at various levels and the 
Executive Director’s package, when compared to other colleagues across the organisation, has higher allowances and a 
longer contractual notice period. 

 
A salary increase matrix applies to all colleagues including the Executive Director with increases based upon an individual's 
position in their salary range and their personal performance. 

 

Approach to recruitment and promotions 

In the case of a new Executive appointment to the Board the reward package is set in line with the structure agreed by the 
Remuneration Committee, as outlined above and also requires Board and UKFI approval. 

 
The Remuneration Committee has the discretion to make additional awards to replace remuneration forfeited when a new 
Executive Director is appointed. Any awards would take account of the size of the award the individual was leaving behind, 
together with the vesting and performance conditions. The Committee has not made any such awards to date. 

 

Service contracts and payments for loss of office 

UKAR's policy is to employ Executive Directors on service agreements with 12 months employer notice periods. Wherever 
possible UKAR will seek to minimise any potential payments for loss of office. UKAR has not made any loss of office 
payments in this reporting period. 

 

Table 3 – Details of service contracts and loss of office payments policy 
 

 

Employer notice period 
(to the employee) 

12 months 

 
 

Termination payment In the event of termination by the company, other than for misconduct, Executive Directors' contracts 
provide for 12 months' notice, or payment of base salary, pension and fringe benefits in respect of the 
unexpired portion of the notice period. To qualify for the Phoenix Incentive Plan, Executive Directors’ were 
required to increase their notice period to the company from 6 months to 12 months. 

 

'Good leavers', who are colleagues who leave through redundancy or retirement, may also be eligible for: 
▪ STIP subject to assessment of the normal performance conditions and payable on the normal 

payment date, pro-rata by leave date; and 
▪ MTIP subject to the normal performance conditions and payment date, reduced pro-rata to the 

portion of the performance period that has expired. 
 

Where an individual is appointed as an Executive Director through internal promotion, they may also retain 
eligibility for the company's redundancy policy which provides for a payment based on a number of weeks 
base salary per year of service, therefore, Ian Hares has retained his rights under the company's 
redundancy policy. 

 

Redundancy payments are calculated as below and are inclusive of any statutory redundancy pay 
entitlement; 

 
▪ Under 22 years of age – 2 weeks pay for each year of service in that age bracket. 
▪ 22 – 41 years of age – 4 weeks pay for each year of service in that age bracket. 
▪ >41 years of age – 6 weeks pay for each year of service in that age bracket. 

 

Colleagues receive a minimum of 12 weeks pay and maximum of 90 weeks pay. 
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Directors' remuneration report (continued) 

Directors' remuneration policy (continued) 

External Non-Executive Director positions 

Executive Directors are permitted to take up external Non-Executive Director positions at the Board's discretion, providing 
they do not conflict with their duties at UKAR. Where the appointment is not related to UKAR's business activity the 
Executive Director is permitted to retain any fees they receive. 

 

External Directorships 

The table below outlines the external non-executive directorship that Ian Hares held during the 2016/17 reporting period, 
albeit he resigned from the role with effect from 31 December 2016. 

 

Table 4 – Ian Hares’ External Directorships 
 

Position 2016/17 2015/16 

Asset & Liability Management Association Limited £0 £0 

 

Following the sale of NRAM plc on 5 May 2016 Ian Hares remained on the Board of NRAM plc as Non-Executive Director 
until final completion of the transaction on 18 July 2016. He received no fees for this role. 

 

Reward scenarios 

The following chart shows how the make-up of the executives' potential remuneration for 2017/18 varies depending on 
performance. 

 

Figure A: Executive Director total annual remuneration at different levels of performance 

 

 

 

 

Assumptions: 
Minimum = fixed pay only (salary + benefits + pension) 
On-target = 50% vesting of the STIP and MTIP awards (annualised) 
Maximum = 100% vesting of the STIP and MTIP awards (annualised) 
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Directors' remuneration report (continued) 

Annual report on remuneration 

This section of the report provides the detail behind the remuneration policy statements outlined earlier. 
 

Remuneration for 2016/17 

The tables below set out the earnings for both the Executive and Non-Executive Directors during the 2016/17 reporting year 
and compares them against the same period from the 2015/16 reporting period. 

 

Table 5 – Single figure of remuneration - Executive Directors (Audited) 
 

  
April 2016 - 
March 2017 

Ian Hares  
April 2015 - 
March 2016 

Base Salary 1 £350,912  £306,000 

Benefits 2 £12,670  £10,767 

Pension 3 £52,637  £45,900 

STIP Awarded 4    

- STIP Non Deferred £108,000  £101,970 

- STIP Deferred £72,000  £67,980 

MTIP Awarded -  £185,400 

Phoenix Incentive Awarded 5    

- Phoenix Incentive Non Deferred £101,970  - 

- Phoenix Incentive Deferred £67,980  - 

Total £766,169  £718,017 

1 Ian Hares’ total emoluments for 2016/17 cover the period as Finance & Investment Director to 5 June, and CEO from 6 June 2016 when 
his salary increased to £360,000. 

2 Includes Private Medical Insurance and car allowance. 
3 Ian Hares receives a pension allowance. 
4 The STIP of £180,000 is partially deferred as described on page 34. 
5 Phoenix Incentive payments were a one off payment for successful divestment of the mortgage servicing operations. 

 
  Richard Banks  

April 2016 - 
March 2017 

 April 2015 - 
March 2016 

Base Salary 1 £69,514  £381,925 

Benefits 2 £4,995  £27,358 

Pension 3 £20,854  £114,578 

STIP Awarded 4    

- STIP Non Deferred £12,531  £127,050 

- STIP Deferred £8,354  £84,700 

MTIP Awarded -  £231,000 

Phoenix Incentive Awarded 5    

- Phoenix Incentive Non Deferred £127,050  - 

- Phoenix Incentive Deferred £84,700  - 

Total £327,998  £966,611 

1 Richard Banks’ total emoluments for 2016/17 cover the period to 5 June 2016. 
2 Includes Private Medical Insurance, car allowance and a housing allowance. 

3 Richard Banks received a pension allowance. 
4 The STIP of £20,885 covers the period to 5 June 2016 and is partially deferred as described on page 34. 
5 Phoenix Incentive payments were a one off payment for successful divestment of the mortgage servicing operations in 2015/16 and are 

not, therefore, on a pro rata basis. 
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Element 
Purpose and link to 
strategy 

Operation Maximum opportunity 

 

Directors' remuneration report (continued) 

Annual report on remuneration (continued) 

Non-Executive Directors 

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors each have a letter of appointment which sets out the terms and conditions of 
their directorship, including fees payable. Further detail in relation to Board appointments is provided on page 27. 

 

The Board has delegated authority to set the fees of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors to a Remuneration 
Committee (Non-Executive Directors) consisting of the UKFI appointed Non-Executive Director who receives no fees and 
the Chief Executive Officer. The fees are subject to UKFI approval and are shown in table 7 below. 

 

Table 6 – Key aspects of fees for Non-Executive Directors 
 

 

Fees To provide a 
competitive level of fees 
that reflect the skills, 
experience and time 
commitment required 
for the roles. 

The ongoing effectiveness and appropriateness of 
the remuneration of the Chairman and the Non- 
Executive Directors is reviewed annually by the 
Executive Remuneration Committee (Non- 
Executive Directors) and agreed by UKFI. 

All Non-Executive Directors take part in an annual 
evaluation process. 

The fees for each Non-Executive Director 
are provided below. 

Non-Executive Directors are not eligible to 
participate in any Group company's 
executive remuneration programme and 
receive no pension benefits. 

 
 

 

Table 7 - Fees for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors ('NEDs') 
 

Per annum 2016/17 2015/16 % Change 

Chairman £125,000 £125,000 0% 

NED Base fee / Senior Independent Director £50,000 £50,000 0% 

Committee Chairman £15,000 £15,000 0% 

Committee Member £5,000 £5,000 0% 

 

Table 8 – Non-Executive Directors (Audited) 

   

  Fees 1  

 April 2016 - 
March 2017 

 April 2015 - 
March 2016 

John Tattersall 2 £115,801  £75,000 

Richard Pym 3 £22,270  £125,000 

Kent Atkinson 4 £12,474  £70,000 

Michael Buckley £70,000  £70,000 

Sue Langley £70,000  £70,000 

David Lunn 5 - - 
 

Brendan McDonagh 6 £67,410 - 

Keith Morgan 7 £77,327 £65,000 

Peter Norton 8 - - 

Total £435,282 £475,000 

1 In addition, the company meets certain travel costs for Board Directors which are considered taxable. The company considers that such 
travel is an essential requirement of Directors’ duties and does not confer any personal benefit. Total tax paid to HMRC on behalf of 
Directors for 2016/17 was £11,710.42. 

2 John Tattersall was appointed Chairman in June 2016. 
3 Richard Pym stepped down as Chairman in June and the Board in July 2016. He waived his fees with effect from June 2016. 

4 Kent Atkinson stepped down from the Board on 5 June 2016. 
5 David Lunn was a UKFI employed appointed Director and did not receive any fees prior to his resignation in February 2017. 
6 Brendan McDonagh was appointed with effect from 4 April 2016. 
7 Keith Morgan is a UKFI appointed Director but is not an employee of UKFI and as such he received fees. 
8 Peter Norton was appointed as a UKFI employed appointed Director in April 2017 and does not receive any fees. 
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Directors' remuneration report (continued) 

Annual report on remuneration (continued) 

Percentage increase in the remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer 

Table 9 below shows a summary of year-on-year changes between 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 for the Chief 
Executive Officer versus colleagues who were in the business at both year-ends. 

 

The Chief Executive Officer changed on 5 June 2016, therefore the year-on-year changes for 2016/17 comprise the salary of 
Richard Banks for the period to 5 June 2016 and Ian Hares for the period from 5 June 2016. The -4.0% change in Chief 
Executive Officer salary reflects the difference in salary between the two individuals. 

 
The percentage change in benefits for the CEO and colleagues is primarily due to the increase in private medical premiums 
for 2016/17. 

 

Table 9 – Comparison of CEO remuneration change versus change for average employee 
 

 % change year-on-year 1 

Chief Executive  

- base salary 2 (4.0%) 

- benefits 0.4% 

- STIPs 4 (19.3%) 

- Phoenix Incentive 5 100.0% 

Average per employee  

- base salary 3 4.8% 

- benefits 19.8% 

- bonus 20.3% 

- Phoenix Incentive 5 100.0% 

1 This information is based upon year-on-year comparison for colleagues who were in the business at the end of both periods. 
2 Ian Hares was appointed CEO on 6 June 2016 at which point his salary increased to £360,000 and as such he did not receive an annual 

pay award. 
3 Following the annual pay review, employee base salaries were increased by an average of 1.93% with effect from 1 July 2016. 
4 STIP illustration calculated to reflect ten months of Ian Hares as CEO and two months Richard Banks as CEO. 
5 Phoenix Incentive was a one-off payment for all colleagues. 

 

Highest-paid Director’s remuneration change versus median 

The table below shows the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid Director and the median remuneration 
of the organisation’s workforce. 

 
For this purpose, total remuneration includes salary, taxable benefits, STIP and the Phoenix Incentive. It does not include 
pension contributions, however payments made in lieu of pension have been included. 

 

The median remuneration figure for colleagues has seen an 89% increase on that from 2015/16 as a result of the transfer of 
around 1,700 colleagues, the majority of which were in operational roles, to Computershare. UKAR now comprises around 
175 colleagues the majority of whom are undertaking unique or specialist roles. 

 

Table 10 – Comparison of highest-paid Director’s remuneration versus all colleagues 
 

  
2016/17 

All colleague ratio  
2015/16 

Highest-paid Director’s total remuneration £766,169  £966,611 

Median remuneration for UKAR colleagues £45,334  £23,998 

Remuneration ratio 16.91
  40.32

 

 
1 The ratio in 2016/17 reflects the Phoenix Incentive awarded to the Chief Executive Officer, Ian Hares, when he was Finance & Investment 

Director as a result of the successful divestment of the mortgage servicing operations in 2015/16. 
2 The ratio in 2015/16 primarily reflected the MTIP awarded to the Chief Executive Officer, Richard Banks, for performance in 2014/15 and 

2015/16 which is not paid until June 2017. 
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Directors' remuneration report (continued) 

Annual report on remuneration (continued) 

STIP for the year ended 31 March 2017 

The individual targets used for the STIP scheme are based on key metrics and assessment of performance year-on-year. 
All four financial and operational elements are weighted equally.   The business has achieved all four of these objectives. 
This means that STIP payments for 2016/17 will be paid at four targets and individual payments based upon assessment of 
personal performance, as shown in tables 12 and 13. Colleagues who transferred to Computershare as part of the 
divestment of our mortgage servicing operations receive any annual award pro-rata for the period 1 April 2016 to 5 June 
2016. These include Richard Banks, who was Chief Executive Officer for that period.   In the light of business performance 
up until the end of May 2016 the Committee agreed that all those colleagues should receive an ‘on target’ payment. The 
Committee also considered whether there were any circumstances that could have justified clawback or malus in the year, 
taking input from the Risk Director. It determined that there were no circumstances that would have justified this. 

 

Table 11 – STIP targets 2016/17 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

more in arrears 

 
 

 
1 The cost target excludes UKARcs and certain performance related payments to suppliers. 
2 The Balanced Scorecard acts as a ‘reducer’ to the maximum bonus to ensure colleagues demonstrate the right behaviours. The 10 

measures including internal control, customer metrics and people management are rated red, amber or green at the end of the year. 
Amber results in a 2% reduction and red in a 4% reduction.   In the most extreme case, with all 10 measures judged as red, the bonus 
pool would be reduced by 40%. 

 
The individual objectives that influence the performance rating for Ian Hares, which in turn determine the amount of incentive 
earned, are detailed below. 

 

Table 12 – Ian Hares' 2016/17 Personal Objective Assessment 
 

 
Provide clear leadership and oversight of 
the Balance Sheet Optimisation 
programme. 

Ian participates in all key governance groups and has successfully led the wind down of 
UKAR’s remaining securitisation and the completion of the £13bn sale of NRAM assets in 
July 2016. He also led the sale of B&B assets for £11.8bn which was agreed in March 
2017 and enabled £11.0 billion of the £15.7 billion loan from the Financial Services 
Compensation Scheme which was funded by HM Treasury to be repaid, delivering good 
value for taxpayers. 

 
 

Maintain robust and reliable Board, 
Finance, Treasury and Risk Reporting with 
appropriate controls. 

Ian has led UKAR since 6 June 2016 and has maintained consistency of leadership with a 
determination to do the right thing for customers, colleagues and the taxpayer. All 
reporting delivered to high standard. 

 
 

Lead initiatives to mitigate operational risk 
against a background of a shrinking 
Balance Sheet. 

Alongside asset sale programmes Ian is driving initiatives to maintain colleague 
engagement to mitigate operational risk whilst ensuring that UKAR keeps the interests of 
customers and market integrity at the heart of the business. High levels of colleague 
engagement have been maintained as we transition to an asset management business 
model. 

 
 

Lead oversight of outsourced providers 
and contract management to deliver 
appropriate outcomes for customers and 
to continue to focus on reducing arrears. 

The relationship with our partner, Computershare, is working well with customer service 
levels being maintained and the number of customers in arrears continues to reduce. 

 
 

Objective detail Achievement 

Measure Target Weighting Outcome 

Financial Underlying profit before tax >£622.0m 25% Achieved 

Costs 1 <£167.2m 25% Achieved 

Net Government loan repayments >£2,699m 25% Achieved 

Operational Number of customers 3 months or 
<5,199

 
 

25% 

 
Achieved 

Non-Financial 2 Balanced Scorecard Green 0% to -40% Achieved 
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Targets achieved 
Surpasses 

expectations 

Too early to assess / 
On track / Achieved Work in Progress / Under-performing 

 

Directors' remuneration report (continued) 

Annual report on remuneration (continued) 

STIP for the year ended 31 March 2017 (continued) 

The UKAR STIP comprises financial and operational objectives and a Balanced Scorecard. All targets have been achieved 
and the Balanced Scorecard is ‘Green’ for the year. Personal objectives are measured in a range from ‘under-performing’ at 
0% to 'surpasses expectations' with a range of 40-60%.   Discretion is applied in respect of the actual bonus awards within 
the ranges in table 13. 

 

Table 13 – ExCo STIP award matrix 

 

 
 Developing  

4 60% - 40% 39.9% - 20.0% 19.9% - 5.0% 0% 

3 48% - 32% 31.9% - 16.0% 15.9% - 4.0% 0% 

2 30% - 18% 17.9% - 10.0% 9.9% - 2.0% 0% 

1 15% - 9% 8.9% - 5.0% 4.9% - 1.0% 0% 
 

Ian Hares’ performance was discussed at the Remuneration Committee in May 2017 and subsequently with the whole 
Board. It was agreed that Ian has maintained consistency of leadership with a determination to do the right thing for 
customers, colleagues and the taxpayer. He has maintained robust and reliable board reporting and built on the good 
relations with the FCA and UKFI/HMT colleagues. Excellent progress has been made in simplifying and optimising the 
Balance Sheet, with the first phase of the sale of B&B assets being achieved at the upper end of price expectations and the 
successful redemption of the final secured funding programme. Comprehensive oversight of our mortgage servicing 
operations has been implemented well, and Ian has maintained good dialogue at a senior level within Computershare 
ensuring we continue to comply with our legal and regulatory obligations. Customer service levels have been maintained, 
and great progress has been made in the reduction of customers over three months in arrears. 

 

The Board agreed with the Chairman’s recommendation to award Ian Hares a STIP bonus of 50% which equates to 
£180,000 for the year. 

 

As referenced in the 2015/16 Remuneration Report, Ian Hares’ annual performance as Finance & Investment Director in 
2015/16 had ‘surpassed expectations’ and the Board agreed with the recommendation by the Chief Executive Officer to 
award him a Phoenix Incentive Plan payment of 55% which equated to £169,950. He was also eligible to receive the 
maximum MTIP bonus of 60% equating to £185,400 payable in June 2017. 

 

Grant and vesting of MTIP awards 

The new MTIP scheme runs from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2020. The targets for this scheme relate to driving additional 
shareholder value and/or earlier repayment of government loans. 

 

Total pension entitlements 

Ian Hares receives a cash supplement of 15% of basic salary in lieu of UKAR pension benefit.   He has never been a 
member of the UKAR Pension Plan and has not accrued any defined benefit pension during his tenure as a Director. 

 
During the reporting period, NRAM pension payments due to former Directors of the former Northern Rock plc, paid directly 
by NRAM and not connected to the Northern Rock Staff Pension Scheme were £379,415 (March 2016: £336,370). No 
similar payments were made by B&B during any of these periods. 

 
For details of UKAR’s accounting for retirement benefits see note 19 to the Financial Statements. 

 

Payments within the period to past Directors for loss of office 

There have been no payments made to any Directors within the reporting period relating to loss of office. 
 

Performance 

The table below shows a summary of the CEO incentives that have been awarded for performance since UKAR was formed, 
and the total remuneration package. As mentioned elsewhere in this report, Richard Banks was CEO from 2010 to 6 June 
2016, when Ian Hares became CEO. The amount shown for 2016/17 includes Ian Hares’ salary as Finance & Investment 
Director for the two months of April and May 2016. 
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Directors' remuneration report (continued) 

Annual report on remuneration (continued) 

Performance (continued) 

Table 14 – Summary of CEO remuneration and incentives 

 
 
 
 

 
maximum) 

 
1 The 2011 - 2013 MTIP scheme payment was made in two parts. The total that could be earned under the scheme remained at 60%. 
2 The 2014 - 2017 MTIP scheme closed a year early and as such vested in full in March 2016. Payment is due in June 2017, in line with 

the original scheme rules. 

 

Relative importance of the spend on pay 

This section shows the percentage change in the cost of pay across the company, compared with statutory profit after tax. 
 

Table 15 – Summary of colleague remuneration costs compared to statutory profit 
 

 
Total remuneration costs for UKAR 
(salary, pension, bonus benefits) 

£61.6m £5.8m (91%) 
 

 

Profit after tax £918.2m £285.7m (69%) 

 

External advisors 

UKAR is advised by New Bridge Street (‘NBS’) who were appointed by the Remuneration Committee in 2011. The total fees 
paid to NBS in respect of its services to the Committee during the year were charged on a time spent basis and amounted to 
£15,780. NBS is a signatory to the Remuneration Consultants' Code of Conduct which requires it to provide objective and 
impartial advice. 

 

How the Reward Policy will be applied in 2017 onwards 

Reward will continue to play an important part in the delivery of UKAR's strategy, both at executive level and across the 
organisation as we focus on shrinking the Balance Sheet and redeeming or returning assets to the private sector as swiftly 
as possible, whilst maintaining business as usual and overseeing the service given to our customers. As referenced earlier 
in this report the Committee will seek to ensure UKAR’s incentive arrangements are aligned to the values and behaviours 
expected of colleagues and support effective risk management and appropriate customer outcomes. 

 

2017/18 salary review 

UKAR applies the same approach to salary uplifts for its Executive Directors as for the rest of the colleague population, with 
increases based upon a matrix of position against salary range and performance rating. 

 

The current and previous annual salaries for Richard Banks and Ian Hares as Executive Directors are as follows: 
 

Table 16 – Salary history for the Executive Directors 
 

 

Ian Hares 
£309,000 
(+4.0%) 

Richard Banks 
£385,000

 
(+3.3%) 

£360,000 
(+16.5%)2

 

 
- 

 
 

1 Annual pay rises are effective from 1st July. 
2 Effective from Ian Hares’ appointment as CEO with effect from 6 June 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Salary as at 
1 April 2016 

Salary as at 
1 April 2017 

2015/16 2016/17 % Change 

2012 
2013/14 

(15 months) 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Total Remuneration £642,820 £980,771 £653,227 £966,611 £766,169 

STIP (as % of maximum) 43% 80% 64% 92% 83% 

MTIP Vesting (as % of 
100%1 

100%1
 N/A 100%2

 N/A 
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Directors' remuneration report (continued) 

Annual report on remuneration (continued) 

Structure of STIP and MTIP 

The maximum potential earnings under the STIP scheme for 2017/18 will be unchanged with the financial and operational 
targets updated to ensure they continue to be appropriate for UKAR post divestment of the mortgage servicing operation. 
Following the early closure of the previous MTIP, with payment deferred to June 2017, a four year MTIP scheme has been 
put in place based on accelerated repayment of the government loans. 

 

Performance targets for the STIP and MTIP awards to be granted in 2017 and beyond 

The targets for both of these schemes will receive Remuneration Committee, Board and UKFI approval. 
 

Gender Pay Gap and Equal Pay 

UKAR's approach to Reward complies with relevant regulations and legislation, including that on equal pay. The 
overarching Reward Policy is applied consistently across the organisation, but differentiates where appropriate to recognise 
individual performance, skills or experience.   Due to UKAR’s size we are not required to comply with Gender pay reporting 
as recommended by the Mandatory Gender Pay Gap Reporting paper issued in February 2016 by the Government 
Equalities Office. However, we do intend to publish this information in 2018. 

 

UKAR’s last equal pay audit was in 2012, and over the coming year the Committee will determine whether another equal 
pay audit is appropriate. 

 

Approval 

This Directors’ Remuneration Report, including both the Policy and Annual Remuneration Report has been approved by the 
Board of Directors. 

 
 

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors. 

 
 
 

Sue Langley OBE 

Chairman, Remuneration Committee 
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Audit Committee Chairman's report 

Brendan McDonagh, Chairman of the Audit Committee, reports on how the Audit Committee 
discharged its responsibilities during 2016/17. 

 
“During 2016/17 the Audit Committee continued to fulfil its key role in monitoring the integrity of 
financial reporting for the business and supporting the Board in ensuring the Financial Statements are 
fair, balanced and understandable.   In addition, we have continued to provide assurance that the 
Group has in place effective audit processes and internal control systems and have overseen the 
progress of UKAR’s strategic transactions.” 

 

Membership 

The membership of the Audit Committee during 2016/17 was as follows: 
 

Brendan McDonagh (Chairman – appointed 6 June 2016) 

Kent Atkinson (resigned as Chairman and from the Committee on 5 June 2016) 
John Tattersall (resigned from the Committee on 5 June 2016) 
Michael Buckley 
Keith Morgan (appointed to the Committee on 6 June 2016) 

 
Details of the skills and experience of Committee members can be found in the Directors' biographies on pages 21 to 23. 

 

Summary of responsibilities 

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring, reviewing and advising the Board on: 
 

▪ all regulatory, prudential and accounting requirements that may affect the Group; 

▪ integrity of the Financial Statements and external reporting responsibilities; 

▪ effectiveness of the Group's systems of internal control and auditing plans; 

▪ the Whistleblowing Policy; 

▪ the role, objectivity and effectiveness of internal and external auditors; and 

▪ results of the external audit and any significant matters identified. 
 

Meetings 

The Committee held four meetings during the year, one more than required under its Terms of Reference. The attendance 
of individual members at meetings is set out on page 26. 

 
The Committee normally invites the following to attend meetings where appropriate: 

 

▪ the Chairman; 

▪ members of ExCo, including the CEO, Finance Director and Risk Director; 

▪ Head of Internal Audit and the external auditors; 

▪ Company Secretary or his nominee; and 

▪ other representatives from business functions and/or external advisors. 
 

The internal and external auditors each held a separate private session with the Committee which was not attended by the 
Executive.   The private sessions provided the opportunity for the Committee to discuss matters directly with the relevant 
audit teams. 

 

Reporting to the Board 

The Committee Chairman reported to the Board after each Committee meeting, summarising the key matters discussed, 
and the Board has also received the minutes of each meeting. 

 

Governance 

The Committee completed an annual review of its Terms of Reference and undertook an evaluation process in accordance 
with the requirements of those Terms of Reference. The results of the evaluation were positive and provided assurance that 
the Committee remained fit for purpose. 
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Financial reporting Internal audit External audit 
Governance and other 
matters 

Significant issue Financial outcome 

 

Audit Committee Chairman's report (continued) 

Chairman's overview of 2016/17 

The work of the Committee during 2016/17 has covered a variety of topics within its Terms of Reference, some of the more 
significant are set out below: 

 

 

Oversight of the Annual Report 
& Accounts and Interim 
Financial Statements, taking 
into account the requirements 
of HM Treasury consolidation. 

Approval of the Annual Plan 
and monitoring its 
effectiveness. 

Approval of the objectives for 
the Head of Internal Audit. 

Oversight of internal audit 
activity. 

Transition of the audit from 
PwC to the NAO. 

Oversight of the effectiveness 
of external audit. 

Approval of the year-end 
strategy and performance 
evaluation. 

Oversight of effectiveness of 
systems of internal control. 

Oversight of the effectiveness 
of the Whistleblowing Policy. 

Approval of the Non-Audit 
Services Policy. 

Approval of the Recruitment of 
Audit Staff Policies. 

Senior Accounting Officer 
governance framework and 
certification. 

Oversight of the accounting 
treatment regarding the sale of 
£12bn of assets, the final 
stages of the sale of £13bn of 
assets and the divestment of 
the mortgage servicing 
operations. 

Oversight of the planning and 
preparations for the 
implementation of IFRS 9 in 
2018/19. 

 
 

 

Financial reporting and significant financial judgements 

The Committee reviewed the content of the Interim Financial Statements and Annual Report & Accounts and advised the 
Board on whether, in the opinion of the Committee, taken as a whole, these are fair, balanced and understandable and 
provide the information necessary for the shareholder to assess the position and performance, business model and strategy. 

 
During the period the Committee assessed the financial reporting processes, with assistance from management and the 
internal and external auditors. Management produced a comprehensive report providing details of judgements taken and 
other key reporting matters considered in preparing each set of results. The external auditors produced a similar report 
based on their audit findings. The Committee considered the following significant issues and judgements in relation to the 
Group's Financial Statements and disclosures: 

 

 

Loan loss 
provisioning 

Despite further improvements in the level of arrears, the provision remains highly material and from 
necessity, is based on many judgemental assumptions. The Committee considered loss coverage 
ratios for the various elements of the book in light of these improvements and sought justification for 
changes from last year’s levels. Particular focus was placed on the higher risk areas of the loan 
book, such as lifetime (equity release) loans and those subject to fraud and professional 
negligence. 

 
 

 

Provision for 
customer redress 

Throughout the year the Committee have been kept informed of the approach to customer 
remediation, considered any developments and agreed provisions where appropriate. The FCA 
policy statement PS17/3 regarding the introduction of a time-bar on PPI claims and the final rules in 
relation to the Plevin case were also carefully considered in determining the 2016/17 provision. 
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Audit Committee Chairman's report (continued) 

Financial reporting and significant financial judgements (continued) 

 

Date of 
recognition of sale 
of loans 

On 31 March 2017 UKAR announced that B&B had agreed to sell two separate asset portfolios 
comprising performing buy-to-let loans for a total of £11.8bn to Prudential and funds managed by 
Blackstone. The contracts for sale were signed on 30 March 2017 but financial completion, 
including receipt of the balance of the sale proceeds, occurred on 25 April 2017. 

 

The Committee were comfortable that the sale should be recognised at the point of contract 
signature as: contract signature committed all parties to the deal; the risks and rewards of the loans 
had passed to the buyers; B&B was to continue to collect the cash flows arising on the loans until 
financial completion, but B&B was contractually obliged to pass the accumulated flows to the buyers 
at financial completion; and in the judgement of the Committee, at the point of contract signature 
although there remained conditions which were to be satisfied, the risk that the sale would not 
proceed to successful financial completion was remote. 

 
 

 

Going concern 
and Long Term 
Viability 

Following confirmation of HM Treasury's continued financial support for the Principal Subsidiaries 
and sight of the EU State Aid Report, the Audit Committee determined that it continued to be 
appropriate to prepare the accounts on a going concern basis.   In addition, in reviewing UKAR's 
long term viability the Audit Committee took account of the Group's strategic objectives, the impact 
of its principle risks and the modelling undertaken as part of the annual refresh of the Ten Year 
Plan. It was concluded that so long as HM Treasury's financial support remains in place, the Group 
will remain viable for the duration of the Balance Sheet run-off. 

 
 

 

Disclosures in the 
Annual Report & 
Accounts 

The Committee were comfortable that, taken as a whole, the Annual Report provided a fair, 
balanced and understandable reflection of UKAR's performance for the year and the financial 
position as at 31 March 2017. 

 
 

 

Internal audit 

Deloitte LLP provide the internal audit services through an outsourced contract. Further details of the provision of the 
Internal Audit service can be found on page 70. 

 
The Audit Committee fulfilled its responsibility to monitor the objectiveness and effectiveness of internal audit through: 

 

▪ considering reports at three of the meetings from the Head of Internal Audit. These reports highlight existing and 
emerging matters of significance, areas of concern, planned actions, monitoring procedures and any other matters 
which are likely to impact on internal controls; 

▪ review and approval of the annual Internal Audit Plan, together with any changes as and when required; 

▪ approval of the Terms of Reference for Internal Audit on an annual basis; 

▪ reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the activities carried out by the function; and 

▪ the Head of Internal Audit attended four Audit Committee meetings during 2016/17 and has direct access to the Audit 
Committee and its Chairman. 

 

The Audit Committee has satisfied itself that the Internal Audit function was effective and adequately resourced through the 
regular meetings held with, and reports provided by, the Head of Internal Audit. 

 

Internal control 

The Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control in accordance with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code. 

Significant Issue Financial Outcome 
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Audit Committee Chairman's report (continued) 

Internal control (continued) 

The Committee reviewed reports on Whistleblowing and received assurance that the Policy is reinforced annually to all 
colleagues through mandatory training. 

 

The Committee reviewed the processes governing the strategic transactions namely the sale of £12bn of assets in March 
2017, the final stages of the £13bn sale to Cerberus and the divestment of the mortgage servicing operations. 

 
Further information on the approach to the Board's review of the Group's system of internal control is given within the 
Corporate Governance section on page 29. 

 

External audit 

The Committee places great importance on ensuring there are high standards of quality and effectiveness in the external 
audit process and is responsible for recommending the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditors. It 
reviewed the scope and results of the annual external audit and its cost effectiveness. 

 
The external auditors may attend all meetings of the Committee and they have direct access to the Committee and its 
Chairman at all times. 

 

The Audit Committee considered and approved the external audit plans and approach prior to the external auditors 
undertaking their audit work. 

 
PwC resigned as external auditors on 27 September 2016 when the NAO were appointed as external auditors. The 
Committee support NAO proposals to outsource much of the audit work to PwC initially, with a controlled handover occurring 
thereafter, which maintains continuity and facilitates a smooth transition. 

 

During this financial year, a team from the Financial Reporting Council (‘FRC’) undertook an audit quality review of PwC’s 
audit of UKAR’s 2015/16 Annual Report & Accounts. On completion of the review, the Audit Committee considered the 
findings in the FRC’s report and discussed these with the PwC audit partner. The Audit Committee was pleased with the 
overall assessment and the limited improvements identified will be actioned by PwC and the NAO. 

 

Non-audit services 

The Audit Committee also develops and recommends to the Board a policy on the supply of non-audit services by the 
internal or external auditors and reviews this annually, taking into account any relevant ethical guidance on the matter: 

 
▪ the Policy clearly sets out the circumstances in which it is appropriate to employ any audit partner for additional work, 

the safeguards required and the mandate structure for approval; 

▪ the Finance Director must be aware of the hiring of auditors for all non-audit work; 

▪ the Chairman of the Audit Committee must sign off work which will cost more than £25,000; 

▪ the auditors are required to demonstrate that accepting such a contract will not damage their independence or 
objectivity; and 

▪ the Audit Committee reviews the audit and non-audit fees paid to the internal and external auditors every six months 
and monitors the total spend on non-audit work relative to the spend on audit work. 

 
The NAO, who were appointed as auditors on 27 September 2016, do not provide non-audit services to the extent of a 
private sector audit firm, however, the policy also applies to PwC during the controlled handover period. 

 

Priorities for 2017/18 

For 2017/18, the key areas of focus for the Committee will include: 
 

▪ ensuring continued oversight of the financial position and control environment of the Group, including oversight and 
review of the control environment following the impact of the strategic developments detailed in the Chairman’s 
statement on pages 5 to 6; 

▪ oversight of any further strategic transactions that UKAR may undertake during 2017/18; and 

▪ state of readiness for the implementation of IFRS 9 in 2018/19. 

 
 
 

Brendan McDonagh 

Chairman, Audit Committee 
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Nomination Committee Chairman's report 

John Tattersall, Chairman of the Nomination Committee, reports on how the Nomination Committee 
discharged its responsibilities during 2016/17. 

 
“The Nomination Committee has an important role in ensuring the composition of the Board and its 
Committees reflect the best governance practice, taking into account the strategic direction and 
unique nature of the business. During 2016/17 the Committee has overseen the changes to the 
Management structures of UKAR as a result of the successful divestment of the mortgage servicing 
operation.” 

 

Membership 

The Nomination Committee was in place throughout 2016/17 and had the following membership as at 31 March 2017: 
 

John Tattersall (Chairman – appointed 6 June 2016) 

Richard Pym (resigned as Chairman and from the Committee on 5 June 2016) 
Michael Buckley 
Sue Langley 

 

Details of the skills and experience of Committee members can be found in the Directors' biographies on pages 21 to 23. 
 

Summary of responsibilities 

The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring, reviewing and advising the Board on: 
 

▪ the composition of the Board and appropriate succession plans; 

▪ identification of potential Executive and Non-Executive Directors; 

▪ appointment or re-appointment of Directors, having regard to the requirement for the Board to have the appropriate 
range of skills and experience; and 

▪ the leadership needs of the business, the succession plans for key executive roles and the diversity policies. 
 

Meetings 

The Committee held four meetings during the year, complying with the requirements of its Terms of Reference. The 
attendance of individual members at meetings is set out on page 26. 
. 

The Committee also invites the following to attend its regular meetings: 
 

▪ the UKFI employed appointed Director; 

▪ members of ExCo, including the CEO and the Governance, Engagement and HR Director; 

▪ Company Secretary or his nominee; and 

▪ other representatives from business functions and/or external advisors from time to time 
 

Reporting to the Board 

The Committee Chairman reported to the Board after each Committee meeting, summarising the key matters discussed, 
and the Board has also received the minutes of each meeting. 

 

Governance 

The Committee completed an annual review of its Terms of Reference in February 2017 and undertook an evaluation 
process in accordance with the requirements of those Terms of Reference. The results of the evaluation were positive and 
provided assurance that the Committee remained fit for purpose. In fulfilling its role and responsibilities it was commented 
that very detailed reviews of a number of management layers as well as Board membership had taken place throughout the 
year. 
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Nomination Committee Chairman's report (continued) 

Chairman's overview of 2016/17 

The work of the Committee during 2016/17 has covered a variety of topics within its Terms of Reference and the key 
activities undertaken during the year have included: 

 

▪ confirmation of the appointment of the new CEO and approval of the new management structure following the 
divestment of the mortgage servicing business; 

▪ review of the Constitution of the Board and its Committees, taking account of the changes to the Board; 

▪ appointment of a new Non-Executive Director; 

▪ ongoing review of Executive Development and Succession Planning to ensure it remains fit for purpose post 
divestment of the mortgage servicing operations; 

▪ review and recommendation of the renewal of Non-Executive Director contracts; and 

▪ recommendation for the reappointment of Directors at the Annual General Meeting. 
 

Diversity Policy 

UKAR is committed to developing gender diversity with a range of support activities to develop and prepare talented 
colleagues for further advancement. Our approach to selection is to appoint the best candidate into any vacancies and we 
consider the benefits of all aspects of diversity including skills, background, race, experience, gender and other qualities. 

 
The UKAR Diversity Policy endorses the principles of best practice and recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board. 
UKAR’s existing board comprises 6 male and 1 female directors. The policy requires that in reviewing Board composition, 
the Committee will consider the benefits of all aspects of diversity including skills, background, race, experience, gender and 
other qualities of Directors.   Due to the unique nature of the business being in run-off and the anticipated reduction in the 
size of the Board, a gender target is considered to be inappropriate, however all these aspects were taken into consideration 
by the Nomination Committee when it appointed Brendan McDonagh and Brendan Russell to the UKAR Board in April 2016 
and June 2017 respectively. 

 

Women in Finance Charter 

Although not required to comply with the regulatory and governance requirements which apply to UK listed companies, 
UKAR continues to seek, as far as possible, to do so and although the business now has less than 250 employees the 
Nomination Committee and Board felt it appropriate to comply with the voluntary Women in Finance Charter published by 
HM Treasury. Taking into account the reducing size of the organisation, it has been agreed that the gender diversity target 
would aim to at least maintain the proportion of female senior management as the business reduces. The Governance, 
Engagement and HR Director is responsible for gender equality and inclusion and gender diversity has been incorporated 
into UKAR’s Balanced Scorecard which acts as a ‘reducer’ to the maximum bonus to ensure colleagues demonstrate the 
right behaviours. 

 

Table 1 - Progress against Targets 
 

 
Female Male Ratio Target 

Colleagues 74 61 54.8% : 45.2% >= 45% F 

Management 11 29 27.5% : 72.5% >= 25% F 

Total 85 90 48.6% : 51.4% >= 45% F 

 

Appointment of Directors 

Where possible UKAR complies with the UK Corporate Governance Code and with the majority of independent NEDs 
having been on the Board since establishment in 2010 we have commenced the process of orderly succession and 
refreshing of the Board. Last year the Committee engaged Russell Reynolds Associates to assist in the appointment of a 
new independent Non-Executive Director with financial management and banking experience who would be able to take 
over the Chairmanship of the Audit Committee from Kent Atkinson and following a comprehensive selection process 
Brendan McDonagh was appointed to the UKAR Board in April 2016. 
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Nomination Committee Chairman's report (continued) 

Appointment of Directors (continued) 

Kent Atkinson and Richard Banks stepped down from the Board in June 2016 upon the successful divestment of the 
mortgage servicing operations at which point I became Chairman, Sue Langley was appointed the Senior Independent 
Director, and Ian Hares became CEO. Subsequently, in July 2016, Richard Pym also stepped down from the Board, all as 
previously agreed by the Committee and referenced in last year’s Annual Report & Accounts. 

 

As mentioned earlier in this Annual Report, Michael Buckley retired from the Board in June 2017 and following due process, 
the Committee again appointed Russell Reynolds Associates to assist with our search for his successor. Brendan Russell's 
appointment in June 2017 brings banking and transaction experience that complement the skills and experience of the 
Board. 

 
In line with the Framework Document, UKFI is entitled to appoint one or more Non-Executive Directors to the UKAR Board. 
This was enacted when David Lunn stepped down from the Board in February 2017 upon moving to another role in HM 
Treasury. David has been replaced by Peter Norton who joined the Board in April of this year. 

 
Priorities for 2017/18 

Over the coming year, the Committee will continue to have a key role in ensuring that UKAR has appropriate management 
structures and succession plans for the number of smaller, more specialist roles within the organisation and it will oversee 
the appointment and induction of the new Non-Executive Directors. 

 
 
 

John Tattersall 

Chairman, Nomination Committee 
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Transaction Approvals Committee Chairman's report 

John Tattersall, Chairman of the Transaction Approvals Committee, reports on how the Transaction 
Approvals Committee discharged its responsibilities during 2016/17. 

 
“During the year the Transaction Approvals Committee has overseen the unwinding of the Aire Valley 
Master Trust and the subsequent sale of £11.8bn of B&B assets in separate portfolios to Prudential 
and funds managed by Blackstone in March 2017. The proceeds of these asset sales have enabled 
£11.0bn of B&B’s loan from the FSCS to be repaid following the year end.” 

 
 

Membership 

The membership of the Transaction Approvals Committee during 2016/17 was as follows: 
 

John Tattersall (Chairman – appointed 6 June 2016) 

Richard Pym (resigned as Chairman 5 June 2017 and from the Committee on 26 July 2016) 
Richard Banks (resigned 5 June 2016) 
Michael Buckley 
Ian Hares 
David Lunn (resigned 28 February 2017) 
Keith Morgan 

 

Following the end of the year Peter Norton was appointed as a member of the Committee on 6 April 2017. 
 

Details of the skills and experience of Committee members can be found in the Directors' biographies on pages 21 to 23. 
 

Summary of responsibilities 

The Committee is authorised to approve the implementation of strategic transactions, including inter alia, the terms, timing, 
pricing, documentation and appointment of advisors, in accordance with any directions and limits set by the Board and with 
reference to the requirements of the Framework Document. In considering any transactions the Committee recognises the 
importance of ensuring that customers interests are properly protected and that all regulatory and conduct risks are taken 
into account. 

 

Meetings 

The Committee meets as and when necessary depending on proposals for strategic transactions. The attendance of 
individual members is set out on page 26. 

 
The Committee also invites the following to attend its regular meetings: 

 

▪ the Asset Sales Director; 

▪ Company Secretary or his nominee; and 

▪ other representatives from business functions and/or external advisors from time to time, as appropriate. 

 
Reporting to the Board 

The Committee Chairman reported to the Board after each Committee meeting, summarising the key matters discussed, 
and the Board has also received the minutes of each meeting. 

 

Governance 

The Committee completed an annual review of its Terms of Reference and undertook an evaluation process in accordance 
with the requirements of those Terms of Reference. The results of the evaluation were positive and provided assurance that 
the Committee remained fit for purpose. 
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Transaction Approvals Committee Chairman's report (continued) 

Chairman's overview of 2016/17 

The Transaction Approvals Committee fulfilled its remit during 2016/17 through the oversight of transactions requiring 
approval in principle by the Board under its reserved powers. This included approval and oversight of the unwinding of the 
Aire Valley securitisation programme, which achieved the twin benefits of simplifying the Balance Sheet and unencumbering 
c.£8.1bn of B&B mortgage assets. Completion of this transaction also facilitated the sale of two separate B&B asset 
portfolios of buy-to-let loans for a total of £11.8bn to Prudential and funds managed by Blackstone. These sales were agreed 
on 30 March 2017, with the proceeds being received after the year end and further details can be found on page 66. The 
Committee considered and approved the structure of these sales, the assumptions underpinning our cash flow model, the 
benchmark pricing range against which bids were assessed, the qualitative bidder assessment framework and the principal 
transaction documentation. The Committee also carefully considered the value for money of these sales and that customers’ 
interests were properly protected. 

 

Priorities for 2017/18 

During 2017/18 the Transaction Approvals Committee will continue to oversee any strategic transactions as requested by 
the Board, ensuring that customers’ interests are protected and that value is maximised for the taxpayer. 

 
 
 

John Tattersall 

Chairman, Transaction Approvals Committee 
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Risk Committee Chairman's report 

Keith Morgan, Chairman of the Risk Committee, reports on how the Risk Committee discharged its 
responsibilities during 2016/17. 

 
"During 2016/17 the Risk Committee continued to support the Board in ensuring that key risks are 
managed and monitored within the approved risk appetite. In conjunction with the Audit Committee, 
we ensure that an appropriate risk culture and systems of internal control to mitigate those key risks 
are maintained. Areas of focus this year have been to monitor the strategic change activity, including 
asset sales and embedding the oversight and monitoring of outsourced mortgage servicing, to 
consider political, market and regulatory change including the impact of the UK’s decision to leave the 
EU, to review the credit concentration risk of the mortgage book and to ensure that conduct risk is 

embedded in everything we do." 
 

Membership 

The Risk Committee was in place throughout 2016/17 and had the following membership on 31 March 2017: 
 

Keith Morgan (appointed Chairman 6 June 2016) 
Kent Atkinson (resigned 5 June 2016) 
Michael Buckley 
Brendan McDonagh (appointed 6 June 2016) 

John Tattersall (resigned 5 June 2016) 
 

Details of the skills and experience of Committee members can be found in the Directors' biographies on pages 21 to 23. 
 

Summary of responsibilities 

The main role of the Risk Committee is to advise the Board on the principal risks inherent in the business, risk governance 
and the effectiveness of the systems of control necessary to manage such risks and to present its findings to the Board. 
This responsibility requires the Risk Committee to: 

 
▪ keep under review the adequacy of the Group’s risk management frameworks and systems of internal control, which 

include financial, operational and compliance risk management controls; and 

▪ foster a culture that emphasises and demonstrates the benefits of a risk-based approach to internal control and 
management of the Group. 

 

Meetings 

The Committee held five meetings during the year, one more than required under its Terms of Reference. The attendance 
of individual members at meetings is set out on page 26. 

 
The Committee also invites the following to attend its regular meetings: 

 

▪ members of the ExCo, including the CEO, Finance Director and Risk Director; 

▪ Head of Compliance1; 

▪ Head of Internal Audit and the external auditors; 

▪ Company Secretary or his nominee; and 

▪ representatives from other business functions from time to time. 
 

The Head of Compliance (up until 6 June 2016) and the Risk Director each held separate private sessions with the 
Committee which provided an opportunity for any issues to be raised without any members of the Executive present. 

 
Following 6 June 2016, the Risk Director held a separate private session with the Committee in his position as the Controlled 
Function for Compliance. 

 

Reporting to the Board 

The Committee Chairman reported to the Board after each Committee meeting, summarising the key matters discussed, 
and the Board has also received the minutes of each meeting. 

 

Governance 

The Committee completed an annual review of its Terms of Reference and undertook an evaluation process in accordance 
with the requirements of those Terms of Reference. The results of the evaluation were positive and provided assurance that 
the Committee remained fit for purpose. 

 
1 noting that the Risk Director assumed the role of Head of Compliance from 6 June 2016. 
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Risk Committee Chairman's report (continued) 

Chairman's overview of 2016/17 

The work of the Committee during 2016/17 has included the review of the principal risks each quarter, based on 
comprehensive reports from the Risk Director and Head of Compliance. The principal risks are: 

 

▪ Conduct Risk; 

▪ Regulatory Risk; 

▪ Operational Risk; 

▪ Credit Risk; 

▪ Strategic Risk; 

▪ Outsourcing Risk 

▪ Liquidity Risk; and 

▪ Market Risk. 
 

In addition the Committee considered a variety of topics throughout the year, including: 
 

▪ overseeing the conduct risk approach; 

▪ monitoring the reducing business and the potential for increased operational risks; 

▪ the risks involved in the sale of various parts of the loan book; 

▪ the risks arising from the monitoring and oversight of outsourced mortgage servicing; 

▪ considering the risk of management overstretch as a result of the significant amount of strategic change facing the 
business, and continuing to monitor the steps taken to ensure that UKAR’s ability to deliver business as usual was not 
compromised; 

▪ considering the impact of emerging risks such as the result of the United Kingdom’s European Union Membership 
Referendum; 

▪ considering cyber risk exposure, trends and control measures; 

▪ maintaining an overview of the key industry, legal and regulatory change issues; 

▪ monitoring progress on control improvements to address historical legacy issues; and 

▪ overseeing and monitoring the progress of other significant major change activity, including that undertaken by third 
party service providers. 

 

Risk Committee activities in 2016/17 

The Risk Committee fulfilled its remit through: 
 

▪ oversight of the embedding of a supportive culture in relation to the management of risk; 

▪ making appropriate recommendations to the Board on all significant matters relating to the Group’s risk appetite, 
strategy and policies; 

▪ monitoring the overall risk appetite within the Group and risk management performance, taking into account the 
current and prospective macroeconomic and financial environment, drawing on financial stability assessments such 
as those published by the Bank of England, FCA and other relevant authoritative sources; 

▪ assisting the Board in discharging its responsibilities for the setting of risk policies; 

▪ periodically reviewing the Group’s material risk exposures in relation to risk appetite and capital adequacy; 

▪ ensuring public disclosure of information regarding the Group’s risk management policies and key risk exposures is in 
accordance with statutory requirements and financial reporting standards; 

▪ monitoring strategic change activity; 

▪ considering reports from Compliance and Management on the system of internal control; and 

▪ overseeing UKAR's insurance programme and claims recoveries. 
 

Further information on the role of the Risk Committee and its oversight of the risk management process is provided on page 
69 and 70. 
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Risk Committee Chairman's report (continued) 

Priorities for 2017/18 

Against a continuing backdrop of external economic challenges for UKAR customers and internal challenges associated with 
a business in run-off, a number of principal risks remain inherent, including strategic, conduct, outsourcing, regulatory, 
operational and credit risk. These risks will continue to be monitored to ensure they remain within the Board approved risk 
appetite. Our approach to risk means that regular monitoring and reporting of all risks will be visible at the relevant 
committees, ensuring that risk management supports the business in the next phase of the business strategy. 

 

▪ Conduct risk - ensuring fair and appropriate customer outcomes and meeting regulatory expectations are at the 
heart of the business.   We will continue to work in partnership with our mortgage servicing providers to ensure fair 
and appropriate customer outcomes throughout the end to end mortgage servicing process. 

▪ Regulatory risk - management oversight and control is key to ensuring compliance with the FCA’s principles, rules 

and guidance. Our approach is focused on eliminating regulatory risk through a zero risk appetite. 

▪ Outsourcing risk – following the outsourcing of mortgage servicing and related activities to Computershare, the 
Group has established an approach to the monitoring and oversight of its third party service providers commensurate 
with the nature, scale and complexity of the outsource. Our continued focus will be to ensure that appropriate 
customer outcomes and service are maintained in line with Board appetite and Regulatory and Legal requirements. 

▪ Operational risk - much of the focus of operational risk now relates to the oversight of change activities, the internal 
control aspects of the management of the outsourced service relationship and the people risk arising from the 
uncertainty of the unique nature of our business. Regulators and our business peers continue to express significant 
concern about the prevalence and impact of cyber security threats and the recommendations of the recently 
published National Cyber Security Strategy will be a key focus in 2017/18. We will continue to monitor significant 
cyber security risks and reported breaches to assess the effectiveness of implemented controls to mitigate such risks. 
Developments in Anti Money Laundering Regulation and ensuring UKAR’s resilience through effective Business 
Continuity and Disaster Recovery will also be a focus. 

▪ Credit risk - given UKAR's customer profile, work continues to understand our customers’ current financial position 
and in particular quantify the impact of interest rate rises and the fiscal changes affecting buy-to-let customers. Our 
focus is on the various cohorts of customers who might be most impacted, for example, those in retirement, and 
ensuring that customers with interest only mortgage balances are able to repay their loans at the end of their term. 

▪ Strategic risk - the key strategic risks include those relating to the management of a mortgage book and organisation 
in wind down. The Committee will also continue to monitor historical remediation, the wider economic and political 
environment and regulatory changes. 

 
 

UKAR principal risks are described in detail on pages 16 to 17 and 71 to 73. 

 
 
 

Keith Morgan 

Chairman, Risk Committee 
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Key performance indicators ('KPIs') 

UKAR 

During the year we have made significant progress against all our key objectives and overall mission of achieving value for 
the taxpayer. Internally, UKAR measures its financial performance against the following four key performance indicators: 

 

Financial measure 2016/17 Target March 2017 March 2016 

Underlying Profit Before Tax >= £622.0m £706.0m £1,055.4m 

Net Government Loan Repayments >= £2.7bn £3.3bn £6.3bn 

3m+ Residential Arrears <= 5,199 4,617 6,377 

Ongoing Administrative Expenses 1 <= £167.2m £161.8m £175.0m 

1   Excluding UKARcs (2016/17: £5.7m; 2015/16: £5.4m). 

 
Targets are not set at a subsidiary level, however, KPIs for B&B and NRAM in 2016/17 and 2015/16 were as follows: 

 

B&B 
 

Financial measure March 2017 March 2016 

Underlying Profit Before Tax £374.4m £436.3m 

Net Government Loan Repayments £0.4bn £0.1bn 

3m+ Residential Arrears 2,085 2,803 

Ongoing Administrative Expenses £124.3m £106.7m 

 

NRAM 

  

Financial measure March 2017 March 2016 

Underlying Profit Before Tax £331.4m £618.9m 

Net Government Loan Repayments £2.9bn £6.2bn 

3m+ Residential Arrears 2,532 3,574 

Ongoing Administrative Expenses 2 £38.3m £77.6m 

2 NRAM ongoing administration expenses include £0.8m charged by B&B for servicing loans on behalf of NRAM that were sold to 
Cerberus. This cost is excluded from the UKAR consolidated administration expenses, as is the corresponding income in B&B. 

 

Statutory Profit / (Loss) before Tax 

Statutory profit is an important financial measure, however, for target purposes the Board continue to believe it is appropriate 
to assess performance based on the underlying profits of the business. An analysis of the difference between statutory and 
underlying profit is provided on page 59. 

 

Statutory Profit / (Loss) Before Tax March 2017 March 2016 

UKAR £346.9m £1,175.8m 

B&B (£27.2m) £332.6m 

NRAM £373.9m £843.0m 
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Additional key performance indicators 

During the year we have made significant progress against all our key objectives and overall mission of achieving value for 
the taxpayer. Internally, UKAR measures its financial performance against four key performance indicators. The below table 
shows progress versus these targets as well as supporting financial measures. 

 
 

2016/17 Target March 2017 March 2016 

Underlying Profit Before Tax >= £622.0m £706.0m £1,055.4m 

- Statutory Profit Before Tax 1 
 

£346.9m £1,175.8m 
 

- Net Interest Margin on Average 
Interest Earning Assets 

2.12 2.10 

1 An analysis of the difference between statutory and underlying profit is provided on page 59. 
 

 
 

Net Government Loan Repayments >= £2.7bn £3.3bn £6.3bn 

- Government Loan Balance 

 
- Total Lending Balances 2 

 
£25.0bn 

 
£19.5bn 

£28.3bn 

 
£35.5bn 

2 The £11.4bn proceeds from the assets sold were held as a debtor at 31 March 2017 and were used to repay the government 
loans, after the financial year end, in April 2017. 

 
 

3m+ Residential Arrears <= 5,199 4,617 6,377 

- Residential Arrears Balance as a percentage of 
0.20 0.14

 

the Total Residential Mortgage Balance (%)   

- Residential Payments Overdue £37.7m £49.3m 

- Residential Arrears 3 months   

and over and possessions as a   

percentage of the book:   

- By value 3.67 2.69 
- By number of accounts 2.92 2.14 

 

 

Ongoing Administrative Expenses 3 <= £167.2m £161.8m £175.0m 

- Ratio of   costs to average 
interest earning assets (%): 
- Statutory 

  

 
0.45 

 

 
0.48 

- Ongoing  0.45 0.33 

3 Excluding UKARcs (2016/17: £5.7m; 2015/16: £5.4m).    
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Financial review 

These financial results are for the year to 31 March 2017. 

Performance 

The Board continue to believe it is appropriate to assess performance based on the underlying profits of the business, which 
excludes the remediation of inherited regulatory defects and any associated insurance claims and certain gains or losses 
such as the sale of assets or repurchase of liabilities at a discount or premium. Whilst these gains or losses permanently 
impact capital reserves, the Board does not believe that they reflect the performance of the underlying business. Also 
excluded are movements in fair value and hedge ineffectiveness relating to financial instruments. These movements will 
have no material impact over the life of the associated financial instruments. The commentary on the results in this 
statement uses underlying profits and its components as the primary measure of performance. An analysis of the difference 
between the statutory profit and the underlying profit of UKAR is provided below. 

 

Underlying profit for the year to March 2017 has decreased by £349.4m to £706.0m (March 2016: £1,055.4m).   The 
reduction in underlying profit reflects reduced net interest income due to the shrinking Balance Sheet. 

 
For the year to March 2017 underlying net operating income has decreased by £351.5m  to £799.5m (March 2016: 
£1,151.0m) due to lower income from the reducing Balance Sheet, partly offset by lower funding costs.   For the year to 
March 2017 ongoing administrative expenses, excluding £5.7m UKARcs costs, were £13.2m lower than the previous year at 
£161.8m (March 2016: £175.0m, excluding £5.4m UKARcs costs). Impairment on loans to customers for the year to March 
2017 was a credit of £67.9m, a reduction of £9.7m from the prior year (March 2016: £77.6m credit). Net impairment on 
investment securities was a £6.1m credit for the year (March 2016: £7.2m credit). The number of mortgage accounts 3 or 
more months in arrears including possessions reduced by 28% compared to March 2016, or by 23% when excluding the 
impact of asset sales. 

 

For the year to March 2017 statutory profit before tax of £346.9m (March 2016: £1,175.8m) includes a £332.4m net loss on 
the sale of assets and an additional £64.4m provision for customer redress, partly offset by £50.0m received from an 
insurance claim. 

 

Reconciliation of underlying profit before taxation to statutory profit / (loss) before taxation 
 

 
 

For the year ended 31 March 

 
 

2017 
 

£m 

UKAR 
 

2016 
 

£m 

 
 

2017 
 

£m 

B&B 
 

2016 
 

£m 

 
 

2017 
 

£m 

NRAM 
 

2016 
 

£m 

Net interest income 

Underlying net non-interest income 1,2
 

769.2 

30.3 

1,109.6 

41.4 

447.7 

28.1 

490.2 

34.0 

321.5 

(2.9) 

619.4 

11.1 

Underlying net operating income 799.5 1,151.0 475.8 524.2 318.6 630.5 

Ongoing administrative expenses 1 (167.5) (180.4) (124.3) (106.7) (38.3) (77.6) 

Impairment on loans to customers 67.9 77.6 18.2 16.7 49.7 60.9 

Net impairment on investment securities 6.1 7.2 4.7 2.1 1.4 5.1 

Underlying profit before taxation 706.0 1,055.4 374.4 436.3 331.4 618.9 

Unrealised fair value movements on financial (4.3) (2.3) (5.9) (2.5) 1.6 0.2 
instruments       

Hedge ineffectiveness (8.0) (28.6) (8.0) (6.7) - (21.9) 

Other net administrative expenses - (73.4) - (73.4) - - 

Provision for customer redress (64.4) 180.1 (4.3) (18.7) (60.1) 198.8 

Insurance claim 50.0 - - - 50.0 - 

(Loss) / profit on sale of loans (332.4) 62.8 (383.4) - 51.0 62.8 

Loss on repurchase of own liabilities - (18.2) - (2.4) - (15.8) 

Statutory profit / (loss) before taxation 346.9 1,175.8 (27.2) 332.6 373.9 843.0 

 
1 UKAR underlying net non-interest income includes £5.9m (March 2016: £5.6m) and ongoing administrative expenses include £5.7m 

(March 2016: £5.4m) in relation to UKARcs and UKAR Limited. UKARcs is operated on an after tax nil-gain nil-loss basis.   NRAM 
ongoing administration expenses include £0.8m (March 2016: £9.3m) charged by B&B for servicing loans on behalf of NRAM that were 
sold to Cerberus. This cost is excluded from the UKAR consolidated administration expenses, as is the corresponding income in B&B. 

2 Underlying net non-interest income includes net fee and commission income, net realised gains less losses on investment securities and 
other operating income. 
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Financial review (continued) 

Net interest income 

 

 
For the year ended 31 March 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 At the time of the nationalisation of B&B, HM Treasury provided a guarantee with regard to certain wholesale borrowings and derivative 

transactions existing at that time. The amount of this fee is dependent on balances outstanding and hence it is included within 'interest 
expense and similar charges’. The cost of interest-bearing funding is shown excluding this state guarantee fee. 

2 Interest-free funding is calculated as an average over the financial year and includes the Statutory Debt and share capital and reserves. 

 
Net interest income for the year to March 2017 was £769.2m (March 2016: £1,109.6m). Across both books there was a 
reduction in income due to the decrease in average interest-earning assets over the year. At a UKAR level the underlying 
net interest margin for the year to March 2017 has increased to 2.12% from 2.10% in the year to March 2016. The interest 
spread on interest earning assets fell from 1.36% to 0.47% due to both the changing funding mix and the full year impact of 
the sale of c.£13bn of NRAM mortgages in November 2015. The lower yielding B&B book now forms a greater proportion of 
the UKAR Balance Sheet. This was offset by the beneficial impact of an increased proportion of interest free funding. 

 

On the B&B book the underlying net interest margin increased 0.08% to 1.73%, primarily due to an increase in the 
proportion of interest-free funding. This was partly offset by the drawdown of £3.0bn made against the WCF in September 
2016 to finance the repayment of the remaining Aire Valley securitisation liabilities, which has increased the average rate of 
interest-bearing funding in the short term. The WCF interest rate of Bank Base Rate + 5.00% is in excess of the average 
yield on interest earning assets of 2.25%. 

 
In NRAM, the net interest margin increased to 3.06% from 2.68% driven by an increase in the proportion of interest-free 
funding due to the repayment of interest bearing funding following asset sales in 2015/16. 

UKAR B&B NRAM 

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 

Interest receivable and similar income       

On secured loans 945.5 1,495.0 571.2 671.0 374.3 824.0 

On other lending 21.6 44.6 - - 21.6 44.6 

On investment securities and deposits 26.8 33.1 10.9 15.7 16.1 18.2 

Interest receivable and similar income 993.9 1,572.7 582.1 686.7 412.0 886.8 

Interest expense and similar charges       

On amounts due to banks and HM 
Treasury 

(201.3) (310.3) (123.9) (126.7) (77.4) (183.6) 

State guarantee fee 1 (2.6) (28.0) (2.6) (28.0) - - 

On debt securities and other (20.8) (124.8) (7.9) (41.8) (13.1) (83.8) 

Interest expense and similar charges (224.7) (463.1) (134.4) (196.5) (90.5) (267.4) 
       

Net interest income 769.2 1,109.6 447.7 490.2 321.5 619.4 

Average balances 
      

Interest-earning assets ('IEA') 36,344 52,850 25,825 29,745 10,519 23,105 

Financed by:       

- Interest-bearing funding 9,936 26,886 3,997 7,991 5,939 18,895 

- Interest-free funding 2 26,408 25,964 21,828 21,754 4,580 4,210 

Average rates % % % % % % % 

Gross yield on IEA 2.73 2.98 2.25 2.31 3.92 3.84 

Cost of interest-bearing funding 1 (2.26) (1.62) (3.30) (2.11) (1.52) (1.42) 

Interest spread 0.47 1.36 (1.05) 0.20 2.40 2.42 

State guarantee fee 1 (0.01) (0.05) (0.01) (0.09) - - 

Contribution of interest-free funding 2 1.66 0.79 2.79 1.54 0.66 0.26 

Net interest margin on average IEA 2.12 2.10 1.73 1.65 3.06 2.68 

Annual average Bank Base Rate 0.34 0.50 0.34 0.50 0.34 0.50 

Annual average 1-month LIBOR 0.34 0.51 0.34 0.51 0.34 0.51 

Annual average 3-month LIBOR 0.44 0.58 0.44 0.58 0.44 0.58 
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Financial review (continued) 

Underlying net non-interest income 

Underlying net non-interest income decreased by £11.1m to £30.3m in the year to March 2017 (March 2016: £41.4m).   In 
the current year other operating income includes interim servicing fees of £0.8m (March 2016: £9.3m) from the provision of 
mortgage services on assets sold. 

 

Other operating income includes £5.9m for UKARcs (March 2016: £5.6m), which reflects the reimbursement by HM 
Treasury of the costs associated with administering the Help to Buy: mortgage guarantee and Help to Buy: ISA schemes. 

 

Net non-interest income 

 
 

For the year ended 31 March 

 
 

income 

 
investment securities 

 
 
 
 

financial instruments 

 
 
 

1 B&B other operating income includes £0.8m (March 2016: £9.3m) charged by B&B to NRAM for servicing loans sold to Cerberus. This 
income is excluded from the UKAR consolidated other operating income, as is the corresponding expense in NRAM. 

 

Accounting volatility on derivative financial instruments 

B&B and NRAM use derivative financial instruments for economic hedging purposes, although the number of these are 
reducing as associated assets and liabilities redeem or are repaid. Most of these are designated and accounted for as IAS 
39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement' compliant fair value or cash flow hedge relationships. Where 
effective hedge relationships can be established, the movement in the fair value of the derivative is offset in full or in part 
either by opposite movements in the fair value of the instrument being hedged or by being taken to reserves. 

 

The Income Statement charge for hedge ineffectiveness was £8.0m in the year (March 2016: £28.6m). 
 

Unrealised fair value movements were a £4.3m loss in the year (March 2016: £2.3m loss). These generally relate to 
derivatives that act as an economic hedge but were not treated as an accounting hedge under IAS 39. 

 

Provision for customer redress 

UKAR defines conduct risk as the risk of UKAR treating its customers unfairly and delivering inappropriate outcomes leading 
to customer detriment or impacting market integrity. Since the creation of UKAR we have been remediating a series of 
conduct issues inherited from the legacy businesses, including the mis-selling of PPI by Northern Rock and the issue of non- 
compliant CCA loan documentation to certain customers. 

 

UKAR remain committed to doing the right thing for our customers and where we identify issues that have caused customer 
detriment, we will ensure that they are fully remediated. 

 
An additional provision of £49.2m has been recognised following the publication of the FCA’s Policy Statement PS17/3 
“Payment protection insurance complaints: feedback on CP16/10 and final rules and guidance”, which sets a deadline date 
for complaints at 29 August 2019 and confirms the approach in relation to Plevin. The rules and guidance include an FCA- 
led communications campaign to raise awareness of the deadline and the requirement to proactively contact previously 
rejected mis-selling complainants who are eligible to complain again in the light of Plevin. Reflecting heightened awareness 
of a potential PPI deadline, actual claims volumes received during the year have been higher than previously modelled, 
which combined with the final proposals is expected to lead to higher claims volumes throughout the period to 29 August 

2019 than previously assumed. 
 

In addition, a charge of £15.2m was made for other smaller legacy remediation issues bringing the total remediation charge 
for the year to £64.4m (March 2016: £180.1m credit). 

UKAR B&B NRAM UKARcs 

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Total net fee and commission 
(0.1)

 
8.2 8.3 11.9 (8.4) (3.7) - - 

Net realised gains less losses on 
18.7

 
15.5 14.4 7.7 4.3 7.8 - - 

Other operating income 1 11.7 17.7 5.4 14.4 1.2 7.0 5.9 5.6 

Underlying net non-interest 

income 30.3 41.4 28.1 34.0 (2.9) 11.1 5.9 5.6 

Unrealised fair value movements on 
(4.3)

 
(2.3) (5.9) (2.5) 1.6 0.2 - - 

Hedge ineffectiveness (8.0) (28.6) (8.0) (6.7) - (21.9) - - 

Statutory net non-interest income 18.0 10.5 14.2 24.8 (1.3) (10.6) 5.9 5.6 
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Financial review (continued) 

Insurance claim 

In December 2012, we announced that errors had been identified in the administration of a segment of CCA regulated loans 
originated by Northern Rock. The remediation programme resulted in a charge of £321.0m. Subsequent to correcting 
customers' accounts, we have been pursuing options to recover costs where possible. During the period a settlement of 
£50.0m has been agreed and received in respect of an insurance claim submitted in 2013. 

 

Administrative expenses 

Costs for the year include £5.7m for UKARcs relating to the provision of administrative support to the government's Help to 
Buy: mortgage guarantee and Help to Buy: ISA schemes (March 2016: £5.4m). These costs were fully reimbursed by HM 
Treasury. 

 
The Group has continued to focus on maximising cost effectiveness and efficiency through continuous improvement. 
Ongoing administrative expenses for the year were £167.5m (March 2016: £180.4m) which, when excluding UKARcs costs, 
is 7.5% lower.   Costs have reduced reflecting the reduction in the size of the mortgage book through natural run-off and 
asset sales, partly offset by the VAT now incurred on outsourced mortgage servicing costs. The increase in outsourced and 
professional services costs reflects the outsourcing of mortgage servicing to Computershare. 

 

Non recurring costs of £73.4m incurred in 2015/16 related to the outsourcing of mortgage servicing to Computershare. 
There were no non-recurring costs in 2016/17. 

 

Administrative expenses 
 

 
 
 

 
Wages and salaries 

 
19.3 

 
59.1 

 
19.3 

 
59.1 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Social security costs 2.2 5.8 2.2 5.8 - - - - 

Defined benefit pension costs (17.3) (7.8) (9.1) (2.9) (8.2) (4.9) - - 

Defined contribution pension costs 1.3 4.1 1.3 4.1 - - - - 

Other retirement benefit costs 0.3 0.4 0.3 0.5 - - - - 

Total staff costs 5.8 61.6 14.0 66.5 (8.2) (4.9) - - 

IT costs 17.4 43.2 18.3 40.9 (1.9) 1.6 1.0 0.7 

Outsourced and professional 
services1

 
117.8 16.8 116.9 12.1 1.1 12.7 0.6 1.2 

Depreciation and amortisation 6.3 22.2 3.9 21.1 - 0.3 2.4 0.8 

Management recharge to 
NRAM / UKARcs 

- - (47.5) (61.1) 46.0 59.7 1.5 1.5 

Other administrative expenses 20.2 36.6 18.7 27.2 1.3 8.2 0.2 1.2 

Total ongoing 167.5 180.4 124.3 106.7 38.3 77.6 5.7 5.4 

Non-recurring - 73.4 - 73.4 - - - - 

Total administrative expenses 167.5 253.8 124.3 180.1 38.3 77.6 5.7 5.4 

 
1 NRAM outsourced and professional services expenses include £0.8m (March 2016: £9.3m) charged by B&B for servicing NRAM loans. 

This cost is excluded from the UKAR consolidated administration expenses as is the corresponding income in B&B. 

UKAR B&B NRAM UKARcs 

For the year ended 31 March 
2017 

£m 

2016 

£m 

2017 

£m 

2016 

£m 

2017 

£m 

2016 

£m 

2017 

£m 

2016 

£m 
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Financial review (continued) 

Arrears and loan impairment: residential and unsecured loans 

Total UKAR loan impairment provisions as at 31 March 2017 were £648.3m (March 2016: £845.0m) comprising residential 
mortgages £561.1m (March 2016: £663.4m), unsecured loans £74.9m (March 2016: £96.2m) and commercial property of 
£12.3m (March 2016: £85.4m). 

 
Arrears and possessions  

   UKAR  

At 31 March  2017 2016  

  Residential Unsecured Residential Unsecured 

Arrears 3 months and over     

Number of cases No. 4,132 3,281 5,870 4,307 

Proportion of total accounts % 2.61 9.32 1.97 10.17 

Asset value £m 621.5 55.6 858.7 69.8 

Proportion of book % 3.29 17.50 2.47 17.81 

Total value of payments overdue £m 28.7 15.8 35.7 17.3 

Proportion of total book % 0.15 4.97 0.11 4.43 

Possessions 
    

Number of cases No. 485 - 507 - 

Proportion of total accounts % 0.31 - 0.17 - 

Asset value £m 70.9 - 76.4 - 

Proportion of book % 0.38 - 0.22 - 

Total value of payments overdue £m 3.3 - 4.4 - 

Proportion of total book % 0.02 - 0.01 - 

New possessions No. 1,242 - 1,853 - 

 

Total arrears 3 months and over and 
possessions 

    

Number of cases No. 4,617 3,281 6,377 4,307 

Proportion of total accounts % 2.92 9.32 2.14 10.17 

Asset value £m 692.4 55.6 935.1 69.8 

Proportion of book % 3.67 17.50 2.69 17.81 

Total value of payments overdue £m 32.0 15.8 40.1 17.3 

Proportion of total book % 0.17 4.97 0.12 4.43 

Payments overdue 
    

Total value of payments overdue £m 37.7 16.8 49.3 17.5 

Proportion of total book % 0.20 5.30 0.14 4.47 

Loan impairment provision 
    

As % of total balances % 2.89 19.06 1.88 19.72 
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Financial review (continued) 

Arrears and possessions (continued) 

 
Arrears 3 months and over  

Number of cases No. 1,765 2,476 2,367 3,281 3,394 4,307 

Proportion of total accounts % 1.93 1.17 3.53 9.32 3.86 10.17 

Asset value £m 242.6 340.2 378.9 55.6 518.5 69.8 

Proportion of book % 2.18 1.38 4.65 17.50 5.15 17.81 

Total value of payments 
overdue 

£m 8.6 10.6 20.0 15.8 25.1 17.3 

Proportion of total book % 0.08 0.04 0.25 4.97 0.25 4.43 

Possessions 
       

Number of cases No. 320 327 165 - 180 - 

Proportion of total accounts % 0.35 0.16 0.25 - 0.20 - 

Asset value £m 42.3 42.6 28.6 - 33.8 - 

Proportion of book % 0.38 0.17 0.35 - 0.34 - 

 

overdue 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
overdue 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Arrears and loan impairment: residential loans 

UKAR adheres to the FCA's regulatory guidance regarding Treating Customers Fairly and continues to work closely with 
customers experiencing, or likely to experience, financial difficulty in maintaining their mortgage payments. UKAR offers a 
range of measures to support these customers depending upon their individual circumstances and ability to pay with the 
long term aim of sustaining their mortgage commitments and remaining in their homes. Possession continues to be a last 
resort. 

B&B NRAM 

At 31 March 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Residential   Residential Residential Unsecured Residential Unsecured 

Total value of payments 
£m

 1.6 1.8 1.8 - 2.6 - 

Proportion of total book % 0.01 0.01 0.02 - 0.03 - 

New possessions No. 791 844 451 - 1,009 - 

Total arrears 3 months and 
over and possessions 

 

Number of cases No. 

 

 
2,085 

 

 
2,803 

 

 
2,532 

 

 
3,281 

 

 
3,574 

 

 
4,307 

Proportion of total accounts % 2.28 1.33 3.78 9.32 4.06 10.17 

Asset value £m 284.9 382.8 407.5 55.6 552.3 69.8 

Proportion of book % 2.56 1.55 5.00 17.50 5.49 17.81 

Total value of payments 
£m

 
10.2 12.4 21.8 15.8 27.7 17.3 

Proportion of total book % 0.09 0.05 0.27 4.97 0.28 4.43 

 

Payments overdue 

      

Total value of payments 
overdue 

 

£m 
 

12.3 
 

15.9 
 

25.3 
 

16.8 
 

33.4 
 

17.5 

Proportion of total book % 0.11 0.06 0.31 5.30 0.33 4.47 

 
Loan impairment provision 

       

As % of total balances % 3.61 1.79 1.91 19.06 2.09 19.72 
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Financial review (continued) 

Arrears and loan impairment: residential loans (continued) 

Strong arrears performance continues. UKAR has seen arrears in both companies fall as a direct consequence of the sale 
of assets and proactive arrears management coupled with the continued low interest rate environment. The total number of 
cases 3 or more months in arrears, including those in possession, reduced by 28% from 6,377 at 31 March 2016 to 4,617 at 
31 March 2017. The reduction was driven by strong underlying performance (1,441) and asset sales (319). The proportion 
of total accounts 3 or more months in arrears has increased from 2.14% at 31 March 2016 to 2.92% at 31 March 2017 
primarily reflecting the good quality of the loans sold. The total value of payments overdue by residential customers has 
reduced from £49.3m at 31 March 2016 to £37.7m at 31 March 2017, equivalent to 0.20% of mortgage balances (March 
2016: 0.14%). 

Provisions for residential loan impairment held on the Balance Sheet have reduced by £102.3m since 31 March 2016 to 
£561.1m (March 2016: £663.4m) reflecting realised losses, the reduction in arrears cases, the benefit of improving house 
prices and the sale of assets. 

 
Included within the above, fraud and professional negligence provisions have decreased by £39.9m since 31 March 2016 to 

£158.0m (March 2016: £197.9m) as a result of write-offs following the sale of properties and the impact of reducing the level 
of provisions across a number of portfolios as valuations benefit from improving house prices. Total UKAR fraud provisions 
represent coverage of 34% of balances of suspected fraud and professional negligence cases (March 2016: 37%). Within 
the B&B book, fraud and professional negligence provisions have reduced since 31 March 2016 by £27.2m to £143.8m 
(March 2016: £171.0m).   In the NRAM book, fraud and professional negligence provisions have reduced by £12.7m to 
£14.2m (March 2016: £26.9m). 

 
As a proportion of balances, the residential impairment provision was 2.89% (March 2016: 1.88%). The residential loan 
impairment credit was £53.3m for the year (March 2016: £88.7m credit). The reduction in the credit reflects slower house 
price growth than seen in the prior year and a lower book size. 

 
The number of properties in possession for UKAR decreased from 507 at 31 March 2016 to 485 at 31 March 2017. Within 
B&B, possession stock decreased from 327 cases at 31 March 2016 to 320 at 31 March 2017. In NRAM possession stock 
reduced to 165 cases from 180 at 31 March 2016. A total of 1,242 properties were taken into possession in the year (March 
2016: 1,853). 

 
In addition to residential property possessions, there are also a number of buy-to-let properties managed by Law of Property 
Act ('LPA') receivers. The LPA 'for sale' stock reduced from 274 cases at 31 March 2016 to 173 at 31 March 2017. 

 
During the year 1,258 cases (March 2016: 2,122) were sold following possession and 6 were included as part of the sale of 
assets. In addition a further 192 cases (March 2016: 266) were sold which were under LPA management. Total realised 
losses on properties sold following possession or sold by an LPA were £64.3m (March 2016: £95.3m), all of which had 
previously been fully provided for. Within these losses £6.6m were fraudulent and professional negligence cases (March 
2016: £8.9m). 

 

Arrears and loan impairment: unsecured loans 

The number of unsecured loans 3 months or more in arrears was 3,281 cases (March 2016: 4,307). The credit for 
unsecured loan impairment for the year was £13.9m, £15.4m favourable compared to the prior year (March 2016: £1.5m 
charge). Asset coverage was 19.06% at 31 March 2017 (March 2016: 19.72%). 

 

The provision for unsecured loans was £74.9m at 31 March 2017 (March 2016: £96.2m). The reduction reflects realised 
losses and the reduction in arrears cases. Realised losses in the year were £6.3m (March 2016: £16.5m) all of which had 
previously been fully provided for. 

 

Arrears and loan impairment: commercial loan book 

The provision for the commercial book has decreased to £12.3m from £85.4m at 31 March 2016, with coverage at 4.56% 
(March 2016: 16.24%) following the disposal of properties held by three borrowers with write-offs totalling £76.3m. We 
continually review the level of provisions against each individual loan based on current and future property valuations, future 
rental income projections, tenant quality and general market conditions. 

 

Net impairment release on investment securities 

UKAR continues to review securities held on our Balance Sheets and believes the risk of further impairment is not 
significant. During the financial year a number of impaired assets have redeemed (in full or in part) causing the reversal of 
impairments previously charged. These have resulted in a net credit to impairment of £6.1m (March 2016: £7.2m). 
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Financial review (continued) 

(Loss) / profit on sale of loans 

B&B agreed to sell two separate asset portfolios comprising performing buy-to-let loans for a total of £11.8bn to Prudential 
and funds managed by Blackstone on 30 March 2017. The sale was the result of a highly competitive process and the price 
achieved reflects the strong fundamentals of the assets and was at the upper end of expectations. However, due to the low 
margin on these loans the sale resulted in an accounting loss of £384.7m. This was the first of a programme of sales 
designed to raise sufficient proceeds for B&B to repay the £15.7bn debt from the FSCS and for the FSCS to repay its 
corresponding loan from Her Majesty’s Treasury by 31 March 2018. During the year B&B also released £1.3m of provisions 
relating to sales in earlier periods, as these were no longer required. 

 

This loss on sale was partly offset by a profit of £51.0m from the sale of NRAM plc to Cerberus on 5 May 2016 as part of the 
structure of the transaction to sell c.£13bn of NRAM loans. Combined with the profit recognised in FY 2015/16 the total 
accounting profit on the transaction was £110.4m. The National Audit Office report into the sale concluded that the complex 
transaction was carried out professionally, within a tight timeframe and achieved value for money for the taxpayer. 

 

Taxation 

The total Income Statement tax charge for the year ended 31 March 2017 was £61.2m (March 2016: £257.6m). Given the 
statutory profit before taxation of £346.9m (March 2016: £1,175.8m), this equates to an effective tax rate of 17.6% (March 
2016: 21.9%). The effective tax rate of 17.6% is lower than the standard weighted average rate of UK corporation tax of 
20.0% due to items which are expected to be non-taxable. 

 
 

Balance Sheet 

Balance Sheet summary 

 

  UKAR   B&B  NRAM  

At 31 March 2017  2016 2017  2016 2017 2016 

 £m  £m £m  £m £m £m 

Loans to customers:       

- residential mortgages 18,887.7 34,700.3 10,730.8 24,634.6 8,156.9 10,065.7 

- commercial loans 257.3 440.5 178.4 325.3 78.9 115.2 

- unsecured lending 317.8 391.8 - - 317.8 391.8 

Amount owed in respect of sale of loans 11,483.9 - 11,483.9 - - - 

Wholesale assets 2,395.1 5,951.1 1,413.6 4,183.6 960.5 1,780.9 

Fair value adjustments on portfolio hedging 454.6 436.6 454.6 436.6 - - 

Derivative financial instruments 1.8 781.4 - 769.9 1.8 11.5 

Other assets 531.9 567.5 295.9 316.9 241.5 249.9 

Total assets 34,330.1 43,269.2 24,557.2 30,666.9 9,757.4 12,615.0 

Statutory Debt and HM Treasury loans 25,031.3 28,353.9 20,437.1 20,888.3 4,594.2 7,465.6 

Wholesale funding 204.2 5,713.1 - 5,496.1 204.2 250.7 

Derivative financial instruments 527.2 527.7 524.7 516.0 2.5 11.7 

Other liabilities 474.8 775.6 192.3 276.4 267.1 478.3 

Other capital instruments - 9.2 - 5.1 - 4.1 

Equity 8,092.6 7,889.7 3,403.1 3,485.0 4,689.4 4,404.6 

Total equity and liabilities 34,330.1 43,269.2 24,557.2 30,666.9 9,757.4 12,615.0 

 
The Balance Sheet has reduced by £9.0bn since March 2016 to £34.3bn (March 2016: £43.3bn). Lending balances have 
reduced by £16.0bn (45.1%) to £19.5bn during the year to March 2017 due to £12.3bn asset sales, £3.3bn of secured 
residential redemptions, £0.2bn of commercial redemptions and £0.2bn of other regular repayments. 

 
The £11.5bn owed in respect of the sale of loans to Prudential and funds managed by Blackstone as at 31 March 2017, 
which includes £0.1bn for cashflows on the portfolio prior to settlement, was settled in April 2017 and used to repay the 
government loans after the financial year end. 

 
As detailed on pages 100 to 101, the acquisition of NRAM plc by NRAM has been accounted for under predecessor 
accounting principles. This resulted in a transfer of £3,787.4m from the UKAR Group’s retained earnings to the merger 
reserve. £697.8m of the merger reserve was released to retained earnings on 5 May 2016 when NRAM sold its shareholding 
in NRAM plc and a further £416.5m has been released during the period as the loans which formed part of the pre-sale 
dividend in specie have been paid down. 
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Financial review (continued) 

Liabilities 

Statutory Debt and HM Treasury loans (excluding accrued interest) have reduced by £3.3bn to £25.0bn (March 2016: 
£28.3bn) due to repayments of principal in the year (NRAM: £2.9bn, B&B: £0.4bn). In addition, other external wholesale 
funding reduced by £5.5bn in the year (2015/16: £17.4bn). 

 
In the period B&B repaid the remaining £2.5bn of Aire Valley securitisation liabilities that it did not already own, financed by a 
£3.0bn increase in the WCF. This achieved the twin objectives of simplifying the Balance Sheet and unencumbering £8.1bn 
of mortgage loans, which facilitated the sale to Prudential and funds managed by Blackstone. All legacy secured funding on 
the B&B and NRAM Balance Sheets has now been repaid. 

 

Cash repayments 

Repayment of the Statutory Debt and HM Treasury loans remains a primary objective of UKAR. In the year a further £3.3bn 
(March 2016: £6.3bn) of HM Treasury debt was repaid. The decrease in the repayments to HM Treasury is primarily due to 
a £3.0bn drawdown to fund the repayment of third party debt. In addition, 2016/17 included £0.5bn of repayments from net 
asset sale proceeds compared to £5.0bn in 2015/16. 

 

Government loan repayments resulting from the sale of assets to Prudential and funds managed by Blackstone were made 
in April 2017 and will be reflected in the 2017/18 Annual Report & Accounts. 

 
 

Capital 

UKAR operates under a MIPRU regulatory status. FCA rules require the regulated companies within the Group to hold 
capital in excess of 1% of total Balance Sheet assets plus any undrawn commitments. The Board believes it appropriate to 
hold a higher level of capital reflecting the increased risk in the business compared to a standard MIPRU firm, however, the 
significant decreases in the size of the Balance Sheets and our unique circumstances mean that both regulated companies 
hold more capital than is required. As at 31 March 2017 capital in B&B plc represented 10.9% (March 2016: 9.4%) of B&B 
Company assets and NRAM capital represented 45.8% of NRAM Company assets. 

 
The Group's capital is provided by its shareholder (currently HM Treasury). 

 

The regulated Group companies met their capital requirements in full throughout the period and have received no additional 
capital from HM Treasury. 

 
Capital resources - B&B plc (company only)  

 2017 2016 

At 31 March £m £m 

 
Share capital and reserves 

 
3,074.1 

 
3,194.2 

Available-for-sale reserve adjustments (12.8) (20.1) 

Cash flow hedge reserve adjustments 0.8 11.2 

Net pension adjustment (257.3) (253.1) 

Less: deductions 1 (175.0) (206.4) 

Total capital 2,629.8 2,725.8 

1 The deduction from B&B plc capital resources comprises £175.0m for the company’s investment in Mortgage Express (March 2016: 
£175.0m) and £0.0m for intangible assets (March 2016: £31.4m). 

 

B&B plc total capital resources of £2,629.8m are £96.0m lower than at 31 March 2016, mainly due to the loss generated in 
the year. 
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Financial review (continued)  

Capital (continued) 

Capital resources - NRAM Limited (company only) 

 2017 

At 31 March £m 

 
Share capital and reserves 

 
4,689.1 

Net pension adjustment (222.1) 

Total capital 4,467.0 

 

At 31 March 2016 NRAM Limited capital comprised one issued share of 25p. 
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Risk management and control 

Introduction 

In accordance with the requirements of the Framework Document which is referred to on page 20, the Group's approach to 
risk management is built on formal governance processes and relies on individual responsibility and collective oversight, 
informed by comprehensive reporting. 

 
The following sections describe the Group's current approach to risk management including the risk governance structure 
and principal risk categories, which also reflect the outsourcing of operations to Computershare. Other than the risks 
described here, there may be other factors, hitherto not identified, which could also affect the Group's results. To take into 
account new and / or emerging risks, the Board regularly reviews whether there are any such factors that may be a threat to 
our approach to risk management. Therefore, the categories of risk described below should not be considered to represent 
all of the potential risks and uncertainties which could impact the Group's performance. 

 
 

Risk governance 

The responsibility for the strategy and approach to risk governance and management lies with the Board. The Board is 
responsible for determining risk strategy, setting risk appetite and reviewing the effectiveness of risk and control processes 
in support of the Group’s strategy. The Board is also responsible for establishing a clearly defined risk management 
structure with distinct roles and responsibilities. Under that structure, Internal Audit provides ‘third line of defence’ challenge 
and review of the management of risks and the adequacy and effectiveness of controls within the business. Management 
committees and the Risk Function provide ‘second line of defence’ oversight, challenge and review. Line managers have 
‘first line of defence’ responsibility for the identification, measurement and management of the risks within their business 
areas. 

 

The management of the risk framework, including oversight and challenge to the business on the effectiveness of its risk 
management activity and reporting of strategic, operational, conduct, regulatory and financial risk, is performed by specialist 
teams in the Risk Function. Second line of defence monitoring of the EWRMF is also performed by the Risk Function. 

 

Management committees 

The management committees, under the authority delegated by the Board are described below: 
 

Executive Committee (‘ExCo’) 

ExCo is an advisory committee which supports the CEO in managing the business to achieve its strategic objectives. ExCo 
will normally meet three times each month with a specific focus to each meeting of either a) Customers and Conduct, b) 
Change, or c) Board reporting. As at 31 March 2017, the Executive Risk Committee is the only sub-committee of ExCo. 

 

Executive Risk Committee (‘ERC’) 

The ERC is a management sub-committee of ExCo with a reporting line to the Risk Committee ('RC'). The primary objective 
of the ERC is to provide technical oversight of key financial and operational risks and governance issues, including the 
review of the adequacy of risk mitigating actions, costs and capital effectiveness. The Committee supports, advises and 
makes recommendations to ExCo and the RC. 

 

The following were sub-committees of the ERC at 31 March 2017: 
 

▪ Liquidity Management Committee (‘LMC’); 

▪ Credit Risk Committee ('CRC'). 
 

Liquidity Management Committee 

The primary objective of LMC is to support and advise the ERC on managing liquidity risk.   It does this by recommending 
risk appetite levels and analysing and reporting on issues which could affect the Group’s liquidity. 

 

Credit Risk Committee 

The CRC's primary purpose is to review credit policies, procedures and credit related proposals that have a financial impact 
on the business and to ensure the proposals balance the risk and reward ratio in line with the credit risk appetite set by the 
Board. 

Pages 69 to 73 form an integral part 
of the audited Financial Statements 



Directors’ Report and Governance Statement Annual Report & Accounts 2017 

70 

 

 

 

Risk management and control (continued) 

Risk management oversight 

The Risk Function provides oversight and independent challenge to the management of risk across the Group, including that 
relating to the oversight of third party service providers. The Function comprises a team of risk management specialists with 
responsibility for the embedding and oversight of operational, conduct, financial and strategic risk management, plus 
analysis and reporting of risk matters to the Board and the Board advisory and management committees. Key functional 
responsibilities include: 

 
▪ development of the EWRMF and policies for the identification, assessment and mitigation of financial, strategic and 

operational risks; 

▪ provision of support to the Group business line management in the implementation of the EWRMF; 

▪ aggregate analyses and review of risk concentrations and sensitivities across the Principal Subsidiaries; 

▪ acting as a point of reference for risk and control matters, providing advice to management, sharing best practice and 
carrying out special reviews as directed by the Board, RC, ExCo and sub-committees of ExCo; and 

▪ assessment and challenge of business areas’ control framework and subsequent risk exposure to ensure this is 
within the organisation’s risk appetite. 

 
 

Compliance 

Compliance is provided through an in-house compliance team, supported by an external co-source arrangement, which 
operates in accordance with a RC approved annual compliance plan. The Risk Director is approved by the RC and the FCA 
to undertake this control function. 

 
The role of Compliance is to: 

 
▪ provide assurance to ExCo and the Board (through the RC) that control processes are in operation to manage all 

regulatory and conduct risks across the Group; 

▪ contribute to the continuous improvement of regulatory compliance through provision of advice to the Group; 

▪ support Executive management regarding conduct of the business in line with FCA principles and emerging conduct 
issues; and 

▪ oversee and co-ordinate liaison with the FCA on a day to day basis to promote open and co-operative relationships. 

 

Internal Audit 

Internal Audit activities are outsourced and are provided by Deloitte LLP. Deloitte services include the provision of a 
seconded Head of Internal Audit. This person is approved for the position by the FCA and the Audit Committee. However, 
the oversight of the Internal Audit function remains with the Group.   The Head of Internal Audit reports to the Chairman of 
the Audit Committee and to the CEO. 

 
The primary role of Internal Audit is to help the Board and Executive management to protect the assets, reputation and 
sustainability of the Group. The main objective of the Internal Audit department is to provide reliable, valued and timely 
assessment to the Board, Audit Committee and Executive management on the effectiveness of the system of internal 
controls in mitigating current and evolving key risks and in so doing, assist the organisation in enhancing the effectiveness of 
its approach to risk management. 

 

Business and support activities of the Group are included in the scope of Internal Audit’s responsibility and are subject to 
regular and appropriate internal audit review in accordance with Internal Audit’s risk based Audit Plan. 

 
Additional detail is contained in the Audit Committee Chairman's Report on page 45. 

 
 

Controls effectiveness 

The role of Accounting Officer, as detailed on page 78, was held by our CEO, Ian Hares at the year end. The Accounting 
Officer has responsibility for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal controls. He has 
confirmed that there were no significant control issues in the year under review. 

 
In addition, in line with the recommendations set out by the Macpherson Report, the Accounting Officer has confirmed that 
an appropriate QA framework is in place and used for all business critical models. A list of business critical models is 
maintained and the annual review by the Accounting Officer has confirmed that there were no significant control issues 
associated with these models during the financial year. 

Pages 69 to 73 form an integral part 
of the audited Financial Statements 
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Risk management and control (continued) 

Risk categorisation 

During the year the Group categorised risk under the following headings: 
 

(i) Conduct risk 

Conduct risk is defined as the 'risk of UKAR treating its customers unfairly and delivering inappropriate outcomes leading to 
customer detriment or impacting market integrity'. 

 
This risk category is governed by a Conduct Risk Framework (‘CRF’) which forms part of UKAR's existing EWRMF. 
Through the EWRMF the approach to conduct risk is led by the Board and Senior Management. It ensures a joined-up and 
consistent approach to the management of conduct risk and is integrated into business strategy, management and decision 
making. 

 
The CRF sets out the approach to the effective assessment, management and monitoring of conduct risk in accordance with 
our stated conduct risk appetite. UKAR has a zero risk appetite for systemic conduct risk that could lead to unfair customer 
outcomes or pose a risk to market integrity, including through those services provided by a third party. Conduct risk is an 
integral part of the way UKAR does business, specifically, the interests of customers and market integrity are at the heart of 
UKAR's strategy, business and culture. With clear and visible leadership from the Board everyone takes responsibility for 
good conduct throughout our business model with established controls to deliver fair and appropriate outcomes to our 
customers. Our market conduct ensures that UKAR has no impact on market integrity. Annual conduct risk training is 
included in the colleague mandatory training programme. 

 

(ii) Outsourcing risk 

 
Outsourcing risk is defined as the risk of loss/disruption arising from inadequate or ineffective appointment, supervision and 
control or any subsequent contractual termination of third party service providers. 

 

The Group adopts a proportional and risk based approach to the oversight of third party service providers based on the 
nature, scale and complexity of the outsource and deploys a range of policy, governance, reporting, monitoring and 
assurance activities. 

 

(iii) Operational risk 

Operational risk is defined as 'the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, or 
from external events'. 

 
The Operational Risk Framework consists of an appropriate suite of policies, standards and procedures to enable effective 
identification, assessment, monitoring and reporting of key operational risks.   The Framework is overseen and reported on 
by the operational risk function. The key elements of the Framework include Risk & Control Self Assessment, Operational 
Risk Event reporting, Key Risk Indicators, the assessment and analysis of Operational Risk related financial impacts and 
scenario analysis. In addition, specialist teams supplement the Framework through the provision of expertise in relation to 
Financial Crime, Cyber Risk, Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery. 

 

(iv) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the potential for financial loss caused by a retail or commercial customer, or wholesale counterparty, failing to 
meet their obligations to the Principal Subsidiaries as they become due. As the Principal Subsidiaries are no longer making 
any new retail loans, the absolute level of retail credit risk is expected to decline as the current assets mature and wholesale 
credit risk will decline in line with the maturity profile of financial instruments and investments. Credit risk is the largest risk 
the Principal Subsidiaries face and the monitoring of the recoverability of loans and amounts due from counterparties is 
inherent across most of the Principal Subsidiaries' activities. 

 
The Principal Subsidiaries employ credit behavioural scoring and fraud detection techniques through their outsourcing 
partners to support loss minimising strategies. As no new lending is now being undertaken, the focus of credit risk activities 
is on: 

 
▪ a proactive approach to the identification and control of loan impairment in the residential and commercial credit risk 

and credit control areas; 

▪ fraud and professional negligence investigation; and 

▪ the use of credit behavioural scoring and other techniques to monitor the risk profile of the existing book. 
 

Adverse changes in the credit quality of borrowers or a general deterioration in UK economic conditions could affect the 
recoverability and value of the Principal Subsidiaries’ assets and therefore the financial performance of each subsidiary. 

Pages 69 to 73 form an integral part 
of the audited Financial Statements 
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Risk management and control (continued) 

Risk categorisation (continued) 

(iv) Credit risk (continued) 

As credit risk is the main source of risk for the Principal Subsidiaries, a Credit Risk Framework has been established as part 
of the overall governance framework to measure, mitigate and manage credit risk within risk appetite. To a lesser degree, 
the Group is exposed to other forms of credit risk such as those arising from settlement activities where the risk is a 
consequence of a transaction, rather than a driver of it. 

 

The impact of credit risk on the Group’s Balance Sheet is shown by the following table of provisions for mark-downs on 
impaired assets: 

 

 Balance 
Sheet 
value 

 
Provision 

Balance 
Sheet 
value 

 
Provision 

 
At 31 March 

2017 

£m 

2017 

£m 

2016 

£m 

2016 

£m 

Loans secured on residential property 18,888 561 34,700 663 

Other secured loans 257 12 441 85 

Unsecured loans 318 75 392 96 

Wholesale assets 2,395 215 5,951 330 

 

The Principal Subsidiaries' ability to influence the structure of their credit risk profiles, in the absence of asset sales, is 
largely restricted to the degree of control which they have over risk strategy, loan redemptions and credit collections activity. 
With the composition of the loan portfolio largely fixed in the short to medium term, the Principal Subsidiaries' credit risk 
profiles are now determined by the credit quality of the existing portfolio. Changes in credit quality will arise from changes in 
the underlying economic environment, assumptions about the future trends in the economy, changes in the specific 
characteristics of individual loans and the credit risk strategies developed to maintain and enhance the book whilst mitigating 
credit risk. 

 
It is Group policy to monitor the profile of the Principal Subsidiaries' lending exposure quarterly. Changes in the risk profile 
are reported as part of the subsidiaries' stress tests. The stress tests forecast losses, impairment and capital requirements 
at a portfolio and product level over a 10 year horizon given a range of economic scenarios. 

 
The Board receives a monthly update on changes in the key drivers of the lending credit risk profile, with more detailed 
information on the factors underlying these key drivers being reported monthly to the ERC. 

 
Credit related policies and limits are developed and maintained within Credit Risk and are reviewed and approved annually 
by the Board, or when significant changes to policies are recommended. The ERC ensures that any exposure to credit risk 
remains within overall risk appetite levels as agreed by the Board. 

 

Authorised credit risk limits for wholesale counterparties reflect their credit rating as well as size, depth and quality of their 
capital base. Wholesale credit related policies and limits are developed and maintained by our Treasury department and 
overseen by the Risk Function and are approved by the Board at least annually, or when material changes to policies are 
recommended. 

 
The Principal Subsidiaries each hold a structured finance portfolio that primarily consists of investments in Asset Backed 
Securities (‘ABS’). The credit risk is determined by the quality of the underlying securitised assets. Credit risk continues to 
fall as the quality of underlying assets improves and the size of the portfolio reduces. 

 

(v) Strategic risk 

Strategic risk is defined as the current or prospective risk to earnings and/or fair value, given the B&B Group and the NRAM 
Group Balance Sheet structure, arising from changes in the business environment and from adverse business decisions, 
improper implementation of decisions or lack of responsiveness to changes in the business environment. 

 
UKAR considers the primary strategic risks to be macroeconomic environment, market pressures, structural asset/liability 
mix, political, regulatory and legal risk, infrastructure risk (including managing a mortgage book in wind down) and project 
risk. 

Pages 69 to 73 form an integral part 
of the audited Financial Statements 
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Risk management and control (continued) 

Risk categorisation (continued) 

(v) Strategic risk (continued) 

UKAR's focus is on continuous assessment and measurement of movement in strategic risk status in order to ensure 
continuous monitoring of potential impacts on the Ten Year Plan, annual business and operating plans, and UKAR's 
overarching strategic objectives. Thus, close oversight of movements in strategic risk (proximity, financial impact, 
probability) is maintained via monthly reporting to ExCo and the Board. Where appropriate, and taking in to account the 
mainly external nature of strategic risk, risk management strategies can then be defined to mitigate the impact of a risk event 
arising. 

 

(vi) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to pay liabilities as they fall due and arises from both the mismatch in asset, liability, 
derivative and collateral cash flows and from unforeseen changes to these. 

 

The Board's appetite for liquidity risk is low and is managed to ensure it has an adequate level of liquidity to meet its 
commitments at all times and is maintained within agreed HM Treasury facilities, with minimum liquidity levels set out in the 
Board-approved Treasury Risk Policy. Responsibility for managing liquidity risk is delegated to the Treasurer. Stress tests 
are used to assess the adequacy of liquidity both daily and monthly by Finance and Treasury and are reported monthly to 
ERC. ERC is responsible for ensuring that the strategies of the Treasurer maintain liquidity risk within the Board's Risk 
Appetite. 

 
Sterling liquidity is held as cash balances at the Bank of England.   Euro and US dollar cash balances are placed with a 
range of banks and money market funds. 

 

(vii) Market risk 

Market risk is the potential for change in Group income or Group net worth arising from movements in interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates or other market prices. Effective identification and management of market risk is essential for maintaining 
stable net interest income. The Principal Subsidiaries do not trade or make markets in any areas and market risk only arises 
either as a legacy of past business or from supporting core activities.   Interest rate risk is principally managed via interest 
rate swaps and foreign exchange risk by foreign exchange contracts. 

 

The Board's appetite for market risk is set out in the Board approved Treasury Risk Policy. Responsibility for staying within 
risk appetite is delegated to the Treasurer, a member of ExCo, and exposures are reported daily by Finance to senior 
management and monthly by the Treasurer to ERC. ERC is responsible for ensuring that the Treasurer implements market 
risk strategies consistent with the Board's risk appetite. 

 

(viii) Regulatory risk 

Regulatory risk is the risk of failing to comply with the legal and regulatory requirements applying to UKAR arrangements 
and activities. UKAR has a zero regulatory risk appetite and undertakes its activities in line with this. UKAR has established, 
implements and maintains policies and procedures designed to detect any risk of failure by UKAR to comply with its 
obligations under the regulatory system, as well as associated risks. UKAR has put in place adequate measures and 
procedures designed to minimise these risks and to enable the FCA (and any relevant regulator) to exercise its powers 
effectively under the regulatory system. 

Pages 69 to 73 form an integral part 
of the audited Financial Statements 
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Corporate social responsibility report 

UKAR aims to conduct its business in a socially responsible manner in respect of our customers, the workplace, the 
communities we operate in and the environment. 

 

Customers 

The Group has over 148,000 customers (March 2016: 238,000), with 158,000 mortgage accounts (March 2016: 298,000) 

and 35,000 unsecured loan accounts (March 2016: 42,000). 

We are committed to: 

▪ ensuring that simplicity, integrity and truth applies to everything we do; 

▪ supporting vulnerable customers; and 

▪ supporting customers in financial difficulty. 
 

Workplace 

UKAR believes colleagues are the differentiating factor in ensuring we achieve our objectives and we promote a culture is 
shaped by the ‘tone from the top’ and supports, develops and challenges individuals to deliver success. Personal and 
business success is driven not only on what we do but also how we do it and both of these principles are applied throughout 
UKAR’s Competency Framework and performance management processes. Our rewards and incentives are aligned to our 
culture and our values, each of which have exemplar behaviours which help us to understand what they mean, and how they 
apply to what we do on a daily basis. 

 
Our Code of Culture and Conduct sets out the behaviours and standards we expect in the workplace to ensure we act with 
professional integrity and focus on doing the right thing for all our stakeholders, conducting our activities with honesty, 
integrity and according to ethical and legal standards. 

 
UKAR’s employment practices reflect international and national standards covering areas such as minimum working age, 
working hours, health and safety and discrimination. Our working environment is based on trust and openness and we 
encourage effective and efficient communication throughout the organisation to enable us to retain and engage talent, 
maintain motivation and improve the wellbeing of all colleagues in the workplace. We aim to recruit high calibre employees 
from all sections of the community, ensuring that no employee or job applicant receives less favourable treatment on 
grounds which are not related to the job. 

 
We adopt best practice policies and procedures which form a key part of our induction programmes and comprehensive 
training and development programmes are available to provide all colleagues with the skills and specialist development 
opportunities they need to achieve their potential. 

 
Colleague engagement is important to us and that is why 'Being a Great Place to Work' is one of our four strategic 
objectives. It is important to us that colleagues feel valued, are proud of the contribution they make and are given the 
opportunity to grow and learn new skills. The much reduced size of the business with the majority of colleagues based at 
one site enables colleagues to communicate with each other on a face to face basis and we also use a variety of channels 
including our intranet site, monthly team meetings and half yearly ‘all colleague’ meetings to share information on a regular 
basis. We have a recognition scheme based around our core values and new ideas are encouraged through a suggestion 
scheme.   We believe that colleagues who enjoy working at UKAR strive to do the best they can and act in a professional 
way which will ensure that our customers receive the best possible outcomes and the organisation maximises value for the 
taxpayer. 

 

We have a good relationship with the Unite union and we are flexible in the way we approach the personal circumstances of 
colleagues, preventing discrimination, for example on family grounds, and ensuring the workplace needs of those with 
families are addressed. We report our sickness and stress absence data to the Board on a monthly basis and we remained 
below the national benchmark for stress-related absence throughout 2016/17. 
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Corporate social responsibility report (continued) 

Workplace (continued) 

Off-payroll engagements 

UKAR uses the services of a number of individuals to support its business, both to support business as usual and project 
work. Details of these individuals are below: 

 

Table 1 – Off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2017 (for more than £220 per day and lasting longer than 6 
months) 

 

 No. Contractors 

No. of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017: 

Of which: 

11 

No. that have existed for less than one year at the time of reporting: 6 

No. that have existed for between one and two years at the time of reporting: 2 

No. that have existed for between two and three years at the time of reporting: 1 

No. that have existed for between three and four years at the time of reporting: - 

No. that have existed for four years or more at the time of reporting: 2 

Total 11 

 

The managed service arrangement with our main provider of contract resource includes contractual clauses stating that 
liability for tax and National Insurance sits with the provider. 

 

Table 2 – New off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration (for more than £220 per day 
and last longer than 6 months) 

 

No. of new engagements, or those that reached six months duration, between 1 April 2016 

and 31 March 2017: 
7

 

No. of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving UKAR the right to request 

assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations: 
7

 

No. for whom an assurance has been requested: - 

Of which: 

No. for whom assurance has been received: - 

No. for whom assurance has not been received: - 

No. that have been terminated as a result of assurance not being received: - 

Total 7 
 

 

Table 3 – For any off-payroll engagements of board members and/or senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility during the year 

 

No. of off-payroll engagements of board members and/or senior officials with significant 

financial responsibility during the year: 
-
 

No. of individuals that have been deemed ‘board members and/or senior officials with 

significant financial responsibility during the year’: 
-
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Corporate social responsibility report (continued) 

Community 

UKAR is committed to community engagement and charitable initiatives with a caring culture that promotes welfare and 
goodwill through voluntary action in the wider community. This activity also provides great opportunities and experiences 
that enhance the quality of life for all concerned. 

 
In the past UKAR has supported local charities chosen by our colleagues at its two major sites in West Yorkshire and 
Sunderland. Following the divestment of our mortgage servicing operations the majority of colleagues are based in West 
Yorkshire and voted Martin House Children’s Hospice as the 2016/17 Charity of the Year. The amount of charitable 
fundraising by colleagues in 2016/17 was £18,103 and UKAR matched employee fundraising to the total of £8,596. In 
addition, payroll giving totalled £19,057 through UKAR’s Give As You Earn schemes. 

 
 

Environment 

Following the outsourcing of UKAR's mortgaging servicing operations to Computershare the management of UKAR's Head 
Office in Crossflatts, West Yorkshire was also outsourced to Computershare. Nevertheless, UKAR remains committed to 
reducing environmental impact, increasing recycling programmes, creating awareness of environmental programmes and 
engaging colleagues in these activities.   In 2016/17 90% of waste at Crossflatts was recycled with the remaining 10% used 
in Energy from Waste projects. 
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Other matters 

Review of business, future developments and uncertainties 

A review of the business, future developments and uncertainties is set out in the Strategic Report on pages 10 to 15. 
 

Principal risks 

Principal risks of the UKAR Group are covered on pages 16 to 17 and 69 to 73. 
 

Dividends 

The Directors do not propose the payment of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2017. 
 

Major shareholders 

As at the date of this report, all shares in UKAR are held by HM Treasury. As part of the sale of assets to Cerberus, on 30 
April 2016 assets and liabilities not included in the transaction were transferred from NRAM plc to a newly established 
subsidiary of UKAR, known as NRAM (No.1) Limited. On 5 May 2016 all shares in NRAM plc were sold by UKAR to 
Landmark BidCo Limited, a subsidiary of Cerberus. On 18 July 2016, NRAM (No.1) Limited changed its name to NRAM 
Limited. All shares in B&B and NRAM Limited are held by UKAR. 

 

Employee involvement 

The People Strategy of UKAR is detailed on pages 14 to 15. 
 

The Group is committed to employment policies which follow best practice, based on equal opportunities for all employees, 
irrespective of gender, race, colour, disability or marital status. The Group gives full and fair consideration to applications for 
employment from disabled persons, having regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities. Appropriate arrangements are 
made for the continued employment and training, career development and promotion of disabled persons employed by the 
Group. If members of staff become disabled the Group continues employment, either in the same or an alternative position, 
with appropriate retraining being given if necessary. 

 

Directors' indemnities 

The Articles of Association provide the power to indemnify any Director against liabilities incurred as a result of their office. 
 

UKAR has also provided each Director with a Deed of Indemnity, which constituted 'qualifying third party indemnity provision' 
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.   The Deeds were in force during the whole of the financial 
year ended 31 March 2017 and remain in force as at the date of approval of the Directors’ Report. 

 
The Deeds indemnify the Directors to the fullest extent permitted by law against all losses suffered or incurred in respect of 
acts and omissions arising as a result of holding office. The indemnities also extend to the reimbursement of each Director 
with the costs of defending all claims, actions and proceedings including regulatory investigation arising out of or connected 
with the exercise of, or failure to exercise, any of the Director’s powers, duties or responsibilities as an officer, Director, 
trustee, agent or employee of the Group and any of its subsidiaries. Reimbursement is subject to the Director’s obligation to 
repay the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.   The payment obligations of the 
Company under each Deed of Indemnity are backed by a specific guarantee in favour of the Director entered into between 
each Director and HM Treasury. 

 
UKAR has also arranged Directors' and Officers' Insurance on behalf of the Directors in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act 2006. 

 

Independent Auditors 

PwC resigned as external auditors on 27 September 2016 when the NAO were appointed as external auditors. A resolution 
to reappoint the NAO as the Group’s auditors will be put to the Shareholder at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

 

Disclosure of information to the Auditors 

As at the date of this report, each person who is a Director confirms that: 
 

▪ so far as each Director is aware there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; 
and 

▪ each Director has taken such steps as he or she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make him or herself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information. 

 
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 (2) of the Companies 
Act 2006. 
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Statement of Directors' and Accounting Officer's responsibilities in 
respect of the Directors' Report and the Financial Statements 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the consolidated Annual Report, the Directors' Remuneration Report and the 
Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. Company law requires the Directors to prepare 
Financial Statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared the Group and Parent Company 
Financial Statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS') as adopted by the European 
Union. Under company law the Directors must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. 
In preparing these Financial Statements, the Directors are required to: 

▪ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

▪ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

▪ state whether applicable IFRS as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the Financial Statements; and 

▪ prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company 
will continue in business. 

 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the 
Group and enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the 
Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website and legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of Financial Statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions. 

 
Each of the Directors confirms that, to the best of each person’s knowledge and belief: 

▪ the Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group and Company; 

▪ the Directors’ Report contained in the Annual Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of 
the business and the position of the Company and Group, together with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that they face; and 

▪ the Annual Report & Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable, providing the information 
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance, business model and strategy. 

 
This report has been approved by the Board of Directors and is signed by the Chief Executive Officer on behalf of the Board 
of Directors. 

 
The Accounting Officer of HM Treasury has designated UKAR's Chief Executive Officer as the Accounting Officer of UKAR. 
The responsibilities of an Accounting Officer, including responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for 
which the Accounting Officer is answerable, for keeping proper records and for safeguarding UKFI's assets, are set out in 
'Managing Public Money', published by HM Treasury. 

 
In preparing the Financial Statements, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 

 
▪ observe the Accounts Direction issued by HM Treasury, including the relevant accounting and disclosure 

requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

▪ make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

▪ state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial Reporting Manual have been 
followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the Financial Statements; and 

▪ prepare the Financial Statements on a going concern basis. 

 
 
 

 
Ian Hares 

Chief Executive Officer, on behalf of the Board 
3 July 2017 
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Independent Auditor’s report to the Members of UK Asset Resolution Limited 

 
Opinion on the Group Financial Statements 

In my opinion the Group Financial Statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the UK Asset Resolution Limited Group as at 31 March 2017 and of the 
Group’s profit for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. 

 
Basis of opinions 

I have audited the Financial Statements of the UK Asset Resolution Limited Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 which 
comprise: 

• the Consolidated Income Statement; 

• the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income; 

• the Consolidated Balance Sheet; 

• the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity; 

• the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement; and 

• the notes to the consolidated Financial Statements. 
 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 2006. 

 

Overview of my audit approach 

Matters significant to my audit 

I consider the following areas of particular audit focus to be those areas that had the greatest effect on my overall audit 
strategy, the allocation of resources in my audit and directing the efforts of the audit team in the current year. They are 
similar to areas of focus in the previous year, however, as this is the first year of my audit of the Group I have formed my 
own independent assessment. The differences are: 

• In 2015-16 the auditors focussed on provisions for customer redress. I have considered emerging customer redress 
issues during my audit, however, these have not had a material impact in 2016-17 and I did not give this area specific 
audit consideration; 

• In 2015-16 the auditors focussed on hedge accounting on the basis this may not be appropriate.   Hedge accounting 
has simplified significantly during 2016-17 as all material hedge accounting has ceased with the exception of the fair 
value portfolio hedge on lifetime mortgages which has been addressed through standard testing; 

• I have identified an additional risk in 2016-17 in relation to the de-recognition and sale of a portfolio of assets. This is 
explained further below. 

 

I have also set out how my audit addressed these specific areas in order to support the opinion on the Financial Statements 
as a whole and any comments I make on the results of my procedures should be read in this context. 

This is not a complete list of all risks identified by my audit but only those areas that had the greatest effect on my overall 
audit strategy, allocation of resources and direction of effort. I have not, for example, included information relating to the 
work I have performed around the risk of management override of controls where my work has not identified any matters to 
report. 
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Independent Auditor’s report to the Members of UK Asset Resolution Limited (continued) 

 

Overview of my audit approach (continued) 

Matters significant to my audit (continued) 

The areas of focus were discussed with the Audit Committee; their report on matters that they considered to be significant to 
the Financial Statements is set out on pages 46 to 47. 

 

Risk My response 

Loan loss provision assumptions and specific 
management overlays and adjustments 

Loan loss provisioning is a highly subjective area due to the 
level of judgement applied by management in determining the 
level of provisions. Loan loss provisions are calculated by 
management using internal models which use historic data and 
estimates and judgements in respect of future performance. 
Management’s judgements include macro-economic measures 
including future house price inflation. 

The measurement of the provision differs based upon the type 
of lending and requires an analysis of economic conditions and 
historic experience when assessing the impairment in the 
portfolios. 

Judgement is applied to determine appropriate parameters and 
assumptions for the models that are used to calculate the 
provision. The key assumptions are the probability of customer 
default and the valuation of any underlying security. 

Management also apply adjustments or overlays where they 
believe the data driven parameters and calculations are not 
appropriate, either as a result of emerging trends or models not 
capturing the risks in the loan portfolio. These adjustments 
include: 

• an overlay to adjust for potential historic valuation fraud 
indicators in the portfolio; and 

• an insurance provision on the lifetime mortgage portfolio 
which is calculated using assumptions including future 
HPI and a discount factor. 

These adjustments and overlays require significant judgement 
to be applied by management. 

 
 

I understood and evaluated the design and implementation and 
tested key controls focussing on: 

• the transfer of data between underlying source systems 
and the impairment models that the Group operates; 
and 

• the review and approval process that management has 
in place for the inputs, including the key assumptions, to 
the Group's impairment models, and the adjustments 
and overlays that are applied to the modelled outputs. 

I also performed the following procedures: 

• I understood and assessed management's basis for 
determining whether a loan was impaired by 
understanding the Group's loan portfolio in the context 
of the wider industry. Where impairment was calculated 
using models I tested the completeness and accuracy of 
data to the underlying systems that were used in the 
models; 

• I independently recreated management’s underlying 
impairment model so as to verify its design and 
operation; 

• I understood and critically assessed the models used. 
Modelling assumptions and parameters, such as 
probability of default and future house price inflation, are 
based on historic data and/ or forward forecasts. I 
challenged whether historic experience was 
representative of current circumstances and I assessed 
forward forecasts against my independently determined 
ranges benchmarking against third party data where 
appropriate. I also challenged management by 
performing sensitivity analysis; 

• I considered whether overlays to modelled provisions 
appropriately reflected the risks in the portfolios. I 
challenged management to provide explanations and 
objective evidence to support the overlay adjustments 
made. This included consideration of the current 
economic conditions and the extended low interest rate 
environment; 

• where a provision was calculated on a portfolio basis, I 
tested a sample of loans and advances to ascertain 
whether the impairment event had been identified in a 
timely manner and whether the provision was 
reasonable given the specific provision indicators; and 

• I assessed the judgements management use to identify 
provision events on performing loans including the 
likelihood of default based on historic data and 
challenged management to provide objective evidence 
that the overlays were appropriate. 

Based on the evidence I obtained I found that the impairment 
model assumptions, data used within the models and overlays 
to the modelled outputs were supportable and within my 
independently determined ranges. However, the models are 
sensitive to the micro and macro-economic environment in the 
UK and other factors such as employment levels, interest base 
rates and house price inflation which could reasonably be 
expected to give rise to further provisions in the future. 
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Independent Auditor’s report to the Members of UK Asset Resolution Limited (continued) 

 
Overview of my audit approach (continued) 

Matters significant to my audit (continued) 

Risk My response 

De-recognition and sale of portfolio of assets 
 

On 30 March 2017 Bradford & Bingley plc (a subsidiary of 
UKAR) signed two contracts to sell £11.8bn of mortgage assets 
with completion and transfer of the beneficial interest on 25 
April 2017. Included within the contracts were a number of 
conditions precedent related to the issue of the securitised 
notes by the buyers to fund the purchase, which needed to be 
satisfied in order for the sale to complete. Management 
assessed that, as at the balance sheet date, the possibility of 
the contractual conditions not being ultimately met was remote 
and the specific asset de-recognition criteria contained within 
IAS 39 were satisfied. On this basis management de- 
recognised the assets within the financial period. 

In response to this risk, I have reviewed the judgement 
reached by management in relation to the de-recognition point 
of the sale. I have assessed the contract against the de- 
recognition criteria in IAS 39 and reviewed the presentation 
and disclosure in the accounts. I have assessed the conditions 
precedent against the likelihood of occurrence in the time 
frame between contract signing and completion. 

 
In my opinion the de-recognition of the assets is appropriate 
and I am satisfied that sufficient disclosure has been made by 
management. 

The significant risk is that the sale is recognised in the incorrect 
accounting period and that would lead to the Financial 
Statements being materially misstated. 

 

 

Application of materiality 

I applied the concept of materiality in both planning and performing my audit, and in evaluating the effect of misstatements 
on my audit and on the Financial Statements. This approach recognises that Financial Statements are rarely absolutely 
correct, and that an audit is designed to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the Financial Statements 
are free from material misstatement. A matter is material if its omission or misstatement would, in the judgement of the 
auditor, reasonably influence the decisions of users of the Financial Statements. 

Based on my professional judgement, I determined overall materiality for the Group’s Financial Statements at £201.1m, 
which is approximately 1% of gross loans to customers. I chose this benchmark as UKAR’s primary activity is the servicing 
of mortgage loans and I consider loans to customers to be the principal consideration for users in assessing the financial 
performance of the Group. 

I have determined that for provisions for impairment and customer redress, interest income and expense and administrative 
expenses, misstatements of a lesser amount than overall materiality could influence the decisions of users of the accounts 
given the disproportionate size of these balances compared to loans to customers and the level of public interest in the 
Group’s performance in these areas. I have therefore determined that the threshold to be applied to these components is 
£80m. 

As well as quantitative materiality there are certain matters that, by their very nature, would if not corrected influence the 
decisions of users. Assessment of such matters would need to have regard to the nature of the misstatement and the 
applicable legal and reporting framework, as well as the size of the misstatement. 

I agreed with the Audit Committee that I would report to it all uncorrected misstatements identified through my audit in 
excess of £250,000, as well as differences below this threshold that in my view warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. 

Total unadjusted audit differences reported to the Audit Committee would have increased net assets by £11.2m. 
 

Scope of my audit 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the Financial Statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 

This includes an assessment of: 

• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; 

• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and 

• the overall presentation of the Financial Statements. 

In addition I read all the information and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies 
with the audited Financial Statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or 
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by me in the course of performing the audit. If I become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the implications for my report. 
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Independent Auditor’s report to the Members of UK Asset Resolution Limited (continued) 

 

Overview of my audit approach (continued) 

Group audit approach 

I tailored the scope of my audit to ensure that I performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the Financial 
Statements as a whole, taking into account the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group 
operates. 

The Group comprises UK Asset Resolution Limited, Bradford & Bingley plc (B&B) and its subsidiaries, NRAM Limited 
(NRAM) and its subsidiaries and UKAR Corporate Services Limited (UKARcs). The Group Financial Statements are a 
consolidation of these companies. 

I performed an audit of the complete financial information of the significant components of the Group, identified as B&B, 
NRAM and Mortgage Express (MX) (a subsidiary of B&B). In addition these significant components require statutory audits 
and the work for these is carried out at the same time as the Group audit. All of the work on the significant components is 
performed by the group engagement team. 

This work, together with additional procedures performed on balances arising as a result of the Group's consolidation 
process, gave me the evidence I needed for my opinion on the Financial Statements as a whole. 

The components within our audit scope accounted for 100% of the Group total assets and total income. 

 

Other matters on which I report under the Companies Act 

The Strategic Report 

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report for the 
financial year is consistent with the Financial Statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable law. 

Based on my knowledge and understanding of the Group and its environment obtained during the course of the audit, I have 
identified no material misstatements in this report. 

 

The Directors’ Report and Governance Statement 

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Directors’ Report and 
Governance Statement in respect of internal control and risk management systems in relation to financial reporting 
processes, and about share capital structures, is consistent with the Financial Statements and has been prepared in 
accordance with applicable law. 

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, rules 7.2.2, 7.2.3 and 7.2.7 in the Disclosure Rules 
and Transparency Rules sourcebook made by the Financial Conduct Authority have been complied with. 

Based on my knowledge and understanding of the Group and its environment obtained during the course of the audit, I have 
identified no material misstatements in this information. 

 

Matters on which I report by exception 

Consistency of information in the Annual Report 

Under International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland), I am required to report to you if, in my opinion, information in the 
Annual Report is: 

• materially inconsistent with the information in the audited Financial Statements; or 

• apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge of the Group that I acquired in 
the course of performing my audit; or 

• otherwise misleading. 
 

In particular, I am required to consider: 

• whether I have identified any inconsistencies between the knowledge that I acquired during the audit and the Directors’ 
statement that they consider the Annual Report is fair, balanced and understandable; and 

• whether the Annual Report appropriately discloses those matters that I communicated to the Audit Committee which I 
consider should have been disclosed. 

I have nothing to report arising from this duty. 
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Independent Auditor’s report to the Members of UK Asset Resolution Limited (continued) 

 
Matters on which I report by exception (continued) 

The Directors’ assessment of principal risks and future prospects 

Under International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland), I am required to report to you if I have anything material to add, or 
to draw attention to, in relation to the Directors’ disclosures in the Annual Report and Financial Statements: 

• confirming that they have carried out a robust assessment of principal risks facing the Group, including those that would 
threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity; 

• describing those risks and explaining how they are being managed or mitigated; 

• on whether they considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis, and their identification of any material 
uncertainties to the entity's ability to continue over a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the 
Financial Statements; and 

• explaining how they have assessed the prospects of the entity, over what period they have done so and why they 
consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the 
Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, 
including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions. 

I have nothing material to add, or to draw attention to, on these matters. 

 

Respective responsibilities of the Directors and the Auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ and Accounting Officer’s responsibilities in respect of the Directors’ 
Report and the Financial Statements, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Group Financial Statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. My responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland). Those 
standards require me and my staff to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

 

Other matter 

I have reported separately on pages 144 to 145, on the Parent Company Financial Statements of UK Asset Resolution 
Limited for the year ended 31 March 2017 and on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as 
having been audited. 

 
 
 

Hilary Lower (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

For and on behalf of the 

Comptroller and Auditor General (Statutory Auditor) 
National Audit Office 
157-197 Buckingham Palace Road 
Victoria 
London 
SW1W 9SP 

 

3 July 2017 
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107 12 Investment securities 127 31 Related party disclosures 

108 13 Wholesale assets 128 32 Capital structure 

110 14 Loans to customers 129 33 Financial instruments 

111 15 Impairment on loans to customers 136 34 Collateral pledged and received 

112 16 Credit quality of loans to customers 136 35 Financial risk management 

114 17 Deferred taxation 143 36 Contingent liabilities 

115 18 Other assets 143 37 Events after the reporting period 



Annual Report & Accounts 2017 

86 

 

 

 
 

 

UKAR Limited Company Accounts 

Page 
 

144 Independent Auditor’s report 

146 Company Balance Sheet 

147 Company Statement of Changes in Equity 

147 Company Cash Flow Statement 

 

 

Notes to the Company Financial Statements 
 

Page Note  Page Note  

148 A Principal accounting policies 151 F Related party disclosures 

148 B Critical judgements and accounting estimates 152 G Financial risk management 

148 C Taxation 152 H Ultimate controlling party 

148 D Investments in Group undertakings 152 I Contingent liabilities 

151 E Merger reserve    



Annual Report & Accounts 2017 

87 

 

 

 

 
 

Note 
12 months to 12 months to 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The notes on pages 92 to 143 and the Company information on pages 146 to 152 form an integral part of these Financial 
Statements. 

 

The results above arise from continuing activities. 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 

 31 March 2017 

£m 

31 March 2016 

£m 

 
Interest receivable and similar income 

 
4 

 
993.9 

 
1,572.7 

Interest expense and similar charges 4 (224.7) (463.1) 

Net interest income 4 769.2 1,109.6 

 
Fee and commission income 

  
11.9 

 
20.2 

Fee and commission expense  (12.0) (12.0) 

Net fee and commission income  (0.1) 8.2 

Net realised gains less losses on investment securities 5 18.7 15.5 

Unrealised fair value movements on financial instruments 6 (4.3) (2.3) 

Hedge ineffectiveness 6 (8.0) (28.6) 

Other operating income  11.7 17.7 

Non-interest income  18.0 10.5 

Total income  787.2 1,120.1 

Administrative expenses: 

- ongoing 

 

7 

 
(167.5) 

 

(180.4) 

- other net expenses 7 - (73.4) 

Provision for customer redress 26 (64.4) 180.1 

Insurance claim 8 50.0 - 

Impairment on loans to customers 15 67.9 77.6 

Net impairment release on investment securities 12 6.1 7.2 

(Loss)/profit on sale of loans 14 (332.4) 62.8 

Loss on repurchase of own liabilities 9 - (18.2) 

Profit before taxation  346.9 1,175.8 

Taxation 10 (61.2) (257.6) 

Profit for the financial year  285.7 918.2 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

 
For the 12 months to 31 March 2017 

   

 Gross of tax Tax Net of tax 

 £m £m £m 

 
Profit for the financial year 

 
346.9 

 
(61.2) 

 
285.7 

 
Other comprehensive income/(expense) 

   

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
   

Available-for-sale instruments:    

- net losses recognised in available-for-sale reserve during the year (15.7) 1.4 (14.3) 

- amounts transferred from available-for-sale reserve and recognised 
in profit during the year 

 
28.6 

 
(5.8) 

 
22.8 

Cash flow hedges:    

- net losses recognised in cash flow hedge reserve during the year (683.3) 50.8 (632.5) 

- amounts transferred from cash flow hedge reserve and recognised 
in profit during the year 

 
682.1 

 
(53.4) 

 
628.7 

 11.7 (7.0) 4.7 

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
- retirement benefit remeasurements 

 
(114.2) 

 
26.7 

 
(87.5) 

 (114.2) 26.7 (87.5) 

 
Total other comprehensive (expense)/income 

 
(102.5) 

 
19.7 

 
(82.8) 

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 244.4 (41.5) 202.9 

 
 

For the 12 months to 31 March 2016 

 
 

Gross of tax 

 
 

Tax 

 
 

Net of tax 
 £m £m £m 

 
Profit for the financial year 

 
1,175.8 

 
(257.6) 

 
918.2 

 
Other comprehensive income/(expense) 

   

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
   

Available-for-sale instruments:    

- net gains recognised in available-for-sale reserve during the year 19.1 (12.6) 6.5 

- amounts transferred from available-for-sale reserve and recognised 
in profit during the year 

 
(9.7) 

 
5.5 

 
(4.2) 

Cash flow hedges:    

- net losses recognised in cash flow hedge reserve during the year (1,329.1) 277.5 (1,051.6) 

- amounts transferred from cash flow hedge reserve and recognised 
in profit during the year 

 
1,030.3 

 
(215.4) 

 
814.9 

 (289.4) 55.0 (234.4) 

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
- retirement benefit remeasurements 

 
190.9 

 
(38.1) 

 
152.8 

 190.9 (38.1) 152.8 

 
Total other comprehensive (expense)/income 

 
(98.5) 

 
16.9 

 
(81.6) 

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 1,077.3 (240.7) 836.6 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET  

   
31 March 

 
31 March 

 Note 2017 2016 

Restated 1 

  £m £m 

 
Assets 

   

Cash at bank and in hand 11 2,112.7 5,598.3 

Amount owed in respect of sale of loans 14 11,483.9 - 

Investment securities 12 282.4 352.8 

Loans to customers 14 19,462.8 35,532.6 

Fair value adjustments on portfolio hedging 14 454.6 436.6 

Derivative financial instruments 33 (d) 1.8 781.4 

Other assets 18 47.4 31.7 

Retirement benefit assets 19 479.4 482.5 

Property, plant and equipment 20 0.4 16.1 

Intangible assets 21 4.7 37.2 

Total assets  34,330.1 43,269.2 

 
Liabilities 

   

Amounts due to banks 22 - 553.9 

Statutory Debt and HM Treasury loans 23 25,031.3 28,353.9 

Derivative financial instruments 33 (d) 527.2 527.7 

Debt securities in issue 24 204.2 5,159.2 

Other liabilities 25 146.3 309.8 

Current tax liabilities  62.5 153.1 

Deferred tax liabilities 17 83.9 96.6 

Retirement benefit obligations 19 4.7 1.8 

Provisions 26 177.4 214.3 

Capital instruments 27 - 9.2 

Total liabilities  26,237.5 35,379.5 

 
Equity 

   

Issued capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent:    

- share capital 28 1.2 1.2 

- reserves 29 3,807.7 4,917.3 

- retained earnings  4,283.7 2,971.2 

Share capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent  8,092.6 7,889.7 

    

Total equity and liabilities  34,330.1 43,269.2 

 

The notes on pages 92 to 143 and the Company information on pages 146 to 152 form an integral part of these Financial 
Statements. 

 
The Financial Statements on pages 87 to 143 were approved by the Board of Directors on 3 July 2017 and signed on its 
behalf by: 

 
 
 
 

 
John Tattersall Ian Hares 

Chairman Chief Executive Officer 
 

UK Asset Resolution Limited is registered in England and Wales under company number 07301961. 

 
 

1 As a consequence of the re-organisation within the NRAM Group there has been a transfer from retained earnings to merger reserve, as 
detailed in note 2. 
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For the 12 months to 31 March 2017 
 
 

Available- 

 
 

Cash flow 

 
 

Total 

 Share 
capital 

£m 

for-sale 
reserve 

£m 

hedge 
reserve 

£m 

Merger 
reserve 

£m 

Retained 
earnings 

£m 

share capital 
and reserves 

£m 

 
At 1 April 2016 

 
1.2 

 
4.3 

 
3.0 

 
4,910.0 

 
2,971.2 

 
7,889.7 

 

Other comprehensive income/(expense): 

      

- net movement in available-for-sale reserve - 12.9 - - - 12.9 

- net movement in cash flow hedge reserve - - (1.2) - - (1.2) 

- retirement benefit remeasurements - - - - (114.2) (114.2) 

- tax effects of the above - (4.4) (2.6) - 26.7 19.7 

Total other comprehensive income - 8.5 (3.8) - (87.5) (82.8) 

Profit for the financial year - - - - 285.7 285.7 

Release of merger reserve - - - (1,114.3) 1,114.3 - 

Total comprehensive income - 8.5 (3.8) (1,114.3) 1,312.5 202.9 

At 31 March 2017 1.2 12.8 (0.8) 3,795.7 4,283.7 8,092.6 

 
 

For the 12 months to 31 March 2016 

      

  
Share 

Available- 
for-sale 

Cash flow 
hedge 

 
Merger 

 
Retained 

Total 
share capital 

 capital reserve reserve reserve earnings and reserves 
 £m £m £m £m £m £m 

 
At 1 April 2015 as previously reported 

 
1.2 

 
2.0 

 
239.7 

 
1,122.6 

 
5,687.6 

 
7,053.1 

Restatement 1 - - - 3,787.4 (3,787.4) - 

At 1 April 2015 restated 1 1.2 2.0 239.7 4,910.0 1,900.2 7,053.1 

 

Other comprehensive income/(expense): 

      

- net movement in available-for-sale reserve - 9.4 - - - 9.4 

- net movement in cash flow hedge reserve - - (298.8) - - (298.8) 

- retirement benefit remeasurements - - - - 190.9 190.9 

- tax effects of the above - (7.1) 62.1 - (38.1) 16.9 

Total other comprehensive expense - 2.3 (236.7) - 152.8 (81.6) 

Profit for the financial year - - - - 918.2 918.2 

Total comprehensive income - 2.3 (236.7) - 1,071.0 836.6 

At 31 March 2016 restated 1 1.2 4.3 3.0 4,910.0 2,971.2 7,889.7 

 
 

1 As a consequence of the re-organisation within the NRAM Group there has been a restatement of the comparative period, comprising a 
transfer from retained earnings to merger reserve of £3,787.4m, as detailed in note 2. £697.8m of the merger reserve was released to 
retained earnings on 5 May 2016 when NRAM Limited’s shareholding in NRAM plc was sold. £416.5m has been released as loans which 
formed part of the pre-sale dividend in specie have been paid down. Further detail is provided in note 2. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT  

  
12 months to 

 
12 months to 

 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
 £m £m 

 
Cash flows from operating activities 

  

Profit before taxation for the financial year 346.9 1,175.8 

Adjustments to reconcile profit to cash (used in)/generated from operating activities:   

- provision for customer redress 64.4 (180.1) 

- provision for restructuring - 73.4 

- defined benefit pension scheme credits (17.3) (7.8) 

- cash contributions to defined benefit pension schemes (88.1) (54.0) 

- depreciation and amortisation 6.3 22.2 

- impairment on loans to customers (67.9) (77.6) 

- net impairment release on investment securities (6.1) (7.2) 

- loss on repurchase of own liabilities - 18.2 

- loss/(profit) on sale of loans 332.4 (62.8) 

- fair value adjustments on financial instruments (27.2) (113.6) 

- other non-cash movements 203.9 327.1 

Cash flows generated from operating activities before changes in operating 
assets and liabilities 

747.3 1,113.6 

Net decrease/(increase) in operating assets: 
  

- loans to customers 3,788.4 5,717.8 

- sale of loans 404.3 11,677.9 

- derivative financial instruments receivable 779.6 2,181.3 

- other assets (4.1) 14.6 

Net decrease in operating liabilities:   

- amounts due to banks (553.9) (1,631.4) 

- derivative financial instruments payable (0.5) (42.3) 

- debt securities in issue (5,071.8) (10,920.0) 

- other liabilities (112.9) (72.4) 

- provisions (99.9) (73.1) 

Income tax paid (134.1) (204.7) 

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (257.6) 7,761.3 

 
Cash flows from investing activities: 

  

- purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (2.0) (17.5) 

- proceeds from sale and redemption of investment securities 90.7 212.1 

Net cash generated from investing activities 88.7 194.6 

 
Cash flows used in financing activities: 

  

- drawdown of HM Treasury loans 2,975.0 - 

- repayment of HM Treasury loans (6,290.7) (6,257.7) 

- repurchase of own liabilities - (5,281.7) 

Net cash used in financing activities (3,315.7) (11,539.4) 

 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

 
(3,484.6) 

 
(3,583.5) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 5,597.1 9,180.6 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,112.5 5,597.1 

 
Represented by cash and assets with original maturity of three months or 

  

less within:   

- cash at bank and in hand 2,112.5 5,597.1 

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,112.5 5,597.1 
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UK Asset Resolution Limited ('UKAR' or 'the Company') is a private limited company incorporated on 1 July 2010 and 
domiciled in the United Kingdom.   UKAR acquired B&B and NRAM plc by a share-for-share exchange on 1 October 2010. 
On 29 April 2016 NRAM Limited acquired NRAM plc from UKAR by way of a share-for-share exchange. NRAM Limited sold 
NRAM plc on 5 May 2016. Further detail is provided in note 2.   These consolidated Financial Statements are prepared 
under the 'predecessor accounting' method, which presents the UKAR consolidated results as if the UKAR Group ('the 
Group') had always been in existence in its present form.   In addition, the Company owns 100% of the share capital of 
UKAR Corporate Services Limited, which was incorporated on 20 June 2013 (see note D to the Parent Company Financial 
Statements).   The Financial Statements of the UKAR Company are presented on pages 146 to 152, and form an integral 
part of these Financial Statements. 

The Financial Statements on pages 87 to 143 and 146 to 152 were authorised for issue by the Directors on 3 July 2017 and 
will be put to the shareholder for approval at UKAR’s Annual General Meeting. 

 

(a) Statement of compliance 

Both the UKAR Company Financial Statements and the Group (comprising UKAR and its subsidiaries) Financial Statements 
have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) 
as adopted by the European Union (‘EU’). IFRS comprises accounting standards prefixed IFRS issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’) and those prefixed IAS which were issued by the IASB’s predecessor body, along with 
interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (‘IFRIC’) prefixed IFRIC and those prefixed SIC which were 
issued by the IFRIC’s predecessor body. In publishing the UKAR Company Financial Statements here together with the 
Group Financial Statements, the UKAR Company has taken advantage of the exemption in s408 of the Companies Act 2006 
not to present its individual Income Statement and related notes. 

For these 2017 Financial Statements, including the 2016 comparative financial information where applicable, the Group and 
Company have adopted the following statements for the first time: 

• The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle, issued in September 2014; these changes had no material 
impact on the Group or Company. 

• The amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 ‘Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation’ issued in 
May 2014. These amendments clarify that a revenue-based method is not considered to be an appropriate 
manifestation of consumption. These amendments are mandatory for the Group and Company Financial Statements 
for the year to 31 March 2017. These amendments had no material impacts for the Group or Company. 

For these 2017 Financial Statements the Group and Company have not adopted the following statements: 

• IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’; in July 2014 the IASB published the final version (excluding macro-hedging), replacing 
most of the requirements of IAS 39. IFRS 9 was endorsed for use in the EU in November 2016 and will be effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Group is not intending to take the option of early adoption. 
IFRS 9 is expected to have major implications for the UKAR Group and companies. Further detail is provided in note 
33(h). 

• IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, issued May 2014, effective for periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018. No material impacts are expected for the UKAR Group or companies. 

• IFRS 16 ‘Leases’, issued January 2016, effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and yet to be 
endorsed by the EU. The Group and Company are assessing the impacts of this statement. 

• Amendments to IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ relating to ‘Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses’, issued 
January 2016, effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 and yet to be endorsed by the EU. The Group 
and Company are assessing the impacts of this statement. 

All other new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not considered relevant to, and have no impact 
upon, the Financial Statements of the Group or UKAR Company. 

1. Principal accounting policies 
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(b) Basis of preparation 

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and using the historical cost convention except: 

(i) the following assets and liabilities are carried at their fair value: 

• derivative financial instruments; and 

• financial instruments categorised under IAS 39 as ‘available-for-sale’; and 

(ii) where fair value hedge accounting has been applied, the carrying value of hedged items has been adjusted to take 
account of the fair value of the risk which has been hedged. 

The validity of the going concern basis of accounting is dependent upon the funding position of the UKAR Company, B&B 
and NRAM Limited. At the date of approval of these Financial Statements, the Group is reliant upon the financing facilities 
provided to B&B and NRAM Limited by HM Treasury. Withdrawal of the financing facilities would have a significant impact 
on the Group's operations and its ability to continue as a going concern, in which case adjustments may have to be made to 
reduce the carrying value of assets to recoverable amounts and to provide for further liabilities that might arise. At the 
signing date of these Financial Statements, HM Treasury has confirmed its intentions to continue to provide funding until at 
least 1 January 2019. 

The Directors consider that the accounting policies set out in this note are the most appropriate to the Group’s and the 
UKAR Company’s circumstances, have been consistently applied to both the Group and the Company in dealing with items 
which are considered material and are supported by reasonable and prudent estimates and judgements. 

The accounting policies have been applied to all periods presented in these Financial Statements, and are consistent with 
the accounting policies used by the B&B Group and the NRAM Group in preparing their Interim Financial Reports for the six 
months ended 30 September 2016. 

B&B and NRAM Limited are regulated by the FCA as mortgage administration companies, and the Directors believe that 
those companies have appropriate and adequate levels of capital to support their activities subject to the continuing support 
of HM Treasury. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with EU-adopted IFRS, and with those parts of the Companies 
Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. A summary of accounting policies is set out below. The 
preparation of the Financial Statements in conformity with these accounting policies and generally accepted accounting 
principles requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported values of assets and liabilities at the date of 
the Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amounts, events or actions, actual results ultimately may differ 
from those estimates (see note 3). 

The Directors consider the business to comprise one operating and geographical segment due to the similarity of risks faced 
within its UK-based residential, commercial and unsecured portfolios. 

 
(c) Basis of consolidation 

The UKAR Group’s Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS 10 'Consolidated Financial Statements', and 
incorporate on a fully consolidated line-by-line basis the Financial Statements of the UKAR Company and those entities 
(including special purpose structures) which are controlled by UKAR (its subsidiaries); the Group Financial Statements 
primarily comprise the transactions and balances of the B&B Group and the NRAM Group. The UKAR Company's 
acquisition of the entire issued share capital of B&B and NRAM plc in a share-for-share exchange has been accounted for 
under 'predecessor accounting'. The difference between the UKAR Company's carrying value of investments and merger 
reserves, and the share capital and non-distributable reserves of the B&B Group and the NRAM Group, has been accounted 
for in the UKAR Group as a 'merger reserve'. 

An investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.   Where subsidiaries have been acquired 
during a period, their results are consolidated into the UKAR Group’s Financial Statements from the date control is 
transferred to UKAR. Where subsidiaries have been disposed of, their results are consolidated to the date of disposal. As 
detailed in note 2, on 5 May 2016 the Group sold its investment in NRAM plc; at that point the UKAR Group ceased to 
control NRAM plc.   On the acquisition of a business, fair values are attributed to the assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities acquired. Any difference between the consideration given and the fair value of the net assets acquired is 
capitalised as goodwill, which is subject to impairment testing in accordance with IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’. Where 
necessary, the Group Financial Statements include adjustments to bring the financial statements of subsidiaries into 
alignment with the accounting policies used by the Group. All intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated on 
consolidation. 

The UKAR Group securitised various residential mortgage loans, generally by sale or transfer to Special Purpose Vehicles 
(‘SPVs’) which in turn issued securities to investors. All of the Group's SPVs were fully consolidated until the funding 
structures were unwound and the companies were placed into liquidation. 

1. Principal accounting policies (continued) 
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(c) Basis of consolidation (continued) 

The NRAM Group reorganisation is detailed in note 2. NRAM Limited’s acquisition of the shares in NRAM plc and the 
transfer of assets and liabilities to NRAM Limited have been accounted for as transactions between entities under common 
control and predecessor accounting has been applied. 

The comparative information disclosed in these Financial Statements has been presented as though the post-reorganisation 
structure had always been in place. The UKAR Group merger reserve was increased as a result of the transaction and the 
comparative period merger reserve has been restated accordingly. 

 

(d) Interest income and expense 

For all interest-bearing financial instruments except derivatives, interest income and expense are recognised in the Income 
Statement on an Effective Interest Rate ('EIR') basis. 

The EIR method calculates the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and spreads interest income or interest 
expense on a level yield basis over the expected life of the instrument, or an appropriate shorter period. The calculation 
includes all directly attributable incremental fees and costs, premia on acquisition of mortgage portfolios and all other premia 
and discounts as well as interest. In respect of loans to customers, the elements other than interest are spread over the 
period to which the product reprices to a Standard or Product Variable Rate.   The EIR is the rate which at the inception of 
the instrument exactly discounts expected future cash flows over the appropriate period to the initial carrying amount. When 
calculating the EIR, future cash flows are estimated, considering all contractual terms of the instrument (for example 
prepayment options), but potential future credit losses are not considered. 

Interest on derivatives is included in interest income where the derivative is hedging interest income, and interest expense 
where the derivative is hedging interest expense. 

When a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets is written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest 
income continues to be recognised by applying the applicable EIR to the reduced balance. 

 

(e) Bonuses payable 

An accrual is made for all bonuses which have been earned by the Balance Sheet date, even though these may not 
subsequently be payable due to clawback or the employee leaving the Group. 

(f) Financial instruments 

In accordance with IAS 39 each financial asset is classified at initial recognition into one of four categories: 

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 

(ii) Held-to-maturity; 

(iii) Loans and receivables; or 

(iv) Available-for-sale; 

and each financial liability into one of two categories: 

(v) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss; or 

(vi) Other liabilities. 
 

Where the Directors believed it appropriate to do so, financial assets have been reclassified out of the ‘available-for-sale’ 
category to ‘loans and receivables’ in accordance with the revisions to IAS 39 issued by the IASB in October 2008. Such 
reclassifications are permitted only under certain restricted circumstances, including that there is no active market for the 
asset. The asset is reclassified using its fair value at the point of transfer and from that point on is accounted for on an EIR 
basis. The difference between the carrying value at the point of reclassification and the expected value at the redemption 
date is recognised in profit or loss on an EIR basis over the expected life of the asset and the asset’s carrying value accretes 
to the redemption amount over that period, except where the asset has become impaired. The balance in the available-for- 
sale reserve which related to the asset is amortised to profit or loss over the expected life of the asset; in the Income 
Statement the amortisation of the difference between value at reclassification and at redemption and the amortisation out of 
the available-for-sale reserve exactly offset each other. 

Measurement of financial instruments is either at amortised cost (categories (ii), (iii) and (vi) above) or at fair value 
(categories (i), (iv) and (v) above), depending on the category of financial instrument. 

Amortised cost is the amount measured at initial recognition adjusted for subsequent principal and other payments, less 
cumulative amortisation calculated using the EIR method; the amortisation is taken to interest income or expense depending 
on whether the instrument is an asset or a liability. For assets, the amortised cost balance is reduced where appropriate by 
an allowance for amounts which are considered to be impaired or uncollectible. 

1. Principal accounting policies (continued) 
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(f) Financial instruments (continued) 

IFRS 13 'Fair Value Measurement' defines 'fair value' as 'the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date'. Where an active market is 
considered to exist, fair values are based on quoted prices or lead manager prices.   For instruments which do not have 
active markets, fair value is calculated using present value models, which take individual cash flows together with 
assumptions based on market conditions and credit spreads, and are consistent with accepted economic methodologies for 
pricing financial instruments. Interest income and interest expense on instruments carried at fair value are included in the 
Income Statement in ‘interest receivable and similar income’ or ‘interest expense and similar charges’. Movements in fair 
value are recognised in the ‘unrealised fair value movements on financial instruments’ line in the Income Statement, except 
in the case of instruments categorised as ‘available-for-sale’, in which case the fair value movements are taken to the 
‘available-for-sale’ reserve. On sale or de-recognition of an available-for-sale instrument the accumulated fair value 
movements are transferred from the ‘available-for-sale’ reserve to the ‘net realised gains less losses on investment 
securities’ line of the Income Statement. 

 

(g) Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Balance Sheet when and only when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

(h) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 

All of the Group’s derivative contracts are used for commercial management of exposures to interest rate risks, foreign 
currency risks and risks arising from forecast transactions. 

For many of the Group’s derivative contracts hedge accounting is applied. However, in some cases natural offsets apply. 

Each derivative is carried at fair value in the Balance Sheet; as an asset when the fair value is positive and as a liability 
when the fair value is negative. The fair value of a derivative includes any interest accrued on that derivative. Changes in 
the fair value of derivatives are charged to the Income Statement; however by applying the hedge accounting rules set out in 
IAS 39 the changes in fair value of derivatives which are used to hedge particular risks can either be mitigated in the Income 
Statement (fair value hedge accounting) or recognised in other comprehensive income (cash flow hedge accounting). The 
Group has adopted cash flow hedge accounting and fair value hedge accounting. 

(i) Cash flow hedge accounting 

A cash flow hedge is used to hedge exposures to variability in cash flows, such as variable rate financial assets and 
liabilities. The effective portion of changes in the derivative fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income, and 
recycled to the Income Statement in the periods when the hedged item affects profit and loss. The fair value gain or loss 
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the Income Statement. 

(ii) Fair value hedge accounting 

A fair value hedge is used to hedge exposures to variability in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities, such as fixed 
rate loans. Changes in fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the 
Income Statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the 
hedged risk. The Group uses fair value hedge accounting on one-to-one relationship and portfolio hedging bases, as 
described below. 

Where hedge accounting is not applied, changes in fair values are recognised immediately in the Income Statement. 

(iii) One-to-one fair value hedges 

Where one or more specific derivative financial instruments hedge the changes in fair value of a specific asset or liability, 
provided that the hedge arrangement meets the requirements of IAS 39 to be classed as ‘highly effective’, the associated 
hedged item is carried on the Balance Sheet at fair value in respect of the hedged risk. Fair value gains and losses are 
recognised in the Income Statement, mitigating the fair value movements on the associated derivative financial instruments. 
The Income Statement immediately recognises any hedge accounting ‘ineffectiveness’, that is any difference between the 
fair value movement on the hedging instrument and that on the hedged item. 

(iv) Portfolio fair value hedges 

Where a group of derivative financial instruments hedges the interest rate exposure of a group of assets or liabilities, and the 
hedge meets the requirements of IAS 39 to be classed as ‘highly effective’, the hedge relationship is accounted for in the 
same way as a one-to-one fair value hedge except that the Balance Sheet carrying value of the hedged items is not 
adjusted; instead the difference between the carrying value and the fair value in respect of the hedged risk is carried on the 
Balance Sheet in ‘fair value adjustments on portfolio hedging’. 
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(h) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued) 

(v) Hedge effectiveness 

At the inception of each hedging arrangement, the relationship between the hedging instruments and the hedged items is 
documented, as well as the risk management objective and strategy. Also documented is an assessment, both at hedge 
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in the hedging arrangement are 'highly effective' 
in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged items. Under IAS 39 a hedge is deemed to be 'highly 
effective' if effectiveness is forecast to fall, and is actually found to fall, within the 80% to 125% range. Any hedge 
relationship falling outside these limits is deemed to be ineffective and hedge accounting is discontinued. 

(vi) Termination of hedges 

Where a hedge relationship is terminated or deemed not to be highly effective (other than as a result of the hedged item 
being de-recognised from the Balance Sheet due to sale or other reason), the adjustment relating to the terminated hedge 
relationship is amortised to the Income Statement over the period that the hedged item affects profit and loss. 

(vii) Embedded derivatives 

Certain financial instruments have derivative features embedded within them. Where the economic characteristics and risks 
of the embedded derivative are not closely related to those of the host instrument, and where changes in value of the host 
instrument are not reflected in the Income Statement, the embedded derivative is separated from the host and carried on the 
Balance Sheet at fair value, with gains and losses on the embedded derivative being recognised in the Income Statement. 
In accordance with IFRIC 9 ‘Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives’ the decision as to whether to separate and value an 
embedded derivative is reassessed when and only when the terms of the host contract are significantly modified. 

 

(i) Sale and repurchase agreements 

Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements (‘repos’) continue to be reported as they were originally classified within 
the Balance Sheet, as the risks and rewards associated with that asset have been retained. The counterparty liability is 
included in ‘amounts due to banks’. Securities purchased under agreements to resell (‘reverse repos’) are recorded as ‘cash 
at bank and in hand’.   The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of 
the agreements using the EIR method. 

(j) Impairment 

Financial assets which are not held at fair value through profit or loss are reviewed for indications of possible impairment 
throughout the period and at each published Balance Sheet date. An impairment loss is recognised if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence that a loss event (or events) has occurred after initial recognition and before the Balance Sheet date and 
has a reliably measurable impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets. 
Losses that are incurred as a result of events occurring after the Balance Sheet date are not recognised. 

(i) Financial assets held at amortised cost 

For each asset an assessment is made as to whether an impairment provision should be made on either an individual or a 
collective basis. Assets where an individual impairment assessment is made include all loans in possession or held for sale 
with a Law of Property Act ('LPA') receiver and others which management consider to be individually impaired, for example 
where a fraud has been uncovered. The carrying value of the asset at the Balance Sheet date is reduced, by applying an 
impairment allowance, to the net present value of the expected future cash flows associated with the asset, calculated at the 
asset’s original EIR. These cash flows include, where appropriate, estimated amounts recoverable by possession and sale 
of a secured property taking into account a discount on property value to reflect a forced sale. 

All assets that have been assessed as having no individual impairment are then collectively assessed for impairment, 
grouped by assets with similar characteristics. Assessment is made of impairment arising due to events which are believed 
to have occurred by the Balance Sheet date but have not yet been reported, taking into account the economic climate in the 
market. This collective impairment is reflected by reducing the carrying value by applying an impairment allowance. 

Impairment of assets is charged/credited in the Income Statement in the 'impairment on loans to customers' and 'net 
impairment release on investment securities' lines. 

For impaired loans to customers, interest is accrued for accounting purposes on the loan amount after any impairment 
adjustments, in accordance with IAS 39, using the original EIR of the loan. However, for the purposes of the amount legally 
due from the borrower, interest continues to accrue on the full outstanding balance, and it is this full balance plus full interest 
which is pursued for collection. 
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(j) Impairment (continued) 

A loan to a customer is written off and any associated impairment allowance released when and only when the property is 
sold or the account is redeemed, or in respect of unsecured loans where the collections process indicates a loan is not 
recoverable. Any subsequent proceeds are recognised on a cash basis and offset against 'impairment on loans to 
customers' in the Income Statement.   An investment security is written off and any associated impairment allowance 
released when there is strong evidence to suggest that nothing will be recovered. 

Where a property has been taken into possession, or an LPA receiver has been appointed to collect rental income on the 
property, the loan continues to be carried within 'loans to customers'. 

(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets 

Investment securities classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair value, which appropriately reflects any impairment. 
Impairment is recognised when the investment security exhibits objective evidence of impairment or is uncollectible. Such 
evidence may include: 

• Significant financial difficulty; 

• Payment defaults; 

• Renegotiation of terms due to borrower difficulty; 

• Sustained fall in credit rating or creditworthiness; 

• Significant restructuring; 

• Disappearance of an active market; 

• Significant and sustained fall in market price; or 

• Observable data indicating measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets, 
although the decrease cannot yet be identified within individual assets in the group. 

Movements in the fair value which are a reflection of impairment of the long term value of the investment security are 
charged to ‘net impairment on investment securities’ in the Income Statement. Impairment losses recognised against 
investment securities are reversed through ‘net impairment on investment securities’ in the Income Statement if the 
improvement relates to an event occurring after the initial impairment was recognised. An investment security is written off 
and any associated impairment allowance released when there is strong evidence to suggest that nothing will be recovered. 

If there is a sustained increase in the fair value of an investment security where an impairment loss has previously been 
recognised, but no improvement can be attributed to a subsequent credit event, then the increase in value may be treated as 
a revaluation and recognised through other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale reserve. 

(k) Recognition and de-recognition of assets and liabilities 

Purchases and sales of assets are accounted for once the parties are legally committed to the contract, completion is not 
subject to any material conditions and substantially all of the risks and rewards of the assets have been transferred. 

A financial liability is de-recognised only when the contractual obligation is discharged, cancelled or has expired. 
 

(l) Assets held for sale 

In accordance with IFRS 5 'Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations', assets and liabilities are 
classified as 'held for sale' if they are available for immediate sale in their present condition, they are being actively marketed 
for sale and sale is considered to be 'highly probable'. 

 

(m) Debt and equity securities in issue 

Issued securities, including capital instruments, are classified as liabilities where the contractual arrangements result in the 
issuer having an obligation to deliver either cash or another financial asset to the security holder, or to exchange financial 
instruments under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the issuer. Issued securities are classified as equity where 
they meet the definition of equity and confer a residual interest in the issuer’s assets on the holder of the securities. Issued 
securities include ordinary and preference share capital. Preference shares are classified as equity instruments where 
dividend payments and redemptions are discretionary. 

On initial recognition, debt issued is measured at its fair value net of directly attributable issue and transaction costs. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the EIR method to amortise attributable issue and transaction costs, 
premia and discounts over the life of the instrument. These costs are charged along with interest on the debt to ‘interest 
expense and similar charges’. In the Balance Sheet the carrying value of the instrument includes the amount of these 
adjustments which still remains to be charged to the Income Statement. 

Equity instruments (including share capital) are initially recognised at net proceeds, after deducting transaction costs and 
any related income tax. 
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(n) Foreign currencies 

The presentation and functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency of the Group is pounds sterling. 

Transactions which are not denominated in pounds sterling are translated into sterling at the spot rate of exchange on the 
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities which are not denominated in pounds sterling are translated into 
pounds sterling at the closing rate of exchange at the Balance Sheet date. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the restatement and settlement of such transactions are recognised in the 
Income Statement. 

 

(o) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets comprise capitalised computer software systems and licences. 

Purchased computer software licences are capitalised as intangible assets where it is probable that future benefits will flow 
to the Group. Thereafter they are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is provided on a straight line 
basis over their useful economic lives, which may be up to five years. Those which have a life expectancy at the outset of 
less than two years are not capitalised but instead their costs are charged to the Income Statement as they arise. 

Costs that are directly associated with developing identifiable computer software systems are capitalised if the criteria in IAS 
38 ‘Intangible Assets’ are satisfied; the main criteria are that the successful completion of the development project is 
reasonably certain and that the software is expected to generate future economic benefits. Each item of capitalised 
developed computer software is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation; amortisation is provided on a straight line 
basis over its estimated useful life.   Costs that do not qualify for capitalisation or are associated with maintaining software 
are charged to the Income Statement as they arise. 

Intangible assets in the course of construction are not amortised until they have been completed. The costs of financing 
intangible assets in the course of construction are not included in the costs of the assets. Intangible assets in the course of 
construction are included in the impairment test referred to below, where appropriate. 

All items of intangible assets are reviewed at each published Balance Sheet date for any indication of impairment. If there is 
indication of impairment, the carrying value is reviewed. If any impairment is identified, the asset is written down to the 
impaired value, being the higher of value in use and estimated net proceeds of sale, with the impairment being charged 
immediately to the Income Statement. In addition, the estimated useful lives are also reassessed annually, and if they are 
judged to have changed then the rate of amortisation charged in periods after the date of the change reflects the revised 
estimates. 

 

(p) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances which are highly liquid and have an original maturity of three months or less. 
 

(q) Taxation 

(i) Current tax 

The charge for taxation is based on the result for the year and takes into account taxation deferred or accelerated arising 
from temporary differences between the carrying amounts of certain items for taxation and for accounting purposes. Tax 
relating to items which are taken directly to reserves is also taken directly to reserves. 

 
(ii) Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Financial Statements. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred 
tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment, revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities including derivative contracts, provisions 
for pensions and other post-retirement benefits, and changes in accounting basis on adoption of IFRS. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these 
temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax related to fair value re-measurement of available-for-sale investments and cash flow hedges, which are 
recognised in other comprehensive income, is also recognised in other comprehensive income, and subsequently in the 
consolidated Income Statement together with the associated gain or loss. 
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(r) Retirement benefits 

The Group operates a number of retirement benefit plans for its employees, including defined contribution plans, defined 
benefit plans and post-retirement healthcare benefits. The costs of these plans are charged to the 'administrative expenses' 
line of the Income Statement and to other comprehensive income in accordance with IAS 19 'Employee Benefits' and IFRIC 
14 'IAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction'. 

A defined contribution plan is a pension arrangement where the employer pays fixed contributions into a separate fund. The 
contributions are charged to the Income Statement when employees have rendered the related services, which is generally 
in the period of contribution. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. Prepaid 
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. 

A defined benefit plan is a pension arrangement that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive 
during retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary. 

A full actuarial valuation of the Group's defined benefit sections of the existing schemes is undertaken every three years, 
with interim reviews in the intervening years; these valuations are updated at each published Balance Sheet date by 
qualified independent actuaries. For the purpose of these updates, scheme assets are included at their fair value and 
scheme liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method. The inflation assumption used 
to determine B&B's benefit obligations is CPI, and to determine NRAM's is RPI. Details of the actuarial assumptions made 
are provided in note 19. The resulting net surplus or deficit is included in full in the Balance Sheet.   A surplus on one 
scheme cannot be used to offset a deficit on another. Retirement benefit remeasurements are charged to retained earnings 
in full in the period in which they occur, and pass through other comprehensive income rather than the Income Statement. 
The Income Statement includes, for each scheme, the current service cost of providing pension benefits, the expected return 
on the scheme’s assets, net of administration costs, and the interest cost on the scheme’s liabilities. Following closure of 
the schemes, the current service cost is nil. 

Though the schemes are in surplus on an accounting basis, they are in deficit on a trustee’s funding basis. The Group is 
committed to funding plans to address these deficits. Surpluses on an accounting basis are only recognised on the Balance 
Sheet to the extent that they are recoverable through reduced contributions in the future or through refunds from the 
scheme. The Group is considering the potential impact of the IASB’s exposure draft of possible changes to IFRIC 14. 

In B&B, post-retirement healthcare benefits are accounted for in the same way as pension benefits, with the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation being carried as a liability on the Balance Sheet. NRAM does not provide post-retirement 
healthcare benefits. 

 

(s) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, as 
appropriate. Additions and subsequent expenditure are included in the asset’s carrying value or are recognised as a 
separate asset only when they improve the expected future economic benefits to be derived from the asset. All other 
expenditure is regarded as repairs and maintenance and is charged to the Income Statement in the period in which it is 
incurred. Depreciation is provided so as to write off the cost less the estimated residual value of each significant component 
of each item of property, plant and equipment over that component’s estimated useful life, as follows: 

• Freehold land is not depreciated 

• Freehold and leasehold buildings 6.7% pa on a straight line basis 

• Motor vehicles 25% pa on a reducing balance basis 

• Computer equipment 20% - 33% pa on a straight line basis 

• Fixtures and fittings 20% pa on a straight line basis 

• Other plant and equipment and major alterations to buildings 10% pa on a straight line basis or over the remaining life of 
the building if shorter. 

All items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each published Balance Sheet date for any indication of 
impairment. If there is indication of impairment, the carrying value is reviewed. If any impairment is identified, the asset is 
written down to the higher of value in use and estimated net proceeds of sale, with the impairment being charged 
immediately in the Income Statement. In addition, the estimated useful lives and estimated residual values are also 
reassessed annually, and if they are judged to have changed then the rate of depreciation charged in periods after the date 
of the change reflects the revised estimates. 

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until they have been completed and transferred to the appropriate 
category of property, plant and equipment. The costs of financing assets in the course of construction are not included in 
the costs of the assets. Assets in the course of construction are included within the impairment test referred to above where 
appropriate. 

A previously recognised impairment charge on an asset may be reversed in full or in part where a change in circumstances 
leads to a change in the estimates used to determine its recoverable amount. The carrying value of the asset will not be 
increased above the carrying value at which it would have been held had the impairment not been recognised. 
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(t) Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions are recognised when, and only when, the following criteria are all met: 

• there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; 

• it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and 

• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Provisions are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and are released if they no longer meet the above criteria. 

Provisions are discounted to net present value using rates which reflect the risks specific to the provision, if the effect of 
discounting is material. 

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence depends upon the outcome of uncertain future events or are 
present obligations where the outflows of resources are uncertain or cannot be reliably measured. Contingent liabilities are 
not recognised in the Balance Sheet but are disclosed unless they are remote. 

 

(u) Investment securities held 

Investment securities are categorised either as ‘available-for-sale’ or as ‘loans and receivables’; for each instrument, the 
Directors adopt the category which they consider to be the most appropriate. 

Investment securities categorised as available-for-sale are carried at fair value with movements in fair value, excluding 
impairment provisions, being taken to the available-for-sale reserve.   If an investment security which has been categorised 
as available-for-sale becomes impaired, the impairment is charged to the Income Statement in the ‘net impairment on 
investment securities’ line. 

Investment securities categorised as loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost less any impairment, with any 
impairment being charged to the Income Statement in the ‘net impairment on investment securities’ line. 

Where the Directors believe it appropriate to do so, investment securities which were initially categorised as ‘available-for- 
sale’ have subsequently been re-categorised to ‘loans and receivables’ in accordance with the revisions to IAS 39 issued by 
the IASB in October 2008. 

 

(v) Loan commitments 

In respect of loan commitments, a liability is recognised only if there is an onerous commitment; there were no onerous loan 
commitments in either the current or previous year. The commitment ceases to be disclosed once it is advanced or expires. 
Loan commitments comprise commitments to advance cash sums and to allow drawdown of monies previously overpaid 
(where the terms of the loan specifically allow). In respect of monthly drawdown products, the commitment reflects an 
estimate of the future drawdowns to redemption. 

 

(w) Lifetime mortgages 

The Group has a portfolio of lifetime (equity release) mortgage loans secured on residential property. Under the terms of 
these loans, when the borrower dies or goes into long term care the property is sold and the proceeds used to redeem the 
loan. Where the sale proceeds are less than the contractual sum owed the Group does not have any further ability to 
recover amounts from the borrower or the estate. The loans are carried within residential loans to customers. The Group 
accounts for lifetime loans in accordance with IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ as they are considered to meet the definition of 
an insurance contract ie that the Group has accepted the risk of negative equity arising on the loans. The loan assets are 
measured at the balance due from the customer, and as required by IFRS 4 the carrying amount is reduced by a provision 
for insurance risk. The loans are not unbundled between a deposit component and an insurance component as the net 
carrying amount appropriately reflects the value of the insurance risk. The insurance provision is calculated as the net 
present value of future estimated losses arising as a result of shortfalls of sale proceeds compared to outstanding balances. 
All income arising on the loans is accounted for as interest, with no element of the income being accounted for as insurance 
premium, and is recognised in line with interest on other loans to customers. 

 
 

 

On 29 April 2016 NRAM Limited acquired NRAM plc from UKAR by way of a share-for-share exchange, NRAM Limited 
issuing the same number and class of shares as were acquired from UKAR.   On 30 April 2016 NRAM plc declared a 
dividend of £3,787.4m to NRAM Limited and paid the dividend in specie, using mortgage loans.   Also on 30 April 2016 
NRAM plc transferred certain assets and liabilities to NRAM Limited, including NRAM plc’s investments in subsidiary 
undertakings. On 5 May 2016 NRAM Limited sold 100% of the shares in NRAM plc to Cerberus for cash, generating an 
accounting profit of £51.0m. 

NRAM Limited’s acquisition of the shares in NRAM plc and the transfer of assets and liabilities to NRAM Limited have been 
accounted for as transactions between entities under common control and predecessor accounting principles have been 
applied in the financial statements of NRAM Limited. The transaction has been accounted for in the UKAR Group Financial 
Statements following similar principles with an amount being transferred to a merger reserve reflecting the dividend in 
specie. 
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3. Critical judgements and accounting estimates 

 

 
 

This change in presentation of reserves has been treated as a restatement of the prior year reserves. The UKAR Group 
merger reserve was increased by a transfer from retained earnings of £3,787.4m being equal to the NRAM plc pre-sale 
dividend in specie. This reserve is being transferred to retained earnings following the sale of the shares in NRAM plc and 
as the mortgage loans which were used to pay the dividend are paid down in cash. 

 
 

 

In preparing the Financial Statements, management are required to make a series of judgements and estimates. 
Judgements involve an interpretation of requirements to decide how to allocate, value or recognise an item. Estimates arise 
from using assumptions which result in a range of possible outcomes. The most important judgements and estimates used 
in preparing these Financial Statements are described below. 

 

(a) Date of recognition of sale of loans 

As detailed in note 14, on 31 March 2017 UKAR announced that following an open and competitive process B&B had 
agreed to sell two separate asset portfolios comprising performing buy-to-let loans for a total of £11.8bn to Prudential and to 
funds managed by Blackstone. The contracts for sale were signed on 30 March 2017. Financial completion, including 
receipt of the balance of the sale proceeds, occurred on 25 April 2017. The sale was recognised at the point of contract 
signature for the following reasons: 

• contract signature committed all parties to the deal; 

• the risks and rewards of the loans had passed to the buyers; 

• between contract signing and financial completion B&B was to continue to collect the cash flows arising on the loans 
and to hold this cash within its cash and cash equivalents - B&B was contractually obliged to pass the accumulated 
flows to the buyers at financial completion, which was not considered to be a material delay; 

• in the judgement of the Directors, at the point of contract signature although there remained conditions which were to 
be satisfied, the probability that the sale would not proceed to successful financial completion in accordance with the 
contractually agreed terms was remote. 

At the point of contract signature the best estimate was recognised in respect of the amount of the sale proceeds and of the 
loss on sale.   In the Financial Statements for the year to 31 March 2017 these amounts have been adjusted to reflect the 
final proceeds as determined on financial completion in April; this adjustment is considered to be an adjusting event as 
defined by IAS 10 ‘Events after the Reporting Period’. 

 

(b) Impairment losses on loans 

The Group reviews its loan impairment on a monthly basis and assesses individual impairment losses by reference to an 
individual review of the underlying asset and utilises actual loss experience to provide both probabilities of defaults and 
property forced sale discounts across a portfolio of products. Collective impairment losses on loans are calculated using a 
statistical model. The key assumptions used in this model are the probability of any balance entering into default as a result 
of an event that had occurred prior to the Balance Sheet date, the probability of this default resulting in possession or write- 
off, and the estimated subsequent loss incurred. These key assumptions are based on observed data trends and are 
updated on a regular basis within agreed methodology to ensure the impairment allowance is entirely representative of the 
current portfolio. The accuracy of the impairment calculation would, therefore, be affected by unanticipated changes to the 
economic situation and assumptions which differ from actual outcomes. To the extent that house prices were to change by 
+/- 10%, the residential impairment allowance would be an estimated £28.9m lower (2016: £39.7m) or £35.0m higher (2016: 
£47.3m) respectively. Further information in respect of the sensitivity of insurance provisions is provided in note 15. 

 

(c) Provisions 

Provisions are carried in respect of certain known or forecast future payments, as described in note 26. Where the future 
payment amount is unknown, provisions are set at a level which covers the estimated number of future payments and the 
estimated average payment amount. Provisions are calculated using the best available information but the actual future 
outcomes of items provided for may differ from expectations. 

An additional provision of £49.2m has been recognised following the publication of the FCA’s Policy Statement PS17/3 
'Payment protection insurance complaints: feedback on CP16/10 and final rules and guidance', which sets a deadline date 
for complaints at 29 August 2019 and confirms the approach in relation to Plevin. The rules and guidance include an FCA- 
led communications campaign to raise awareness of the deadline and the requirement to proactively contact previously 
rejected mis-selling complainants who are eligible to complain again in the light of Plevin. Reflecting heightened awareness 
of a potential PPI deadline, actual claims volumes received during the year have been higher than previously modelled, 
which combined with the final proposals is expected to lead to higher claims volumes throughout the period to 29 August 
2019 than previously assumed. 
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(d) Retirement benefit obligations 

Liabilities in respect of the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes are carried on the Balance Sheet at values calculated 
in accordance with IAS 19. In conjunction with the Group’s actuaries, assumptions are adopted which have impacts on the 
calculated value of the liabilities and also on the amounts charged or credited to the Income Statement. The sensitivities of 
the liability values to key assumptions are disclosed in note 19. 

 

(e) Fair value calculations 

For the majority of instruments carried at fair value, fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices or lead 
manager prices. Where these are not available, fair value is calculated using discounted cash flows, applying independently 
sourced market parameters including interest rates and currency rates. Other factors are also considered, such as 
counterparty credit quality and liquidity. Management must use judgement to arrive at estimates where not all necessary 
data can be externally sourced or where factors specific to the Group’s holdings need to be considered. The accuracy of the 
fair value calculations may, therefore, be affected by unexpected market movements or variations in actual outcomes when 
compared to estimates and assumptions used for modelling purposes. For example, if management were to use a 
tightening in the credit spread of 10 basis points, the fair value of derivatives would increase from the reported fair values by 
£19.1m (2016: £20.4m increase). 

 
 

4. Net interest income  

  

12 months to 
31 March 2017 

£m 

 
12 months to 

31 March 2016 
£m 

Interest receivable and similar income   

On secured loans 945.5 1,495.0 
On other lending 21.6 44.6 
On investment securities and deposits 26.8 33.1 

Total interest receivable and similar income 993.9 1,572.7 

 
Interest expense and similar charges 

  

On amounts due to banks and HM Treasury (201.3) (310.3) 

State guarantee fee* (2.6) (28.0) 

On debt securities and other (20.8) (124.8) 

Total interest expense and similar charges (224.7) (463.1) 
   

Net interest income 769.2 1,109.6 

 
Average balances 

  

Interest-earning assets ('IEA') 36,344 52,850 

Financed by: 
  

- interest-bearing funding 9,936 26,886 

- interest-free funding** 26,408 25,964 

Average rates: % % 
- gross yield on IEA 2.73 2.98 
- cost of interest-bearing funding** (2.26) (1.62) 

Interest spread 0.47 1.36 
State guarantee fee* (0.01) (0.05) 
Contribution of interest-free funding** 1.66 0.79 

Net interest margin on average IEA 2.12 2.10 

 
Average Bank Base Rate 

 
0.34 

 
0.50 

Average 1-month LIBOR 0.34 0.51 
Average 3-month LIBOR 0.44 0.58 

 

* At the time of the nationalisation of B&B, HM Treasury provided guarantees with regard to certain wholesale borrowings and derivative transactions 
existing at that time. The amount of this fee is dependent on balances outstanding and hence it is included within 'interest expense and similar 
charges'. The cost of interest-bearing funding is shown excluding this state guarantee fee. At the time of the nationalisation of NRAM plc, HM 
Treasury provided a guarantee with regard to certain wholesale borrowings and derivative transactions existing at that time.   A similar guarantee 
has been provided to NRAM Limited since 30 April 2016. The amount of this fee is not dependent on balances outstanding and hence it is included 
within 'fee and commission expense'. 

** Interest-free funding is calculated as an average over the financial period and includes the Statutory Debt and share capital and reserves. 
 

Total interest receivable and similar income includes interest accrued on individually impaired assets of £9.8m (2016: 

£11.2m). 

3. Critical judgements and accounting estimates (continued) 
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Net realised gains less losses on investment securities recognised in the Income Statement comprised the following: 
 

 12 months to 
31 March 2017 

£m 

12 months to 
31 March 2016 

£m 

Net realised gains on available-for-sale instruments 14.4 7.7 
Net realised gains on instruments at amortised cost 4.3 7.8 

Total net realised gains on investment securities 18.7 15.5 

 
 

6. Unrealised fair value movements on financial instruments and hedge ineffectiveness  

 
12 months to 

 
12 months to 

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
£m £m 

Net loss in fair value: 
- translation losses on underlying instruments (1.2) 

 
(55.5) 

- fair value movements on derivatives which are economic hedges but are not in 
hedge accounting relationships (3.1) 

 
53.2 

Unrealised fair value movements (4.3) (2.3) 

Net gains on fair value hedging instruments 32.1 
 

41.5 
Net losses on fair value hedged items attributable to hedged risk (36.2) (62.8) 
Ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges (3.9) (7.3) 

Net hedge ineffectiveness losses (8.0) (28.6) 

Total (12.3) (30.9) 

  

7. Administrative expenses  

 
B&B provides services to NRAM, UKAR and UKARcs.   NRAM, UKAR and UKARcs had no direct employees during the 
years presented. As announced on 4 May 2016, during the year B&B’s mortgage servicing operations were transferred to 
Computershare, along with some 1,700 employees. This is reflected in the increase in outsourced and professional services 
costs and corresponding decreases in staff, IT, depreciation and other costs. The monthly average number of persons 
employed by B&B during the year was as follows: 

 

 12 months to 
31 March 2017 

Number 

12 months to 
31 March 2016 

Number 

Average headcount:   

Full time 399 1,580 
Part time 78 412 

Total employed 477 1,992 

Total average full time equivalent 456 1,869 

 
The full time equivalent is based on the average hours worked by employees in the 

 
year. 

 

The number of persons employed by B&B at the end of the year was as follows: 
  

 31 March 2017 
Number 

31 March 2016 
Number 

Full time 160 1,517 
Part time 15 395 

Total employed 175 1,912 

Total full time equivalent headcount 173 1,793 

Staff numbers include Executive but not Non-Executive Directors. 

In addition to the permanent staff above, the Group had engaged a full time equivalent of 15 temporary staff and specialist 

contractors at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: 296). 

5. Net realised gains less losses on investment securities 
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7. Administrative expenses (continued)  

  
12 months to 

 
12 months to 

 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
 £m £m 

The Group's aggregate costs of permanent staff were as follows:   

Wages and salaries 19.3 59.1 
Social security costs 2.2 5.8 
Defined benefit pension costs (see note 19) (17.3) (7.8) 
Defined contribution pension costs (see note 19) 1.3 4.1 
Other retirement benefit costs (see note 19) 0.3 0.4 

Total staff costs 5.8 61.6 
IT costs 17.4 43.2 
Outsourced and professional services 117.8 16.8 
Depreciation and amortisation (see notes 20 and 21) 6.3 22.2 
Other administrative expenses 20.2 36.6 

Ongoing administrative expenses 167.5 180.4 
Other net administrative expenses:   

- Transformation costs - 73.4 

Total administrative expenses 167.5 253.8 
 

The transformation costs of £73.4m incurred in 2015/16 related to the outsourcing of mortgage servicing to Computershare. 

 
Exit packages 

No exit packages were paid in respect of Directors in the current or prior year. 

For other employees, redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the Group’s policies and 

with legal requirements. 

Exit costs are provided for in accordance with IAS 37 when there is a present obligation and it is probable that an exit 

payment will be made. 

 
Exit package cost band   12 months to 31 March 2017 

 Number of Number of Number of other Total number of 

 compulsory 
redundancies 

voluntary 
redundancies 

departures exit packages by 
agreed cost band 

 
< £10,000 

 
2 

 
- 

 
- 2 

£10,001 - £25,000 5 - 1 6 
£25,001 - £50,000 2 - - 2 
£50,001 - £100,000 3 - - 3 
£100,001 - £150,000 2 - 1 3 
£150,001 - £200,000 1 - - 1 

Total number of exit packages 15 - 2 17 

 
Total cost (£’000) 

 
785 

 
- 

 
163 948 

 

Exit package cost band 

   

12 months to 31 March 2016 
 Number of Number of Number of other Total number of 

 compulsory 
redundancies 

voluntary 
redundancies 

departures exit packages by 
agreed  cost band 

 
< £10,000 

 
6 

 
7 

 
1 14 

£10,001 - £25,000 2 40 1 43 
£25,001 - £50,000 3 23 2 28 
£50,001 - £100,000 1 6 - 7 
£100,001 - £150,000 - - - - 
£150,001 - £200,000 - - - - 

Total number of exit packages 12 76 4 92 

 
Total cost (£’000) 

 
225 

 
1,930 

 
102 2,257 
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8. Insurance claim 

 

7. Administrative expenses (continued)  

 
Auditor’s remuneration 

  

The following costs are included within administrative expenses:   

 12 months to 
31 March 2017 

£m 

12 months to 
31 March 2016 

£m 

Fees payable to the parent’s auditor and its associates in respect of the parent 
Company’s individual and consolidated Financial Statements 

 
0.1 

 
0.1 

Fees payable to Company auditor and their associates for other services: 
- the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 

 
0.5 

 
0.7 

- audit-related assurance services 0.1 0.7 

Total 0.7 1.5 
 

The amounts shown in the above analysis are exclusive of VAT. 

The National Audit Office succeeded PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Group’s auditor following the 2015-16 financial 
year. Hence the 2016-17 figures in the above table relate to the National Audit Office and the 2015-16 figures to 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. 

No separate disclosure has been provided of fees payable in respect of the Company as the consolidated Financial 
Statements are required to disclose these fees on a consolidated basis, as shown in the above table. 

 
 

 

In 2013 NRAM plc submitted a claim in respect of CCA remediation payments. Under the terms of the sale of the shares in 
NRAM plc (now Landmark Mortgages Limited) to Cerberus on 5 May 2016 any proceeds of this claim were payable to 
NRAM Limited. The £50.0m claim was settled in cash during the year to 31 March 2017. 

 
 

9. Loss on repurchase of own liabilities  

  

12 months to 
31 March 2017 

£m 

 

12 months to 
31 March 2016 

£m 

Principal amount of instruments repurchased - 4,644.8 

Amount paid to repurchase instruments - (5,281.7) 
Other net gains resulting from the repurchase - 618.7 

Loss on repurchase - (18.2) 

 

During 2015/16 certain Covered Bonds were repurchased. These acquisitions reduced ongoing funding costs and simplified 
the Balance Sheet. The other net gains principally comprised accrued interest and hedge accounting adjustments. 
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10. Taxation  

 

The tax charge for the year comprises: 

12 months to 
31 March 2017 

£m 

 

12 months to 
31 March 2016 

£m 

Current tax: 
- on profit for the year 

 
(55.0) 

 
(250.4) 

- adjustments in respect of prior periods 5.0 10.1 

Total current tax (50.0) (240.3) 

 

Deferred tax (see note 17): 
- origination and reversal of temporary differences 

 

(11.2) 

 
 

(17.3) 

Total deferred tax (11.2) (17.3) 

Total taxation charge per the Income Statement (61.2) (257.6) 

 
 
The following tax amounts have been (charged)/credited to equity: 

 
12 months to 

31 March 2017 
£m 

 
12 months to 

31 March 2016 
£m 

Current tax: 
- relating to available-for-sale investments 

 
(4.0) 

 
(7.1) 

Deferred tax: 
- relating to cash flow hedge reserve 

 
(2.6) 

 
62.1 

- relating to available-for-sale investments (0.4) - 
- relating to retirement benefit remeasurements 26.7 (38.1) 

Net credit to equity 19.7 16.9 

 
There was no foreign tax charged in the year (2016: £nil). 

  

 

The tax charge on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the standard 
weighted average rate of UK corporation tax of 20% (2016: 20%) as follows: 

 

 12 months to 
31 March 2017 

£m 

12 months to 
31 March 2016 

£m 

Profit before taxation 346.9 1,175.8 

 
Tax calculated at rate of 20% (2016: 20%) 

 
(69.4) 

 
(235.2) 

Effects of: 
- income not taxable and expenses not deductible for tax purposes 

 
3.1 

 
(31.2) 

- adjustments in respect of prior periods 5.1 8.8 

Total taxation charge for the year (61.2) (257.6) 

 

Taxation appropriately reflects changes in tax rates which had been substantively enacted by 31 March 2017. 
 

The effective tax rate has largely been impacted as a result of the exemption from tax on the sale of shares exceeding those 
expenses which are disallowable for tax purposes and the release of prior year provisions. 

 
 

11. Cash at bank and in hand  

 
31 March 2017 

£m 

 

31 March 2016 
£m 

 
Balances with the Bank of England 

 
364.5 

 
1,306.7 

Balances with the Government Banking Service 1,200.2 2,500.5 
Balances with other banks 548.0 1,791.1 

Total 2,112.7 5,598.3 

 

Balances with the Bank of England and the Government Banking Service earn interest at rates linked to Bank Base Rate. 



Notes to the Financial Statements Annual Report & Accounts 2017 

107 

 

 

 

12. Investment securities  

  

31 March 2017 
£m 

 

31 March 2016 
£m 

 
Available-for-sale securities 

 
22.4 

 
51.0 

Investment securities held as loans and receivables 260.0 301.8 
Unsecured investment loans - - 

Total 282.4 352.8 
 

In the Balance Sheet the carrying values of impaired assets are presented net of the impairment allowances shown in note 

13. 

Net impairment release on investment securities for the year comprised: 
 12 months to 

31 March 2017 
£m 

12 months to 
31 March 2016 

£m 

 
Net impairment reversals on available-for-sale securities 

 
4.7 

 
1.6 

Net impairment reversals on investment securities held as loans and receivables 
and unsecured investment loans 

 
1.4 

 
5.6 

Total net impairment release 6.1 7.2 

 

(a) Available-for-sale securities 

 

31 March 2017 
£m 

 

31 March 2016 
£m 

 

At fair value: 
Listed 

 

22.4 

 
 

51.0 
Unlisted - - 

Total 22.4 51.0 

 
The movement in available-for-sale securities was as follows: 

 
 

12 months to 

 
 

12 months to 

 31 March 2017 
£m 

31 March 2016 
£m 

 
At start of year 

 
51.0 

 
158.1 

Disposals (sales and redemptions) (43.2) (113.8) 
Exchange differences 2.4 6.9 
Net gains/(losses) on changes in fair value 6.1 (7.4) 
Impairment 6.1 7.2 

At end of year 22.4 51.0 

 

(b) Investment securities held as loans and receivables 

 

31 March 2017 

 

31 March 2016 
 £m £m 

 
Carrying value 

 
260.0 

 
301.8 

Fair value 258.4 283.5 

 
Listed 

 
253.0 

 
293.6 

Unlisted 7.0 8.2 

Total 260.0 301.8 

 

Note 33(a) provides further information regarding investment securities which have been reclassified as loans and 
receivables. 

 

(c) Unsecured investment loans 31 March 2017 
£m 

31 March 2016 
£m 

 
Carrying value 

 
- 

 
- 

Fair value - 19.6 

 
These unsecured investment loans were listed and were fully impaired; all were disposed of during the year. 
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The assets in the following tables are of a wholesale nature as opposed to individual customer assets. The credit and 
concentration risk characteristics of these portfolios should, therefore, be considered together. 

 
 31 March 2017 

£m 
31 March 2016 

£m 

 
Balances with the Bank of England (see note 11) 

 
364.5 

 
1,306.7 

Balances with the Government Banking Service (see note 11) 1,200.2 2,500.5 
Balances with other banks (see note 11) 548.0 1,791.1 
Investment securities (see note 12) 282.4 352.8 

Total 2,395.1 5,951.1 

 
The Group had no collateral or other credit enhancements in respect of these assets. 

  

(a) Credit risk 
  

Impairment is set out in the table below:   

 
  Balances   Investment   

Balances 
with the 

with the 
Government 

 
Balances 

 
Available- 

securities 
held as loans 

 
Unsecured 

Bank of Banking with other for-sale and investment 

At 31 March 2017 England Service banks securities receivables loans Total 
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

 

Neither past due nor 
impaired 

 

364.5 

 

1,200.2 

 

548.0 

 

2.5 

 

250.6 

 

- 

 

2,365.8 
Impaired - - - 170.6 73.5 - 244.1 
 364.5 1,200.2 548.0 173.1 324.1 - 2,609.9 
Provisions - - - (150.7) (64.1) - (214.8) 

Total 364.5 1,200.2 548.0 22.4 260.0 - 2,395.1 

  
 

Balances 

 

Balances 
with the 

   

Investment 
securities 

 with the Government Balances Available- held as loans Unsecured 

At 31 March 2016 
Bank of 
England 

£m 

Banking 
Service 

£m 

with other 
banks 

£m 

for-sale 
securities 

£m 

and investment 
receivables loans Total 

£m £m £m 

 
Neither past due nor 

     

impaired 1,306.7 2,500.5 1,791.1 3.6 291.8 - 5,893.7 
Impaired - - - 245.2 52.2 90.4 387.8 
 1,306.7 2,500.5 1,791.1 248.8 344.0 90.4 6,281.5 
Provisions - - - (197.8) (42.2) (90.4) (330.4) 

Total 1,306.7 2,500.5 1,791.1 51.0 301.8 - 5,951.1 

 

The credit quality of wholesale assets by reference to credit ratings is set out in the table below: 
 

 

At 31 March 2017 
 

£m 

 

AAA 
% 

 

AA 
% 

 

A 
% 

BBB to 
B 
% 

CCC and 
below 

% 

 
Balances with the Bank of England 

 
364.5 

 
- 

 
100 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Balances with the Government Banking Service 1,200.2 - 100 - - - 

Balances with other banks 548.0 - 23 16 61 - 

Investment securities: 
- available-for-sale securities 

 
22.4 

 
- 

 
3 

 
26 

 
8 

 
63 

- investment securities held as loans and receivables 260.0 11 14 39 31 5 

Total investment securities 282.4 10 13 38 30 9 

Total 2,395.1 1 73 8 17 1 

13. Wholesale assets 
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13. Wholesale assets (continued)       

 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
      

 
At 31 March 2016 

  
AAA 

 
AA 

 
A 

 
BBB to B 

CCC and 
below 

 £m % % % % % 

 
Balances with the Bank of England 

 
1,306.7 

 
- 

 
100 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Balances with the Government Banking Service 2,500.5 - 100 - - - 

Balances with other banks 1,791.1 - 73 6 21 - 

Investment securities: 
- available-for-sale securities 

 
51.0 

 
- 

 
3 

 
53 

 
4 

 
40 

- investment securities held as loans and receivables 301.8 10 18 36 32 4 

Total investment securities 352.8 8 16 39 28 9 

Total 5,951.1 1 87 4 7 1 

 
 

(b) Concentration risk 

Wholesale assets are analysed by geographical region at their carrying amounts in the table below: 
 

Other 
At 31 March 2017 UK 

£m 
Europe 

£m 
US 
£m 

countries 
£m 

Total 
£m 

 
Balances with the Bank of England 

 
364.5 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
364.5 

Balances with the Government Banking Service 1,200.2 - - - 1,200.2 
Balances with other banks 547.0 - 1.0 - 548.0 

Investment securities: 
- available-for-sale securities 

 
7.7 

 
8.5 

 
3.7 

 
2.5 

 
22.4 

- investment securities held as loans and receivables 170.1 67.2 12.1 10.6 260.0 

Total investment securities 177.8 75.7 15.8 13.1 282.4 

Total 2,289.5 75.7 16.8 13.1 2,395.1 

     

Other 
 

At 31 March 2016 UK Europe US countries Total 
 £m £m £m £m £m 

 
Balances with the Bank of England 

 
1,306.7 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
1,306.7 

Balances with the Government Banking Service 2,500.5 - - - 2,500.5 
Balances with other banks 1,764.7 25.8 0.6 - 1,791.1 
Investment securities:      

- available-for-sale securities 30.8 10.3 5.9 4.0 51.0 
- investment securities held as loans and receivables 183.0 91.8 14.9 12.1 301.8 

Total investment securities 213.8 102.1 20.8 16.1 352.8 

Total 5,785.7 127.9 21.4 16.1 5,951.1 

 

At 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 the Group held no investment securities issued by the governments of Portugal, the 
Republic of Ireland, Italy, Greece or Spain. 
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14. Loans to customers  

  
31 March 2017 

£m 

 
31 March 2016 

£m 

 
Residential mortgages 

 
18,887.7 

 
34,700.3 

Commercial loans 257.3 440.5 

Total secured loans 19,145.0 35,140.8 

Unsecured loans 317.8 391.8 

Total 19,462.8 35,532.6 
 

Residential mortgages include all of the Group's buy-to-let loans. Commercial loans comprise loans secured on commercial 
properties. The 'Together' product, previously offered by NRAM, combines a secured and unsecured loan all at one interest 
rate. Outstanding secured balances in respect of this product are included within total residential mortgages while 
outstanding unsecured balances are included within unsecured loans. 

All of the Group's loans to customers are to UK customers. 

Balances include accounting adjustments in respect of provisioning requirements. 

Residential mortgages include all of the Group’s lifetime (equity release) loans. Each loan comprised a lump sum advanced 
at the outset on which interest accrues at a fixed interest rate. Under the terms of these loans, when the borrower dies or 
goes into long term care the property is sold and the proceeds used to redeem the loan. Where the sale proceeds are less 
than the contractual sum owed the Group does not have any further ability to recover amounts from the borrower or the 
estate. The carrying amount of the lifetime loans at 31 March 2017 was £887.8m (2016: £895.7m) against which a provision 
for insurance risk was carried of £130.3m (2016: £111.1m) (see note 15). The interest income on the loans for the year was 
£58.8m (2015-16: £59.2m). 

At 31 March 2016 loans to customers included loans amounting to £15,173.2m which had been sold to bankruptcy-remote 
SPVs whereby substantially all of the risks and rewards of the portfolio were retained by the Group. Accordingly, all of these 
loans were retained on the Group's Balance Sheet. Further details are provided in note 24. 

Fair value adjustments on portfolio hedging amounting to £454.6m (2016: £436.6m) relate to interest rate derivatives 
designated in a fair value portfolio hedge relationship. 

Loans to customers and redemptions comprise the following product types: 

 
 Balances  Redemptions Balances  Redemptions 

At 31 Mar 
2017 

£m 

 
 

% 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2017 

£m 

At 31 Mar 
2016 

£m 

 
 

% 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2016 

£m 

Residential mortgages       

Buy-to-let 6,308.6 33 (1,630.7) 19,839.4 57 (1,724.8) 

Self Cert 4,536.5 24 (438.3) 5,040.8 15 (497.1) 

Together 2,824.0 15 (552.2) 3,479.9 10 (1,271.8) 

Standard and other 5,218.6 28 (678.4) 6,340.2 18 (1,468.2) 

Total residential mortgages 18,887.7 100 (3,299.6) 34,700.3 100 (4,961.9) 

Residential loans 18,887.7 97 (3,299.6) 34,700.3 98 (4,961.9) 

Commercial loans 257.3 1 (175.9) 440.5 1 (75.3) 

Total secured loans 19,145.0 98 (3,475.5) 35,140.8 99 (5,037.2) 

Unsecured loans 317.8 2 (39.3) 391.8 1 (95.2) 

Total 19,462.8 100 (3,514.8) 35,532.6 100 (5,132.4) 

 

Redemptions comprise full redemptions, voluntary partial redemptions and cash receipts from possessions but exclude 
overpayments, regular monthly payments and asset sales. 

At 31 March 2017 56% (2016: 54%) of the Group's residential mortgage accounts (excluding buy-to-let) held by 53,829 
(2016: 65,172) customers were 'interest only' with 75% (2016: 74%) of these having more than ten years until maturity. 

On 13 November 2015 UKAR announced that NRAM plc had agreed to sell a £13bn asset portfolio to affiliates of Cerberus, 
which included £12bn of mortgages from the Granite securitisation structure. The sale of these Granite loans generated a 
profit of £59.4m before tax recognised in December 2015 when the beneficial interest of the loans transferred to Cerberus. 
During the year ended 31 March 2016 NRAM plc also released £3.4m of warranty provisions relating to sales in earlier 
periods, as these provisions were no longer required. 

As detailed in note 2, the sale to Cerberus was completed by the sale by NRAM Limited of its shareholding in NRAM plc in 
May 2016, which generated a profit of £51.0m. This profit has been treated as a profit on sale of the loans which were 
retained by NRAM plc. 
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15. Impairment on loans to customers 

 

 
 

On 31 March 2017 UKAR announced that following an open and competitive process B&B had agreed to sell two separate 
asset portfolios comprising performing buy-to-let loans for a total of £11.8bn to Prudential and to funds managed by 
Blackstone. The sale of these loans generated a loss before tax of £384.7m recognised on 30 March 2017 on signature of 
the sale contracts. This loss reflects the low interest rates payable on the loans. At 31 March 2017 £11,483.9m of the sale 
proceeds were owed to B&B including an adjustment for cashflows on the portfolio prior to settlement. As disclosed in note 
37 financial completion occurred on 25 April 2017; on 26 April 2017 the proceeds were used to repay £10,976.6m of the 
Statutory Debt owed to the FSCS and £440.7m of the WCF. During the year B&B also released £1.3m of provisions relating 
to sales in earlier periods, as these were no longer required. 

The net loss on sale of loans of £332.4m in the year comprised the loss of £384.7m in respect of the March 2017 sale by 
B&B, partly offset by the profit of £51.0m in respect of the May 2016 sale by NRAM and £1.3m release of provisions. 

 
 

 

Allowances for credit losses against loans to customers have been made as follows: 

On residential On commercial On unsecured 
 mortgages 

£m 

loans 

£m 

loans 

£m 

Total 

£m 

At 1 April 2016 663.4 85.4 96.2 845.0 

Movements during the year:     

- write-offs (64.3) (76.4) (6.3) (147.0) 

- loan impairment (credit)/charge (29.1) 3.3 (13.9) (39.7) 

- sale of loan book (8.9) - (1.1) (10.0) 

Net movements during the year (102.3) (73.1) (21.3) (196.7) 

At 31 March 2017 561.1 12.3 74.9 648.3 

The Income Statement (credit)/charge comprises: 
- loan impairment (credit)/charge 

 

(29.1) 
 

3.3 
 

(13.9) 
 

(39.7) 

- recoveries net of costs (24.2) (4.0) - (28.2) 

Total Income Statement credit (53.3) (0.7) (13.9) (67.9) 

 
On residential On commercial On unsecured 

 mortgages 

£m 

loans 

£m 

loans 

£m 

Total 

£m 

At 1 April 2015 888.0 76.7 205.1 1,169.8 

Movements during the year:     

- write-offs (95.3) (3.9) (16.5) (115.7) 

- loan impairment (credit)/charge (44.4) 12.6 1.5 (30.3) 

- sale of loan book (84.9) - (93.9) (178.8) 

Net movements during the year (224.6) 8.7 (108.9) (324.8) 

At 31 March 2016 663.4 85.4 96.2 845.0 

The Income Statement (credit)/charge comprises: 
- loan impairment (credit)/charge 

 
(44.4) 

 
12.6 

 
1.5 

 
(30.3) 

- recoveries net of costs (44.3) (3.0) - (47.3) 

Total Income Statement (credit)/charge (88.7) 9.6 1.5 (77.6) 
 

As detailed in note 14, residential mortgages include lifetime (equity release) loans. The Group is exposed to the risk of 
negative equity on these loans. A provision for insurance risk, calculated in accordance with IFRS 4, is carried within the 
above allowance for credit losses on residential mortgages. The balance of the provision at 31 March 2017 was £130.3m 
(2016: £111.1m) and the loan impairment charge for the year included £19.9m (2015-16: £13.7m) in respect of adjustments 
to this provision balance. £0.7m of the provision was utilised during the year (2015-16: £0.4m).   The expected value of 
future losses arising on the Lifetime book is sensitive to the assumed level of future house price inflation ('HPI') and the 
assumed discount to HPI to reflect the Lifetime product. Future HPI has been assumed to be at a constant rate of 3.26%pa. 
If actual future HPI were to be at a rate of 2.26%pa then future losses would be £50.9m higher than has been provided for; if 
actual future HPI were to be at a rate of 4.26%pa then future losses would be £47.0m lower than has been provided for. If 
discount to HPI were to increase by 1% then future losses would be £6.4m higher than has been provided for. If discount to 
HPI were to decrease by 1% then future losses would be £6.2m lower than has been provided for. The provision for losses 
on the Lifetime book is not materially sensitive to mortality assumptions, which are based on National Life Tables issued by 
the Office for National Statistics. 

14. Loans to customers (continued) 
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In respect of loans to residential customers, the Group holds collateral in the form of mortgages over residential properties. 
The fair value of this collateral was as follows: 

 

 31 March 2017 

£m 

31 March 2016 

£m 

Neither past due nor impaired 29,947.0 54,997.6 

Past due but not impaired 1,497.4 2,296.8 

Impaired 377.1 433.6 

Total 31,821.5 57,728.0 

 
If the collateral amount on each individual loan were capped at the amount of the balance outstanding and any surplus of 
collateral values over balances outstanding ignored, the fair value of collateral held would be as follows: 

 
 31 March 2017 

£m 

31 March 2016 

£m 

Neither past due nor impaired 18,071.7 33,274.2 

Past due but not impaired 988.1 1,581.3 

Impaired 279.6 335.9 

Total 19,339.4 35,191.4 

The impaired balances above include the following carrying amount of assets in 
possession capped at the balance outstanding 

 
57.4 

 
59.3 

 
The fair value of the collateral is estimated by taking the most recent valuation of the property and adjusting for house price 
inflation or deflation up to the Balance Sheet date. 

 
The indexed loan to value ('LTV') of residential loan balances, weighted by loan balance, falls into the following ranges: 

 

 31 March 2017 

% 

31 March 2016 

% 

To 50% 12.7 13.3 

50% to 75% 46.8 43.3 

75% to 100% 36.7 39.3 

Over 100% 3.8 4.1 

Total 100.0 100.0 

 

The average indexed LTV based on a simple average is 61.1% (31 March 2016: 61.3%) and on a weighted average is 

67.7% (31 March 2016: 71.1%). 

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

 Residential C 
mortgages 

£m 

ommercial U 
loans 

£m 

nsecured 
loans 

£m 

Total 

£m 

Residential Co 
mortgages 

£m 

mmercial U 
loans 

£m 

nsecured 
loans 

£m 

Total 

£m 

Neither past due nor         

impaired 18,150.5 245.9 322.1 18,718.5 33,401.6 329.4 397.9 34,128.9 

Past due but not impaired:         

- less than 3 months 571.3 - 10.8 582.1 981.2 - 15.4 996.6 

- 3 to 6 months 255.1 - 4.1 259.2 364.3 - 5.7 370.0 

- over 6 months 168.4 - 47.8 216.2 252.7 - 59.1 311.8 

Impaired 303.5 23.7 7.9 335.1 363.9 196.5 9.9 570.3 
 19,448.8 269.6 392.7 20,111.1 35,363.7 525.9 488.0 36,377.6 

Impairment allowances (561.1) (12.3) (74.9) (648.3) (663.4) (85.4) (96.2) (845.0) 

Loans to customers net         

of impairment         

allowances 18,887.7 257.3 317.8 19,462.8 34,700.3 440.5 391.8 35,532.6 

Impairment allowances: 
- individual 

 

45.4 
 

12.3 
 

19.1 
 

76.8 
 

59.5 
 

85.4 
 

21.9 
 

166.8 

- collective 515.7 - 55.8 571.5 603.9 - 74.3 678.2 

Total impairment         

allowances 561.1 12.3 74.9 648.3 663.4 85.4 96.2 845.0 

16. Credit quality of loans to customers 
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The above table includes balances within 'neither past due nor impaired' which would have been shown as past due or 
impaired other than due to renegotiation; these were loans where arrears were capitalised during the previous 12 months. 
These loans amounted to £0.8m (2016: £1.4m). A loan is eligible for capitalisation of arrears only once the borrower has 
complied with stringent terms for a set period. 

 
Arrears and possessions on residential mortgages and unsecured loans 

 
Arrears and possessions are monitored for the Group as a whole and also split by type of product. 

 
  31 March 2017 31 March 2016   

 

 Residential Unsecured Residential Unsecured 

Arrears 3 months and over      

Number of cases No. 4,132 3,281 5,870 4,307 

Proportion of total cases % 2.61 9.32 1.97 10.17 

Asset value £m 621.5 55.6 858.7 69.8 

Proportion of book % 3.29 17.50 2.47 17.81 

Total value of payments overdue £m 28.7 15.8 35.7 17.3 

Proportion of total book % 0.15 4.97 0.11 4.43 

Possessions 

Number of cases 

 

No. 

 
485 

 
- 

 

507 

 

- 

Proportion of total cases % 0.31 - 0.17 - 

Asset value £m 70.9 - 76.4 - 

Proportion of book % 0.38 - 0.22 - 

Total value of payments overdue £m 3.3 - 4.4 - 

Proportion of total book % 0.02 - 0.01 - 

New possessions No. 1,242 - 1,853 - 

Total arrears 3 months and over and possessions 
     

Number of cases No. 4,617 3,281 6,377 4,307 

Proportion of total cases % 2.92 9.32 2.14 10.17 

Asset value £m 692.4 55.6 935.1 69.8 

Proportion of book % 3.67 17.50 2.69 17.81 

Total value of payments overdue £m 32.0 15.8 40.1 17.3 

Proportion of total book % 0.17 4.97 0.12 4.43 

 
In respect of all arrears (including those which are less than 3 months in arrears) together with possessions, the total value 
of payments overdue was: 

Payments overdue 

Total value of payments overdue £m 37.7 16.8 49.3 17.5 

Proportion of total book % 0.20 5.30 0.14 4.47 

Loan impairment provision 
     

As % of total balances % 2.89 19.06 1.88 19.72 

16. Credit quality of loans to customers (continued) 
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17. Deferred taxation 

 

 
 

Analysis of residential mortgages and unsecured loans 3 months and over in arrears by product 

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

Residential Unsecured Residential Unsecured 
 

 

Buy-to-let 
Number of cases No. 613 - 1,112 - 
Proportion of total cases % 1.12 - 0.66 - 
Asset value £m 90.6 - 163.9 - 
Proportion of book  % 1.44 - 0.83 - 
Total value of payments overdue £m  2.7 -  4.7 - 
Proportion of total book  % 0.04 - 0.02 - 

 

Self Cert 
Number of cases No. 743 - 878 - 
Proportion of total cases % 2.35 - 2.54 - 
Asset value £m 119.8 - 142.6 - 
Proportion of book % 2.64 - 2.83 - 
Total value of payments overdue £m 4.1 - 4.6 - 
Proportion of total book % 0.09 - 0.09 - 

 

Together 
Number of cases 

 

No. 

 

1,047 

 

3,281 

 

1,357 

 

4,307 
Proportion of total cases % 3.66 9.32 3.88 10.17 
Asset value £m 119.5 55.6 155.0 69.8 
Proportion of book % 4.23 17.50 4.45 17.81 
Total value of payments overdue £m 6.3 15.8 7.0 17.3 
Proportion of total book % 0.22 4.97 0.20 4.43 

 

Standard and other 
Number of cases 

 

No. 

 

1,729 

 

- 

 

2,523 

 

- 
Proportion of total cases % 3.99 - 4.29 - 
Asset value £m 291.6 - 397.2 - 
Proportion of book % 5.59 - 6.26 - 
Total value of payments overdue £m 15.6 - 19.4 - 
Proportion of total book % 0.30 - 0.31 - 

 
 

 
The net deferred taxation liability is attributable to the following: 

 
  Assets  Liabilities  Net 

31 Mar 2017 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2017 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2017 31 Mar 2016 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 

Cash flow hedges 0.2 2.6 - - 0.2 2.6 
Accelerated tax depreciation 2.3 - - (3.4) 2.3 (3.4) 
Available-for-sale reserve and fair value - - (4.7) (2.3) (4.7) (2.3) 
Employee benefits - 2.3 (81.7) (95.8) (81.7) (93.5) 
 2.5 4.9 (86.4) (101.5) (83.9) (96.6) 
Offset (2.5) (4.9) 2.5 4.9 - - 

Total - - (83.9) (96.6) (83.9) (96.6) 

 

There were no deferred tax assets unrecognised at 31 March 2017 (2016: £nil). 

16. Credit quality of loans to customers (continued) 
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The movements in the Group’s temporary differences during the current and previous year were as follows: 
 

  

1 April 2016 
£m 

Recognised in 
income 

£m 

Recognised in 
equity 

£m 

 

31 March 2017 
£m 

Cash flow hedges 2.6 - (2.4) 0.2 
Accelerated tax depreciation (3.4) 5.7 - 2.3 
Available-for-sale reserve and fair value (2.3) (2.0) (0.4) (4.7) 
Employee benefits (93.5) (14.9) 26.7 (81.7) 

Total (96.6) (11.2) 23.9 (83.9) 

   
Recognised in 

 
Recognised in 

 

 1 April 2015 income equity 31 March 2016 
 £m £m £m £m 

Changes in accounting basis on adoption of IFRS 3.8 (3.8) - - 
Cash flow hedges (59.5) - 62.1 2.6 
Accelerated tax depreciation (1.8) (1.6) - (3.4) 
Available-for-sale reserve and fair value (3.5) 1.2 - (2.3) 
Employee benefits (42.3) (13.1) (38.1) (93.5) 

Total (103.3) (17.3) 24.0 (96.6) 

     

18. Other assets     

   
31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

   £m £m 

 
Prepayments and accrued income 

   
21.9 

 
8.9 

Other   25.5 22.8 

Total   47.4 31.7 

     

19. Retirement benefit assets and obligations     

 
The UKAR Group operates a number of retirement benefit plans for its current and former employees, including defined 
benefit pension plans, a defined contribution pension plan and post-retirement healthcare benefits. Further details in respect 
of the Group's schemes are given in sections (a) (B&B schemes) and (b) (NRAM schemes) below. The 'administrative 
expenses' line of the Income Statement includes the cost of contributions to the healthcare and defined contribution pension 
schemes, the current service cost of providing pension benefits for each defined benefit scheme and the interest cost on the 
scheme’s net asset or liability. The current service cost of the Group's defined benefit schemes is nil, as the schemes are 
now closed to future service accrual. The full net surplus or deficit in respect of the healthcare scheme and each defined 
benefit pension scheme is carried on the UKAR Group Balance Sheet, and gains and losses arising due to actuarial 
revaluations are taken to UKAR Group other comprehensive income rather than being credited or charged in the Income 
Statement. 

The amounts carried on the UKAR Balance Sheet are as follows: 
 

Defined benefit 
pension plan 

 

Post-retirement 
medical benefits Total 

 31 March 
2017 

£m 

31 March 
2016 

£m 

31 March 
2017 

£m 

31 March 
2016 

£m 

31 March 
2017 

£m 

31 March 
2016 

£m 

Present value of defined benefit 
obligations 

 
(1,750.4) 

 
(1,422.6) 

 
(4.7) 

 
(1.8) 

 
(1,755.1) 

 
(1,424.4) 

Fair value of defined benefit assets 2,229.8 1,905.1 - - 2,229.8 1,905.1 

Net defined benefit asset/(liability) 479.4 482.5 (4.7) (1.8) 474.7 480.7 
 

The Group is considering the potential impact of the IASB’s exposure draft of possible changes to IFRIC 14, which would 
restrict the recognition of net asset positions in respect of pension schemes under certain circumstances. 

17. Deferred taxation (continued) 
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The amounts recognised in the UKAR Group Income Statement in respect of defined benefit arrangements were as follows: 

 
 Defined benefit 

pension plan 
Post-retirement 

medical benefits 
  

Total 
12 months to 12 months to 
31 Mar 2017 31 Mar 2016 

12 months to   12 months to 
31 Mar 2017    31 Mar 2016 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2017 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2016 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 

Net interest (income)/expense (17.3) (7.8) 0.3 0.4 (17.0) (7.4) 

Total recognised in the Income     

Statement (17.3) (7.8) 0.3 0.4 (17.0) (7.4) 

 

(a) Bradford & Bingley schemes 

(i) Defined benefit pension scheme 
The Group operated a defined benefit pension scheme, the Bradford & Bingley Staff Pension Scheme ('the B&B Scheme'), 
which is administered by 'the Trustee'. The Trustee is responsible for ensuring the B&B scheme meets its Statutory Funding 
Objective which is set by The Pensions Regulator. The B&B Scheme provided benefits to members on a final salary basis. 
On 31 December 2009 the B&B Scheme was closed to future service accrual; all members became deferred members and 
were given the option to join the Group's defined contribution scheme from 1 January 2010. The normal pension age of 
members of the B&B Scheme is 60 for those who left before 6 April 2005 and 65 for the other members. In respect of 
deferred members, deferred pension entitlement increases are calculated by reference to the Consumer Prices Index ('CPI'). 

The credit or cost to the Group of funding the B&B Scheme guaranteed benefits varies over time, dependent on market 

conditions and life expectancies. The credit in the year was £9.1m (31 March 2016: £2.9m credit) and the retirement benefit 

re-measurement loss recognised in other comprehensive income during the year was £63.0m (2016: £125.8m gain). 

The assets of the B&B Scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. The Trustee of the B&B Scheme has 
passed a resolution for the ultimate refund to B&B of any future surpluses on the B&B Scheme. 

The last agreed formal triennial valuation of the B&B scheme, prepared by the scheme actuaries as at 30 June 2015, 
showed a deficit of £188.1m on a Trustee’s valuation basis. A Recovery Plan was agreed between the Company and the 
Trustee committing the Company to a programme of annual deficit reduction payments up to and including June 2019. 
£58.1m was paid during the year to 31 March 2017 and future contributions will increase at a compounding annual rate of 
10%. 

The Trustee manages the volatility in the value of the B&B Scheme's assets by limiting the exposure to return-seeking 
assets and using liability-driven investment strategies to increase the level of hedging against investment risks. The two key 
investment risks are interest rate risk and inflation risk relating to the B&B Scheme's obligations. By holding swaps, fixed 
interest gilts, index-linked gilts and corporate bonds, approximately 92% of the interest rate risk and approximately 92% of 
the inflation risk has been hedged. The holding of return-seeking assets is close to the target level required to achieve the 
investment return assumed within the deficit recovery plan. 

The B&B Scheme has a written guarantee from HM Treasury that benefits will be paid in full to the members. 

(ii) Defined contribution pension scheme 

The Group also operates a defined contribution pension scheme, the UKAR Pension Plan, into which both employees and 
the Group make contributions. The assets of this scheme are independent from those of the Group. The Group and 
Company had no liabilities or prepayments associated with this scheme at 31 March 2017 (2016: £nil). The cost in the year 
to the Group of this scheme was £1.3m (2016: £4.1m). The cost to the Group varies according to the number of employees 
in the Group and their salary levels but the Group has no risk of being required to provide additional funding to the scheme. 

(iii) Healthcare scheme 

The Group provides healthcare benefits to some of its pensioners. The healthcare benefits are provided through a scheme 
into which the Group contributes 100% towards the cost of providing the benefits for members who retired before 1 January 
1996 and 50% for members who retired after this date. The value of the Group's obligation is assessed in accordance with 
the advice of a qualified actuary. The cost in the year to the Group of this scheme was £0.3m (2016: £0.4m) and the re- 
measurement loss recognised in the B&B Group's other comprehensive income during the year was £3.1m (2016: gain 
£8.1m). 

19. Retirement benefit assets and obligations (continued) 
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(a) Bradford & Bingley schemes (continued) 

Defined benefit obligations 
The amounts carried on the UKAR Group Balance Sheet are as follows: 

Defined benefit 
pension plan 

 
 
 

 
Post-retirement 

medical benefits Total 
 31 March 

2017 
£m 

31 March 
2016 

£m 

31 March 
2017 

£m 

31 March 
2016 

£m 

31 March 
2017 

£m 

31 March 
2016 

£m 

Present value of defined benefit 
obligations 

 
(1,047.5) 

 
(839.2) 

 
(4.7) 

 
(1.8) 

 
(1,052.2) 

 
(841.0) 

Fair value of defined benefit assets 1,304.8 1,092.3 - - 1,304.8 1,092.3 

Net defined benefit       

surplus/(liability) 257.3 253.1 (4.7) (1.8) 252.6 251.3 
 

The amounts recognised in the UKAR Group Income Statement were as follows: 
 

 Defined benefit 
pension plan 

Post-retirement 
medical benefits 

  
Total 

  

12 months to    12 months to 
31 Mar 2017 31 Mar 2016 

12 months to    12 months to 
31 Mar 2017 31 Mar 2016 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2017 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2016 

 

£m £m £m £m £m £m   

 Net interest (income)/expense (9.1) (2.9) 0.3 0.4 (8.8) (2.5)   

 Total recognised in the Income       

 Statement (9.1) (2.9) 0.3 0.4 (8.8) (2.5)   

 
Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows: 

Defined benefit 
pension plan 

Post-retirement 
medical benefits Total 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2017 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2016 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2017 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2016 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2017 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2016 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 

At start of year 839.2 960.0 1.8 9.4 841.0 969.4 

Interest on defined benefit 
obligations 29.4 

 
32.1 

 
0.3 

 
0.3 

 
29.7 

 
32.4 

Remeasurements:      

- effect of changes in demographic 
assumptions 4.0 

 
(25.7) 

 
- 

 
(0.1) 

 
4.0 

 
(25.8) 

- effect of changes in financial 
assumptions 238.2 

 
(55.4) 

 
0.5 

 
- 

 
238.7 

 
(55.4) 

- effect of experience adjustments - (35.8) 2.3 (8.0) 2.3 (43.8) 
Benefits paid from plan (63.3) (36.0) (0.2) 0.2 (63.5) (35.8) 

At end of year 1,047.5 839.2 4.7 1.8 1,052.2 841.0 
 

Movements in the fair value of defined benefit assets were as follows: 
 

 Defined benefit 
pension plan 

Post-retirement 
Medical benefits 

  
Total 

 12 months to 12 months to 
31 Mar 2017 31 Mar 2016 

£m £m 

12 months to 12 months to 
31 Mar 2017 31 Mar 2016 

£m £m 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2017 

£m 

12 months to 
31 Mar 2016 

£m 

At start of year 1,092.3 1,045.7 - - 1,092.3 1,045.7 

Interest income on defined benefit 
assets 

 
39.7 36.0 

 
- - 

 
39.7 

 
36.0 

Defined benefit company 
contributions 

 
58.1 38.7 

 
(0.2) (0.2) 

 
57.9 

 
38.5 

Remeasurements     

- return on plan assets (excluding 
interest income) 

 
179.2 8.9 

 
- - 

 
179.2 

 
8.9 

Administrative expenses paid from 
plan assets 

 

(1.2) 
 

(1.1) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(1.2) 
 

(1.1) 

Benefits paid from plan (63.3) (35.9) 0.2 0.2 (63.1) (35.7) 

At end of year 1,304.8 1,092.3 - - 1,304.8 1,092.3 

19. Retirement benefit assets and obligations (continued) 
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(a) Bradford & Bingley schemes (continued) 

Defined benefit obligations (continued) 

The major categories of defined benefit assets at the end of the year were as follows: 
 

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
 Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total 
 £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Equity instruments 204.1 5.9 210.0 159.3 5.9 165.2 
Property - 23.2 23.2 2.2 36.6 38.8 

Bonds: 
- of which UK 

 
100.8 

 
- 

 
100.8 

 
100.3 

 
- 

 
100.3 

- of which overseas 58.6 - 58.6 55.3 - 55.3 
Diversified growth fund 50.7 - 50.7 - - - 
Liability hedging investments 771.7 - 771.7 629.3 - 629.3 
Cash and cash equivalents 62.4 27.4 89.8 4.0 99.4 103.4 

Total 1,248.3 56.5 1,304.8 950.4 141.9 1,092.3 

 

Summary actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages) were as follows: 
  

 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
To determine benefit obligations:   

Discount rate 2.60% 3.60% 

Inflation (RPI) 3.25% 3.00% 
Inflation (CPI) 2.25% 2.00% 

Future pension increases 
To determine net pension cost: 

3.15% 2.95% 

Discount rate 
For post-retirement medical plan: 

3.60% 3.40% 

Discount rate 2.60% 3.60% 
Medical cost trend for duration of liability 5.50% 5.50% 

 
In determining the expected long-term return on defined benefit assets, the Group considered the current level of expected 
returns on risk-free investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of risk premium associated with the other 
asset classes in which the portfolio is invested and the expectations for future returns on each asset class. The expected 
return for each asset class was then weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long-term return 
for the portfolio. 

The table below shows the life expectancy assumptions from age 60: 
 

 31 March 2017 
Pensioner Non-retired 

member 

 
Pensioner 

31 March 2016 

Non-retired 
member 

Male 28.3 29.8 28.2 29.6 
Female 31.0 32.6 30.8 32.4 

 

Maturity profile of the obligation 
The defined benefit pension scheme has a weighted average maturity of around 21 years. 

Sensitivity 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the defined benefit pension scheme obligations to three key assumptions: the 
discount rate, the rate of inflation and the mortality assumption: 

 

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on obligations £m 

Discount rate Decrease by 0.5% Increase by 12% 129.1 
Inflation Increase by 0.5% Increase by 11% 119.5 
Mortality Decrease by 1 year Increase by 3% 34.8 

 
If the assumptions were to change by the same amount in the opposite direction to those illustrated, the obligations would 

decrease by a similar percentage to those shown in the table in each case. 

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have an effect on the amounts recognised in staff costs. A one percentage point 
change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects: 

 

 31 March 2017 
£m 

31 March 2016 
£m 

Effect on interest cost - - 
Effect on defined benefit obligation 0.6 0.2 

19. Retirement benefit assets and obligations (continued) 
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(b) NRAM scheme 

Northern Rock plc operated a staff pension scheme which was closed on 31 December 2009 and is now known as the 

NRAM Scheme. The assets of the NRAM Scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. The normal pension 

age of members in this NRAM Scheme is 60. The NRAM Scheme provided benefits to the majority of members on a final 

salary basis. Deferred pension entitlement increases are calculated by reference to the Retail Prices Index ('RPI'). The 

Trustee of the NRAM Scheme is responsible for ensuring the Scheme meets its Statutory Funding Objective which is set by 

The Pensions Regulator. The Trustee of the NRAM Scheme has passed a resolution for the ultimate refund to NRAM of any 

future surpluses on the NRAM Scheme. NRAM Limited replaced NRAM plc as sponsoring employer of the Scheme with 

effect from 30 April 2016. 

The cost to the Group of funding the NRAM Scheme guaranteed benefits varies over time, dependent on market conditions 
and life expectancies.   The credit in the year was £8.2m (2016: credit £4.9m) and the retirement benefit re-measurement 
loss recognised in other comprehensive income during the year was £45.5m (2016: gain £57.4m). 

As at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 the NRAM Scheme was in surplus on an accounting basis, but in deficit on a 
trustee's funding basis. Under an agreed recovery plan to address this deficit, the Group is committed to making annual 
contributions to the NRAM Scheme up to and including April 2019. Under this plan the Group has contributed £30.0m in the 
year and the level of contributions will be re-assessed each year. 

Following the nationalisation of Northern Rock plc in 2008, the NRAM Scheme Trustee disposed of the majority of the return-
seeking assets, retaining a small holding in private equity funds; the remaining assets are split between gilts and corporate 
bonds. The NRAM Scheme has instigated a liability-driven investment programme to hedge approximately 92% of the 
interest rate risk and 92% of the inflation risk. 

 
The amounts carried on the UKAR Group Balance Sheet are as follows:  

 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
 £m £m 
Present value of defined benefit obligations (702.9) (583.4) 
Fair value of defined benefit assets 925.0 812.8 

Net defined benefit asset 222.1 229.4 

 

The amounts recognised in the UKAR Group Income Statement were as follows: 

  

 12 months to 
31 March 2017 

12 months to 
31 March 2016 

 £m £m 

Net interest income 8.2 4.9 

Total recognised in the Income Statement 8.2 4.9 

 

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows: 

 

 
12 months to 

 

 
12 months to 

 31 March 2017 
£m 

31 March 2016 
£m 

At start of year 583.4 606.2 
Interest on defined benefit obligations 20.0 20.3 

Remeasurements: 
- effect of changes in demographic assumptions 

 
3.8 

 
20.5 

- effect of changes in financial assumptions 155.6 (38.1) 
- effect of experience adjustments (3.9) (8.8) 
Transfer payments (43.3) - 
Benefits paid from plan (12.7) (16.7) 

At end of year 702.9 583.4 

19. Retirement benefit assets and obligations (continued) 
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19. Retirement benefit assets and obligations (continued)  

 
(b) NRAM scheme (continued) 

  

Movements in the fair value of defined benefit assets were as follows: 12 months to 
31 March 2017 

£m 

12 months to 
31 March 2016 

£m 

At start of year 812.8 758.1 
Interest income on defined benefit assets 28.4 25.1 
Defined benefit company contributions 30.0 15.3 

Remeasurements: 
- return on plan assets (excluding interest income) 

 
109.8 

 
31.0 

Transfer payments (43.3) - 
Benefits paid from plan (12.7) (16.7) 

At end of year 925.0 812.8 

 

The major categories of defined benefit assets at the end of the year were as follows: 
  

31 March 2017  31 March 2016 
 Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total 
 £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Equity instruments - 276.4 276.4 - 224.3 224.3 

Bonds: 
- of which UK 

 
30.3 

 
- 

 
30.3 

 
63.4 

 
- 

 
63.4 

Liability hedging investments 606.1 - 606.1 512.9 - 512.9 
Cash and cash equivalents 12.2 - 12.2 12.2 - 12.2 

Total 648.6 276.4 925.0 588.5 224.3 812.8 

 
Summary actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages) were as follows: 

 
 

31 March 2017 

 
 

31 March 2016 

To determine benefit obligations:   

Discount rate 2.60% 3.60% 
Inflation (RPI) 3.25% 3.00% 

Future pension increases 
To determine net pension cost: 

1.95% - 3.60% 1.85% - 3.55% 

Discount rate 3.60% 3.40% 
 

In determining the expected long-term return on defined benefit assets, the UKAR Group considered the current level of 
expected returns on risk-free investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of risk premium associated with 
the other asset classes in which the portfolio is invested and the expectations for future returns on each asset class. The 
expected return for each asset class was then weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long- 
term return for the portfolio. 

 

The table below shows the life expectancy assumptions from age 60: 
 

  31 March 2017  31 March 2016  

Pensioner Non-retired 
member 

Pensioner Non-retired 
member 

 

Male 29.1 30.8 28.9 30.7  

Female 31.3 33.1 31.2 33.0  

 
Maturity profile of the obligation 

The defined benefit pension scheme has a weighted average maturity of around 23 years. 

 
Sensitivity 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the defined benefit pension scheme obligations to three key assumptions: the 
discount rate, the rate of inflation and the mortality assumption: 

 
Assumption Change in assumption Impact on obligations £m 

Discount rate Decrease by 0.5% Increase by 13% 91.4 
Inflation Increase by 0.5% Increase by 7% 49.2 
Mortality Decrease by 1 year Increase by 3% 21.1 

If the assumptions were to change by the same amount in the opposite direction to those illustrated, the obligations would 
decrease by a similar percentage to those shown in the table in each case. 
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20. Property, plant and equipment  

  
 

Land and 

 
Plant, equipment, 

fixtures, fittings 

 

 buildings 
£m 

and vehicles 
£m 

Total 
£m 

Cost    

At 1 April 2016 7.0 37.6 44.6 
Additions - 0.1 0.1 
Disposals (3.3) (36.8) (40.1) 

At 31 March 2017 3.7 0.9 4.6 

 
Depreciation 

   

At 1 April 2016 5.1 23.4 28.5 
Charged in year - 1.2 1.2 
Disposals (1.8) (23.7) (25.5) 

At 31 March 2017 3.3 0.9 4.2 

 
Net book amount: 

   

At 31 March 2016 1.9 14.2 16.1 

At 31 March 2017 0.4 - 0.4 

  
 

Land and 

 

Plant, equipment, 
fixtures, fittings 

 

 buildings 
£m 

and vehicles 
£m 

Total 
£m 

Cost    

At 1 April 2015 7.0 59.1 66.1 
Additions - 6.2 6.2 
Disposals - (27.7) (27.7) 
At 31 March 2016 7.0 37.6 44.6 

 
Depreciation 

   

At 1 April 2015 4.1 45.4 49.5 
Charged in year 1.0 5.7 6.7 
Disposals - (27.7) (27.7) 
At 31 March 2016 5.1 23.4 28.5 

 
Net book amount: 

   

At 31 March 2015 2.9 13.7 16.6 

At 31 March 2016 1.9 14.2 16.1 

 

During the year, property, plant, and equipment with a net book value of £14.6m was transferred to Computershare along 
with B&B’s mortgage servicing operations. 

There were no other assets disposed in the year. In the previous year all assets disposed had already been fully 
depreciated and no sale proceeds were received. Hence there was no profit or loss on the sales. 

The land and buildings depreciation charge in 2015/16 includes accelerated depreciation of £0.9m relating to preparation for 
separation of the business. 
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21. Intangible assets  

  

£m 

Cost  

At 1 April 2016 100.2 
Additions 1.9 
Disposals (93.3) 

At 31 March 2017 8.8 

 
Impairment and amortisation 

 

At 1 April 2016 63.0 
Amortisation charged in year 5.1 
Disposals (64.0) 

At 31 March 2017 4.1 

 
Net book amount: 

 

At 31 March 2016 37.2 

At 31 March 2017 4.7 

 
 
 

 £m 

Cost 
At 1 April 2015 

 
89.1 

Additions 11.3 
Disposals (0.2) 

At 31 March 2016 100.2 

 

Impairment and amortisation 
At 1 April 2015 

 
 

47.7 
Amortisation charged in year 15.5 
Disposals (0.2) 

At 31 March 2016 63.0 

 

Net book amount: 
At 31 March 2015 

 
 

41.4 
At 31 March 2016 37.2 

 

Intangible assets comprise capitalised computer software systems and licences. 

During the year, intangible assets with a net book value of £29.3m was transferred to Computershare along with B&B’s 
mortgage servicing operations. 

There were no other assets disposed in the year. In the previous year all assets disposed had already been fully amortised 
and no sale proceeds were received. Hence there was no profit or loss on the sales. 

 
 

22. Amounts due to banks  

  
 

31 March 2017 
£m 

 
 

31 March 2016 
£m 

 
Cash collateral received (see note 34) 

 
- 

 
553.8 

Other - 0.1 

Total - 553.9 
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23. Statutory Debt and HM Treasury loans   

  
31 March 2017 

 
31 March 2016 

 £m £m 

HM Treasury loan to NRAM 4,594.2 7,465.6 
B&B Statutory Debt 18,416.2 18,416.2 
HM Treasury Working Capital Facility to B&B 2,020.9 2,472.1 

Total 25,031.3 28,353.9 
 

The HM Treasury loan to NRAM is repayable on demand. Interest has been charged at Bank of England Base Rate + 100 
bps since 4 May 2012 (prior to that date interest was charged at Bank of England Base Rate + 25 bps). As detailed in note 
2, on 30 April 2016 this loan was transferred from NRAM plc to NRAM Limited. At the signing date of these Financial 
Statements, HM Treasury has confirmed its intentions to continue to fund NRAM Limited as a going concern, and to enable 
NRAM Limited to meet its debts as and when they fall due, until at least 1 January 2019. 

B&B had an interest-free Statutory Debt of £18,416.2m as at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016. This replaced B&B’s 
savings-related assets and liabilities which were transferred to Banco Santander Group on 29 September 2008. £15,654.5m 
of the Statutory Debt was owed to the FSCS. At the time of nationalisation, the FSCS covered the first £35,000 per 
depositor; HM Treasury agreed to cover the excess over £35,000, amounting to a total of £2,761.7m. It was expected that 
the Statutory Debt would be repaid out of the cash flows generated by B&B during its wind-down, principally comprising 
interest and redemptions arising on loans to customers and proceeds of asset sales. As disclosed in note 37, financial 
completion of the £11.8bn sale of loans to customers occurred on 25 April 2017; on 26 April 2017 £10,976.6m of the 
Statutory Debt owed to the FSCS was repaid. 

B&B has an interest-bearing WCF provided by HM Treasury. Interest is charged at Bank of England Base Rate + 500bps. 
HM Treasury has the option to vary the rate charged. At 31 March 2017 B&B had drawn £2,011.3m (2016: £2,460.3m) of 
this facility; £2,020.9m including accrued interest (2016: £2,472.1m). At the signing date of these Financial Statements HM 
Treasury has confirmed its intentions to continue to fund B&B as a going concern and to enable B&B to meet its debts as 
and when they fall due, until at least 1 January 2019. HM Treasury has indicated that it expects the WCF to be repaid out of 
the cash flows generated by B&B during its wind-down. These cash flows will principally comprise interest and redemptions 
arising on loans to customers, along with proceeds of asset sales. The redemption profile of loans to customers is 
uncertain; many of these loans have contractual maturities of 25 years or more from the date of advance but experience has 
been that most loans to customers redeem earlier than their contractual maturity dates. Consequently, the timing of the 
repayment of the WCF is uncertain. As disclosed in note 37, on 26 April 2017 £440.7m of the WCF was repaid. 

We are now preparing for the next phase of our programme to repay the FSCS loan in full and thereafter to repay other 
borrowings from HMT. 

 
 

24. Debt securities in issue  

  
Securitised notes 

 
Covered Bonds 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 £m £m £m £m 
At 1 April 2016 3,145.9 1,779.5 233.8 5,159.2 
Repayments (3,332.4) (1,708.9) (25.5) (5,066.8) 
Other movements 186.5 (70.6) (4.1) 111.8 
At 31 March 2017 - - 204.2 204.2 

Securitised assets - - - - 

Reserve fund - - - - 

 Securitised notes Covered Bonds Other Total 
 £m £m £m £m 

At 1 April 2015 12,730.1 7,946.9 269.7 20,946.7 
Repayments (9,721.1) (1,165.9) (33.0) (10,920.0) 
Repurchases - (4,644.8) - (4,644.8) 
Other movements 136.9 (356.7) (2.9) (222.7) 

At 31 March 2016 3,145.9 1,779.5 233.8 5,159.2 

Securitised assets 9,150.4 7,044.4 - 16,194.8 

Reserve fund 380.0 1.2 - 381.2 
 

Other movements comprise exchange rate movements, accrued interest and hedge accounting adjustments. 
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The B&B and NRAM Groups issued debt securities to securitise loans to customers through SPVs and Covered Bonds and 
also raised unsecured medium term funding. Certain of these were subject to fair value hedge designation and the carrying 
values of these instruments included unamortised adjustments in respect of the notes that were hedged. 

HM Treasury has provided guarantees with regard to certain wholesale borrowings of the B&B and NRAM Groups; the 
Group pays fees for these guarantees, as detailed in note 4. 

Securitised assets represented loans to customers which had been used to securitise issued notes, including notes which 
were held by other companies in the UKAR Group, and cash balances. 

During the year the B&B Group repaid the remaining Aire Valley Securitised notes that it did not already own, financed by a 
£3.0bn temporary increase in the existing HM Treasury WCF. This achieved the twin objectives of simplifying the Balance 
Sheet and unencumbering mortgage loans. As a result all secured funding on the Group Balance Sheet has now been 
repaid. In April 2016 the remaining debt securities issued by Whinstone Capital Management Limited were redeemed. 

During the year the remainder of the Covered Bonds in issue matured and were redeemed. 

Other debt securities in issue comprise notes issued under B&B's and NRAM's Medium Term Notes programmes. 

 

 
25. Other liabilities  

    

At 31 March 2017 

 

At 31 March 2016 
   £m £m 
Accruals and deferred income   77.3 80.6 

Other   69.0 229.2 

Total   146.3 309.8 

     

26. Provisions     

  
Customer 

 
Onerous 

  

 redress contracts Restructuring Total 
 £m £m £m £m 

 
At 1 April 2016 

 
165.8 

 
1.8 

 
46.7 

 
214.3 

Utilised in the year (70.0) (0.1) (29.8) (99.9) 
Charged in the year 64.4 - - 64.4 
Released in the year - (1.4) - (1.4) 

At 31 March 2017 160.2 0.3 16.9 177.4 

  
Customer 

 
Onerous 

  

 redress contracts Restructuring Total 
 £m £m £m £m 

 
At 1 April 2015 

 
388.0 

 
3.0 

 
2.0 

 
393.0 

Utilised in the year (43.2) (1.2) (28.7) (73.1) 
Charged in the year 89.3 - 73.4 162.7 
Released in the year (268.3) - - (268.3) 

At 31 March 2016 165.8 1.8 46.7 214.3 
 

UKAR remains committed to doing the right thing for our customers and where we identify issues that have caused customer 
detriment, we will ensure that they are fully remediated. An additional provision of £64.4m has been recognised, of which 
£49.2m relates to an increase in PPI provisions. 

24. Debt securities in issue (continued) 
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An additional provision of £49.2m has been recognised following the publication of the FCA’s Policy Statement PS17/3 
'Payment protection insurance complaints: feedback on CP16/10 and final rules and guidance', which sets a deadline date 
for complaints at 29 August 2019 and confirms the approach in relation to Plevin. The rules and guidance include an FCA- 
led communications campaign to raise awareness of the deadline and the requirement to proactively contact previously 
rejected mis-selling complainants who are eligible to complain again in the light of Plevin. Reflecting heightened awareness 
of a potential PPI deadline, actual claims volumes received during the year have been higher than previously modelled, 
which combined with the final proposals is expected to lead to higher claims volumes throughout the period to 29 August 
2019 than previously assumed. 

In addition, a charge of £15.2m was made for other smaller legacy remediation issues. 

In July 2015 the Court of Appeal found in NRAM’s favour that customers with loans greater than £25,000 should not receive 
remediation in line with Consumer Credit Act (‘CCA’) customers despite receiving the same incorrect documentation. As a 
result the £268.3m provision relating to this matter was released. 

All customer redress payments are expected to be processed during the year to 31 March 2018 except for PPI, the majority 
of which is expected to be processed by Autumn 2019 following publication of the complaint time-bar of 29 August 2019. 

The onerous contracts provision relates to empty leasehold premises which, as at the Balance Sheet date, were no longer 
used by the business but were subject to lease agreements. The rental payments are due to be made up to 2022. 

The restructuring provision relates primarily to outstanding costs in relation to the organisational restructure completed in 
2016/17. 

 
 

27. Capital instruments  

    

31 
 

March 2017 
 

31 
 
March 2016 

 Initial 
interest 

 Carrying 
amount 

 
Principal 

Carrying 
amount 

 
Principal 

 rate Issuer £m £m £m £m 

 
Dated subordinated notes 

 
7.625% 

 
B&B 

 

- 
 

- 
 

5.1 
 

5.0 
Subordinated loan 11.734% NRAM plc - - 4.1 4.0 

Total   - - 9.2 9.0 
 

These capital instruments were all denominated in sterling. Those issued by B&B were redeemed in January 2017. Those 
issued by NRAM plc were retained by NRAM plc and not transferred to NRAM Limited (see note 2). 

The carrying values of these instruments were measured on an amortised cost basis, as adjusted for hedge accounting 
adjustments. 

Redemptions of any capital instruments prior to their final maturity date were subject to obtaining prior consent of the FCA. 

The rights of repayment of holders of capital instruments were subordinated to the claims of other creditors. 

 
28. Share capital  

Group and Company 25p 25p 25p 25p Total 
 Ordinary Preference Ordinary Preference share 
 shares shares shares shares capital 

 Number Number £ £ £ 

At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 and 
31 March 2017 

 

4,955,595 
 

4,000 
 

1,238,899 
 

1,000 
 

1,239,899 

 
In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, the Company does not have authorised capital other than its issued capital. 

The Ordinary shares rank equally in respect of rights attached to voting, dividends and in the event of a winding up. 

Dividends on Preference shares are discretionary and, subject to Board approval, are payable annually on 4 July at a rate of 
6.8509% based on a principal amount of £1,000 per share. 

No dividends were declared or paid in 2016/17 or 2015/16 on the Company's Ordinary or Preference shares. No dividends 
had been proposed by the date of approval of these Financial Statements. 

26. Provisions (continued) 
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29. Reserves  

 
Reserves comprise the following: 

  

 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
Restated 1 

 £m £m 

Available-for-sale reserve 12.8 4.3 
Cash flow hedge reserve (0.8) 3.0 
Merger reserve 3,795.7 4,910.0 

Total 3,807.7 4,917.3 

 
Available-for-sale reserve 

  

 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
 £m £m 

At start of year 4.3 2.0 
Amounts recognised in equity (14.3) 6.5 
Amounts transferred to net income 22.8 (4.2) 

At end of year 12.8 4.3 
 

The available-for-sale reserve represents cumulative fair value movements on assets classified as available-for-sale. 

 
Cash flow hedge reserve  

 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
 £m £m 
At start of year 3.0 239.7 
Amounts recognised in equity (632.5) (1,051.6) 
Amounts transferred to net income 628.7 814.9 

At end of year (0.8) 3.0 

 
The cash flow hedge reserve represents cumulative fair value movements on financial instruments which are effective cash 

flow hedges. 

 
Merger reserve 

 
The balance is made up of: 

 

 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
 £m £m 

 
Generated on acquisition of B&B 

 
589.3 

 
589.3 

Generated on acquisition of NRAM (restated 1) 3,206.4 4,320.7 

Total 3,795.7 4,910.0 

 
The merger reserve was generated on 1 October 2010 when the Company acquired all the issued shares of B&B and 
NRAM plc from the Treasury Solicitor via a share-for-share exchange and is non-distributable. The merger reserve 
represents the difference between the value attributed to the Company's investment in each company and the capital and 
non-distributable reserves of the acquired groups. 

 
1 As a consequence of the re-organisation within the NRAM Group there has been a transfer from retained earnings to 
merger reserve of £3,787.4m, as detailed in note 2. £697.8m of this was released to retained earnings on 5 May 2016 when 
NRAM Limited’s shareholding in NRAM plc was sold. £416.5m has been released as loans which formed part of the pre- 
sale dividend in specie have been paid down. 
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31. Related party disclosures 

 

30. Off-Balance Sheet commitments payable  

  

Within 

 

In one to 

 

Over 

 

At 31 March 2017 one year five years five years Total 
 £m £m £m £m 

Loan commitments: 
- lifetime mortgages 

 
0.5 

 
1.7 

 
2.2 

 
4.4 

- other loans 424.6 - - 424.6 

Total loan commitments 425.1 1.7 2.2 429.0 

Operating lease commitments: 
- land and buildings 

 
2.2 

 
9.1 

 
11.4 

 
22.7 

Total 427.3 10.8 13.6 451.7 

  
Within 

 
In one to 

 
Over 

 

At 31 March 2016 one year five years five years Total 
 £m £m £m £m 

Loan commitments:     

- lifetime mortgages 0.6 1.9 2.8 5.3 
- other loans 613.4 - - 613.4 

Total loan commitments 614.0 1.9 2.8 618.7 
Operating lease commitments:     

- land and buildings 2.3 8.5 6.4 17.2 
Capital commitments 0.8 - - 0.8 

Total 617.1 10.4 9.2 636.7 

 

Loan commitments represent contractual amounts to which the Group is committed for extension of credit to customers. In 
respect of lifetime mortgages, the commitment reflects estimates of future drawdowns. On other loans, the commitment 
comprises cash which could be drawn down by customers in respect of further advances and re-drawal of amounts 
voluntarily overpaid. 

Operating lease commitments represent minimum future lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases. 

Capital commitments represent contractual amounts to which the Group is committed in respect of IT infrastructure 
investment. 

 
 

 

(a) Key management personnel 

The Group considers the Boards of Directors and the members of the Executive Committees of UKAR, B&B and NRAM to 
be the key management personnel. There were no amounts owed to or by key management personnel at any time during 
the year (2016: £nil). 

A summary of the Group's remuneration of the 14 (2016: 15) key management personnel is set out in the table below. 
These amounts include the remuneration of the Directors which is set out in more detail in the Directors' Remuneration 
Report on pages 31 to 44. The Directors' Remuneration Report gives details of the UKAR Group's Directors' salaries, fees, 
bonuses, pension benefits, other incentives and other benefits. 

 

 12 months to 12 months to 

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

Remuneration of key management personnel £000 £000 

Short-term employee benefits 3,491 4,202 

Post-employment benefits 203 314 

Total 3,694 4,516 

 
Further details of the accounting treatment of pensions and of the Group's transactions and balances with the Group's 
pension schemes are given in note 19. There were no amounts due to or from the schemes at 31 March 2017 (31 March 
2016: £nil). The key management personnel contributed £103,000 (2016: £45,000) to Group pension schemes during the 
year. 
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32. Capital structure 

 

 
 

(a) Key management personnel (continued) 

Included in the Group's Income Statement, the aggregate Directors' emoluments and the emoluments of the highest paid 
Director amounted to £1,529,449 and £766,169 respectively (2016: £2,159,628 and £966,611 respectively). The Directors 
made no payments during the year or previous year into the Group's money purchase pension scheme, and the Group 
made no payments into this scheme in respect of the Directors during the year or previous year. The Group did not make 
any loss of office payments to Directors in the year (2016: £nil). 

 
(b) UK government 

As described in note H to the Parent Company Financial Statements, the Company considers the UK government to be its 
ultimate controlling party. The Group's material balances with departments and bodies of the government comprise deposits 
with the Bank of England and the Government Banking Service (see note 11), loans from HM Treasury (see note 23) and 
the Statutory Debt (see note 23).   HM Treasury has also provided guarantee arrangements to the Group, for which the 
Group pays fees (see note 4). In addition to these loans and guarantees, the Group has balances and transactions with 
numerous government bodies on an arm's length basis in relation to the payment of corporation tax, VAT and employee 
taxes and the payment of regulatory fees and levies. The Group has balances and transactions with UKFI and with banks 
over which the UK government has significant influence; these were made in the ordinary course of business and are not 
unusual in their nature or conditions. In the year, the Group paid £1.0m (2016: £1.2m) relating to advisors to UKFI on 
UKAR’s future strategy. 

 
(c) UKAR Company 

The UKAR Company's balances and transactions with related parties are detailed in note F to the Parent Company Financial 
Statements. 

 
 

The UK financial regulator the FCA regulates B&B, NRAM Limited and Mortgage Express under the MIPRU regime which 
applies to mortgage administration companies. Each of these companies manages its capital resources in order to meet the 
FCA's regulatory requirements. Capital adequacy is monitored on an ongoing basis by the Group’s executive management 
and Board based on the regulations established by the FCA. Each of these companies met its capital requirements in full 
throughout 2016/17 and 2015/16; further information in respect of B&B, NRAM Limited and Mortgage Express is available in 
the Annual Reports & Accounts of those companies, which do not form part of these Financial Statements. The Board 
considers core equity, formerly Tier 1 capital, to be of pre-eminent importance in the capital structure of the regulated 
companies and continues to monitor this closely in addition to the total level of capital. The Directors believe that each 
regulated Group company has an appropriate and adequate level of capital to support its activities, subject to the continuing 
support of HM Treasury. While FCA rules require the regulated companies within the Group to hold capital in excess of 1% 
of total Balance Sheet assets plus any undrawn commitments, the Board believes it appropriate that they should hold a 
higher level of capital and as at 31 March 2017, capital in B&B represented 10.9% (2016: 9.4%) of B&B assets and NRAM 
Limited capital represented 45.8% (2016: 33.2%) of NRAM assets. 

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to maintain capital resources to support the objectives of the 
business, to cover risks inherent in its activities and to ensure compliance with externally imposed capital requirements. The 
capital structure is managed in response to changes in the nature of the Group's activities and economic conditions. 

The Group defines equity and certain other capital instruments as capital. Capital excludes accounting reserves for 
available-for-sale assets and cash flow hedges. The Group's capital adequacy and capital resources are managed and 
monitored in accordance with the regulatory capital rules of the FCA. The Group must at all times monitor and demonstrate 
compliance with the relevant regulatory capital requirements of the FCA. The required capital information is filed with the 
FCA on a quarterly basis. 

The Company’s capital is represented by the capital and reserves attributable to the equity holder. The Company is not 
subject to externally imposed capital requirements other than the minimum share capital required by the Companies Act, 
with which it complies. The Company manages its capital and reserves in order that there is sufficient capital to meet the 
needs of the Company in its operations. 

31. Related party disclosures (continued) 
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(a) Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities: carrying value compared to fair value 

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities. Assets are generally 
presented at bid prices, whereas offer prices are used for liabilities. The accounting policy note 1(f) sets out the key 
principles used for estimating the fair values of financial instruments. Note 33(e) provides some additional information in 
respect of the methodologies used. 

 

 

At 31 March 2017 

 

Available- 
for-sale 

£m 

Assets at fair 
value through 
profit or loss 

£m 

 

Loans and 
receivables 

£m 

 

Hedging 
adjustments 

£m 

Total 
carrying 

value 
£m 

 

Fair value 
£m 

Financial assets:       

Cash at bank and in hand - - 2,112.7 - 2,112.7 2,112.7 

Amount owed in respect of sale of 
loans 

 
- 

 
- 

 
11,483.9 

 
- 

 
11,483.9 

 
11,483.9 

Investment securities 22.4 - 260.0 - 282.4 280.8 
Loans to customers - - 19,462.8 - 19,462.8 18,934.9 

Fair value adjustments on portfolio 
hedging 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
454.6 

 
454.6 

 
- 

Derivative financial instruments - 1.8 - - 1.8 1.8 
Other financial assets - - 25.5 - 25.5 25.5 

Total financial assets 22.4 1.8 33,344.9 454.6 33,823.7 32,839.6 

 
Liabilities at fair 

 
Liabilities at 

  
Total 

 

value through amortised Hedging carrying  

profit or loss cost adjustments value Fair value 
£m £m £m £m £m 

Financial liabilities:     

Statutory Debt and HM Treasury loans - 25,031.3 - 25,031.3 25,031.3 
Derivative financial instruments 527.2 - - 527.2 527.2 
Debt securities in issue - 204.2 - 204.2 230.9 
Other financial liabilities - 127.9 - 127.9 127.9 

Total financial liabilities 527.2 25,363.4 - 25,890.6 25,917.3 

 

 
Assets at fair 

   

 
Total 

 

Available- value through Loans and Hedging carrying  

At 31 March 2016 for-sale profit or loss receivables adjustments value Fair value 
£m £m £m £m £m £m 

Financial assets:     

Cash at bank and in hand - - 5,598.3 - 5,598.3 5,598.3 
Investment securities 51.0 - 301.8 - 352.8 354.1 
Loans to customers - - 35,532.6 - 35,532.6 32,563.0 
Fair value adjustments on portfolio     

hedging - - - 436.6 436.6 - 
Derivative financial instruments - 781.4 - - 781.4 781.4 
Other financial assets - - 22.8 - 22.8 22.8 

Total financial assets 51.0 781.4 41,455.5 436.6 42,724.5 39,319.6 

 
Liabilities at fair 

 
Liabilities at 

  
Total 

 

value through amortised Hedging carrying  

profit or loss cost adjustments value Fair value 
£m £m £m £m £m 

Financial liabilities:     

Amounts due to banks - 553.9 - 553.9 553.9 
Statutory Debt and HM Treasury loans - 28,353.9 - 28,353.9 28,353.9 
Derivative financial instruments 527.7 - - 527.7 527.7 
Debt securities in issue - 5,150.0 9.2 5,159.2 5,104.3 
Capital instruments - 9.2 - 9.2 14.4 
Other financial liabilities - 182.6 - 182.6 182.6 

Total financial liabilities 527.7 34,249.6 9.2 34,786.5 34,736.8 
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(a) Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities: carrying value compared to fair value (continued) 

No financial assets or liabilities were reclassified during the current or previous year between amortised cost and fair value 
categories. 

At 31 March 2017 the Group had no assets carried at amortised cost which were previously carried at fair value (31 March 
2016: £335.5m). The amount recognised in profit and loss during the year was a gain of £10.4m (2016: gain of £17.9m). If 
the assets had not been reclassified, it is estimated that fair value gains of £8.3m would have been reflected in the available- 
for-sale reserve during the 12 months to 31 March 2017 in respect of these assets (12 months to 31 March 2016: losses of 
£8.2m). As detailed in note 2 on 30 April 2016 NRAM plc transferred all of these assets to NRAM Limited. 

 

(b) Interest income and expense on financial instruments that are not at fair value through profit or loss 

 
 12 months to 12 months to 

31 March 2017 

£m 

31 March 2016 

£m 

Interest income 1,040.9 1,645.8 

Interest expense (228.6) (563.1) 

Net interest income 812.3 1,082.7 

 
These amounts represent interest income and expense before hedging arrangements. 

 
(c) Impaired financial assets 

Allowance accounts for credit losses in respect of impairment of loans to customers are detailed in note 15 and in respect of 
investment securities in note 13.   No impairment loss has been recognised in respect of any other class of financial asset 
and no other class of financial asset includes assets that are past due. 

 
(d) Hedge accounting 

Strategy in using derivative financial instruments 

The Board has authorised the use of derivative instruments for the purpose of supporting the strategic and operational 
business activities of the Group and reducing the risk of loss arising from changes in interest rates and exchange rates. All 
use of derivative instruments within the Group is to hedge risk exposure and the Group takes no trading positions in 
derivatives. 

The objective when using any derivative instrument is to ensure that the risk-to-reward profile of any transaction is 
optimised. The intention is only to use derivatives to create economically effective hedges.   However, IAS 39 requires 
certain tests to be satisfied before hedge accounting is permitted. Consequently not all economic hedges are designated as 
accounting hedges, either because natural accounting offsets are expected, or because obtaining hedge accounting would 
be especially onerous. 
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(d) Hedge accounting (continued) 

 
(i) Fair value hedges 

The Group designates a number of derivatives as fair value hedges. In particular, the Group has three approaches 
establishing relationships for: 

• Hedging the interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risk of non-prepayable, foreign currency denominated 
fixed rate assets or liabilities on a one-for-one basis with fixed/floating or floating/fixed cross currency interest rate 
swaps. 

• Hedging the interest rate risk of a single currency portfolio of sterling, US Dollar or Euro non-prepayable fixed rate 
assets/liabilities on a one-for-one basis with vanilla fixed/floating or floating/fixed interest rate swaps. 

• Hedging the interest rate risk of a portfolio of prepayable fixed rate assets with interest rate derivatives. This solution is 
used to establish a macro fair value hedge for derivatives hedging fixed rate mortgages. The Group believes this 
solution is consistent with its policy for hedging fixed rate mortgages on an economic basis. 

 
(ii) Cash flow hedges 

The Group designates a number of derivatives as cash flow hedges. In particular, the Group adopts the following 
approaches: 

• Using fixed interest rate swaps to hedge floating rate sterling liabilities. 

• To address the volatility generated by floating/floating cross currency swaps, they are placed into cash flow hedges; the 
accounting hedge relationship is to hedge the foreign currency exchange rate risk of the foreign currency denominated 
asset/liability. 

• Fixed/floating cross currency swaps are split into their separate risk components and separately designated into cash 
flow hedges. 

• Basis swaps are split into their separate risk components and separately designated into cash flow hedges. 

Cash flow hedges fell significantly during the year due to the repayment of debt securities. 

(iii) Net investment hedges 

The Group has not designated any derivatives as net investment hedges in 2016/17 or 2015/16. 

The Group had the following types of hedges: 

 
At 31 March 2017 

Fair value 
hedges 

Cash flow 
hedges 

Economic 
hedges Total 

Notional 
amounts 

£m £m £m £m £m 
 

 

Exchange rate contracts 
Interest rate contracts 

- 
- 

- 
- 

1.8 
- 

1.8 
- 

107.9 
- 

Total asset balances - - 1.8 1.8  

 
Exchange rate contracts 

 
- 

 
- 

 
0.8 

 
0.8 

 
158.6 

Interest rate contracts 520.1 1.1 5.2 526.4 1,664.1 

Total liability balances 520.1 1.1 6.0 527.2  

 
Fair value of hedging instruments 

 
(520.1) 

 
(1.1) 

 
(4.2) 

 
(525.4) 

 

  
Fair value 

 
Cash flow 

 
Economic 

  
Notional 

At 31 March 2016 hedges hedges hedges Total amounts 
 £m £m £m £m £m 

 
Exchange rate contracts 

 
- 

 
769.5 

 
11.5 

 
781.0 

 
3,445.1 

Interest rate contracts - - 0.4 0.4 4.0 
Total asset balances - 769.5 11.9 781.4  

 
Exchange rate contracts 

 
- 

 
- 

 
10.6 

 
10.6 

 
338.1 

Interest rate contracts 499.1 11.7 6.3 517.1 7,006.2 

Total liability balances 499.1 11.7 16.9 527.7  

 
Fair value of hedging instruments 

 
(499.1) 

 
757.8 

 
(5.0) 

 
253.7 
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(e) Fair value measurement 

Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are valued on the following bases: 
 

At 31 March 2017 Level 1 
£m 

Level 2 
£m 

Level 3 
£m 

Total 
£m 

Financial assets:     

Investment securities - available-for-sale - 22.4 - 22.4 

Derivative financial assets - 1.8 - 1.8 

Financial liabilities:     

Derivative financial liabilities - (527.2) - (527.2) 

Net financial liabilities - (503.0) - (503.0) 

 
At 31 March 2016 

 
Level 1 

 
Level 2 

 
Level 3 

 
Total 

 £m £m £m £m 

Financial assets:     

Investment securities - available-for-sale 0.1 50.9 - 51.0 

Derivative financial assets - 781.4 - 781.4 

Financial liabilities:     

Derivative financial liabilities - (527.7) - (527.7) 

Net financial assets 0.1 304.6 - 304.7 

 

 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, whether directly (i.e. as price) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from the implications of prices). 

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data, or have significant unobservable 
inputs. 

 
There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year (2016: none). 

Available-for-sale investment securities are categorised as Level 2 as they are not frequently traded and hence trade prices 
cannot always be relied on as evidence of fair value. Fair value is estimated by the securities' lead managers, taking into 
account recent trades, similar assets adjusted for credit spreads and where applicable the underlying performance of assets 
backing the securities (so unobservable inputs are not considered significant). These prices are reviewed against quoted 
prices where available. 

Derivative financial instruments which are categorised as Level 2 are those which either: 

(a) Have future cash flows which are on known dates and for which the cash flow amounts are known or calculable by 
reference to observable interest and foreign currency exchange rates; or 

(b) Have future cash flows which are not pre-defined but for which the fair value of the instrument has very low sensitivity to 
unobservable inputs. 

In each case the fair value is calculated by discounting future cash flows using observable market parameters including swap 
rates, interest rates and currency rates. 
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(e) Fair value measurement (continued) 

For financial assets and liabilities which are not carried at fair value, the fair values disclosed in note 33(a) are calculated on 
the following bases: 

 
At 31 March 2017 Level 1 

£m 
Level 2 

£m 
Level 3 

£m 
Total 

£m 

Financial assets:     

Cash at bank and in hand 2,112.7 - - 2,112.7 
Amount owed in respect of sale of loans 11,483.9 - - 11,483.9 
Investment securities - 258.4 - 258.4 
Loans to customers - - 18,934.9 18,934.9 
Other financial assets - 25.5 - 25.5 
 13,596.6 283.9 18,934.9 32,815.4 

 
Financial liabilities: 

    

Statutory Debt and HM Treasury loans 25,031.3 - - 25,031.3 
Debt securities in issue - 230.9 - 230.9 
Other financial liabilities - 127.9 - 127.9 
 25,031.3 358.8 - 25,390.1 

 
At 31 March 2016 

 
Level 1 

 
Level 2 

 
Level 3 

 
Total 

 £m £m £m £m 

Financial assets:     

Cash at bank and in hand 5,598.3 - - 5,598.3 
Investment securities - 303.1 - 303.1 
Loans to customers - - 32,563.0 32,563.0 
Other financial assets - 22.8 - 22.8 
 5,598.3 325.9 32,563.0 38,487.2 

 
Financial liabilities: 

    

Amounts due to banks 553.9 - - 553.9 
Statutory Debt and HM Treasury loans 28,353.9 - - 28,353.9 
Debt securities in issue - 5,104.3 - 5,104.3 
Capital instruments - 14.4 - 14.4 
Other financial liabilities - 182.6 - 182.6 
 28,907.8 5,301.3 - 34,209.1 

 
Valuation methods for calculations of fair values in the table above are as follows: 

 
Cash at bank and in hand 

Fair value is estimated by using discounted cash flows applying either market rates where practicable or rates offered by 
other financial institutions for accounts with similar characteristics. The fair value of floating rate placements, fixed rate 
placements with less than six months to maturity and overnight deposits is estimated to be their carrying amount. 

Investment securities 

The fair values of investment securities held as loans and receivables are based on quoted prices or lead manager prices 
where available or by using discounted cash flows applying independently sourced market parameters including interest 
rates and currency rates. The fair value of unsecured investment loans is based on prices supplied by third parties. 

Loans to customers 

Loans to customers include loans of varying rates and maturities. Fair value is estimated by discounting expected future 
cash flows using market interest rates. Expected future cash flows take account of estimated future losses. Market interest 
rates are based on current lending activity in the mortgage market.   In respect of the majority of the Group's fixed interest 
rate loans, the change in interest rates since inception means that their fair value can vary significantly from their carrying 
value; the Group’s policy is to hedge fixed rate loans in respect of interest rate risk. 
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(e) Fair value measurement (continued) 

Amounts due to banks 

Fair values of deposit liabilities repayable on demand or with variable interest rates are considered to approximate to 
carrying value. The fair value of fixed interest deposits with less than six months to maturity is estimated to be their carrying 
amount. The fair value of all other deposit liabilities is estimated using discounted cash flows, applying independently 
sourced market parameters including interest rates and currency rates. 

Statutory Debt and HM Treasury loans 

The fair value is estimated to be the carrying amount as the loans are considered to be repayable on demand subject to 
timing of repayment of loans to customers. 

Debt securities in issue and capital instruments 

Fair values are based on quoted prices or lead manager prices where available, or by using discounted cash flows, applying 
independently sourced market parameters including interest rates and currency rates. 

Other financial assets and liabilities 
Fair value approximates to carrying value because the balances are short term in nature. The £11,483.9m balance in 
respect of the sale of loans has been categorised as Level 1 as it was a contractually defined amount. 

 
(f) Transferred financial assets 

As set out in note 24, the Group transferred financial assets (loans and receivables) to securitisation structures. The Group 
retained all of the risks and rewards associated with these loans and they were, therefore, retained on the Group’s Balance 
Sheet. 

 
The table below sets out the carrying values of the transferred assets and the associated liabilities. For securitisation 
structures, the associated liabilities represented the external notes in issue (see note 24). None of these notes had recourse 
to the transferred assets. 

 

At 31 March 2017 Transferred assets 
Carrying amount 

£m 

Associated liabilities 
Carrying amount 

£m 

Loans to customers securitised - - 

 
At 31 March 2016 

 
Transferred assets 

Carrying amount 
£m 

 
Associated liabilities 

Carrying amount 
£m 

Loans to customers securitised 15,946.0 4,879.4 

(g) Offsetting 
  

No financial assets have been offset against financial liabilities. Balances which are subject to enforceable master netting 
arrangements or similar agreements are as follows: 

 

 
At 31 March 2017 

Gross and net amounts, as 
reported on the Balance 

Sheet 

Amounts available to be offset (but 
not offset on the Balance Sheet) 

Net amounts 
after offsetting 

under IFRS 7 
Master netting 
arrangements 

Financial 
collateral 

£m £m £m £m 
 

 
Derivative financial assets 1.8 (1.4) - 0.4 
Derivative financial liabilities (527.2) 1.4 519.0 (6.8) 

 (525.4) - 519.0 (6.4) 

 
 

 
At 31 March 2016 

Gross and net amounts, as 
reported on the Balance 

Sheet 

Amounts available to be offset (but 
not offset on the Balance Sheet) 

Net amounts 
after offsetting 
under IFRS 7 

Master netting 
arrangements 

Financial 
collateral 

£m £m £m £m 
 

 
Derivative financial assets 781.4 (4.3) (539.1) 238.0 
Derivative financial liabilities (527.7) 4.3 519.6 (3.8) 

 253.7 - (19.5) 234.2 
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(h) IFRS 9 

In July 2014 the IASB published the final version of IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, which will replace IAS 39 except for the 
elements of IAS 39 relating to macro-hedging. IFRS 9 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018. The Group is not intending to take the option of early adoption, and hence will first apply IFRS 9 for the 2018/19 
financial year. IFRS 9 does not require prior period comparative information to be restated to comply with IFRS 9, and the 
Group intends to follow this approach. 

Implementation will require significant judgements in respect of the Group’s business model, and changes to the Group’s 
established fair value and provisioning models, methods and management judgements. The Group summarises below its 
expected approach to the classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting IFRS 9 requirements for 
financial instruments. 

 

Classification and measurement 

Under IFRS 9, classification of financial assets is determined by the business model under which the assets are managed 
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the assets. Financial assets may be measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through profit and loss (‘FVP&L’) or fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI’). For assets carried at FVOCI, 
impairment charges and credits are still taken to the Income Statement. 

The business model may be considered to be one of holding the asset to collect the cash flows arising; holding the asset to 
sell it or to collect the cash flows arising; or holding the asset to sell it. IFRS 9 requires the business model to be assessed 
on the date of first application of IFRS 9, i.e. 1 April 2018. 

The contractual cash flow characteristics of an asset may be considered to be ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ on 
the principal amount outstanding (‘SPPI’) or not to be SPPI. 

The measurement classifications of financial assets are as follows: 
 

 SPPI Not SPPI 

Held to collect Amortised cost FVP&L 

Held to collect and sell FVOCI FVP&L 

Held to sell FVP&L FVP&L 

 
The Group expects to continue to hold most of its non-lending financial assets at amortised cost as they are used in the 
normal day to day operation of the business. Derivative financial assets will continue to be classified as FVP&L. 

The Group’s business model for its principle financial asset, loans to customers, is expected to be one of held to collect and 
sell, as these assets are managed in order to maximise taxpayer value with strategic assets sales undertaken where 
suitable market opportunities are identified. The cash flows of the majority of the loans are expected to be SPPI. Therefore 
it is expected that the majority of the Group’s loans to customers will be carried at FVOCI. 

The accounting treatment of the Group’s financial liabilities is not expected to change upon implementation of IFRS 9. 
 

Impairment of financial assets 

IFRS 9 replaces the IAS 39 ‘incurred loss’ approach to impairment provisioning with a forward looking ‘expected loss’ 
approach. 

Each financial asset is categorised as ‘stage 1’, ‘stage 2’ or ‘stage 3’. Stage 1 assets are those for which there has been no 
significant increase in credit risk since the asset’s origination.   Stage 2 assets are those for which there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since the asset’s origination. Stage 3 assets are those which are in default. 

In respect of stage 1 assets, the impairment provision reflects the next 12 months’ expected losses. In respect of stage 2 
and 3 assets, the impairment provision reflects full lifetime expected losses. In respect of stage 3 assets, interest income is 
recognised only in respect of the balance net of impairment. 

In respect of loans to customers carried at FVOCI, we have taken the view that we cannot ascertain which loans have 
experienced a significant increase in credit risk since the loan’s origination without undue cost and effort, and hence the 
Group intends to categorise all FVOCI loans as stage 2 or 3; this approach is permitted by IFRS 9. 

 

Hedge accounting 

IFRS 9 is expected to better align risk management activities and financial hedge accounting. The Group expects to adopt 
IFRS 9 although this is not expected to have any material impact upon the existing IAS 39 accounting for one-to-one hedge 
accounting relationships. As IFRS 9 does not deal with macro-hedging, the Group expects to continue to apply the existing 
IAS 39 macro-hedge accounting rules. Development of the IASB’s ‘Dynamic Risk Management’ project, which is intended to 
replace the existing macro-hedge accounting rules in due course, are being monitored. 
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(h) IFRS 9 (continued) 
 

Implementation 

The Group established an IFRS 9 Implementation Project Steering Committee in January 2016 including representatives of 
finance and risk. Progress is reported to the Audit Committee at regular intervals.   The Group has engaged a firm of 
external technical accounting specialists to support the project and external modelling consultants to build fair value and 
impairment models. It is planned that the IFRS 9 models will be tested on a monthly basis commencing during the first half 
of 2017/18 and that parallel running of IFRS 9 and IAS 39 models and processes will commence during the second half of 
2017/18. 

 
 

34. Collateral pledged and received  

  
31 March 2017 

£m 

 

31 March 2016 
£m 

Cash collateral which the Group has provided in respect of derivative contracts 521.9 520.9 

Total collateral pledged 521.9 520.9 

  

 
31 March 2017 

£m 

 

 
31 March 2016 

£m 
Cash collateral which the Group has received in respect of derivative contracts - 553.8 
Securities collateral held - 196.7 

Total collateral received - 750.5 
 

The cash collateral pledged shown above is carried on the Balance Sheet within cash at bank and in hand. The liability to 
repay the cash collateral received is included within amounts due to banks in the Balance Sheet. In the absence of 
counterparty default, the Group had no right to sell or re-pledge the securities collateral received and therefore in 
accordance with the provisions of IAS 39 such securities were not recognised on the Balance Sheet. 

 
 

 

A description of the principal risks to which the Group is exposed is provided on pages 69 to 73 which form an integral part 
of the audited Financial Statements. 

(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the potential for financial loss caused by a party failing to meet an obligation as it becomes due. The Group 
considers its most significant credit risk to be the exposure to retail, commercial and wholesale counterparties failing to meet 
their obligations. As credit risk is the main risk to the Group, a credit risk framework has been established as part of the 
overall governance framework to measure, mitigate and manage credit risk within risk appetite. The Group closely monitors 
its credit risk against the Board's credit policies. 

The maximum credit risk exposure at the Balance Sheet date before taking account of any collateral netting and other credit 
enhancements was as follows: 
 31 March 2017 

£m 
31 March 2016 

£m 

On Balance Sheet:   

Cash at bank and in hand 2,112.7 5,598.3 
Amount owed in respect of sale of loans 11,483.9 - 
Investment securities 282.4 352.8 
Loans to customers 19,462.8 35,532.6 
Derivative financial instruments 1.8 781.4 
Other financial assets 25.5 22.8 

Total on Balance Sheet 33,369.1 42,287.9 

Off Balance Sheet:   

Loan commitments (see note 30) 429.0 618.7 

 
Loans to customers include loans which are secured on property. Additional information in respect of credit risk is provided 
in note 13 (for wholesale assets) and note 14 (for loans to customers). 
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(a) Credit risk (continued) 

The Board has approved a framework for maximum wholesale credit counterparty limits against which total wholesale credit 
exposures are continually monitored and controlled.   The credit limit structure adopts a risk based matrix whereby lower 
rated counterparties are afforded lower overall levels of limit. Although publicly available ratings produced by rating agencies 
provide a useful guide to the creditworthiness of counterparties, an internal evaluation is also used in the limit assignment 
process. Counterparties are assigned maximum limits in accordance with the ratings matrix, based on the lowest rating 
afforded to any part of the counterparty group. 

For derivative financial instruments the Group uses a range of approaches to mitigate credit risk, including internal control 
policies, obtaining collateral, using master netting agreements and other credit risk transfers. Derivative transactions with 
wholesale counterparties are typically collateralised, in the form of cash or highly liquid securities, under a Credit Support 
Annex in conjunction with the ISDA Master Agreement. All outstanding positions are held with wholesale counterparties with 
a minimum of a BBB+ credit rating. 

 

Insurance risk 

Loans to customers include lifetime (equity release) loans (see note 14). Under the terms of these loans, when the borrower 
dies or goes into long term care the property is sold and the proceeds used to redeem the loan. Where the sale proceeds 
are less than the contractual sum owed the Group does not have any further ability to recover amounts from the borrower or 
the estate. These loans are considered to meet the definition of an insurance contract ie that the Group has accepted the 
risk of negative equity arising on the loans. The Group makes provision for insurance losses by monitoring house price 
inflation tables and actual losses experienced. The Group manages the insurance risk as part of its credit risk management, 
but as the borrower is not required to make any payments until the borrower dies or goes into long term care the Group is 
restricted in its ability to take any action to mitigate the insurance risk. The insurance provision reduces the carrying amount 
of the lifetime loans on the Balance Sheet. 

 

Concentration risk 

The Group has investments in a range of investment securities issued by government bodies and banks and in asset- 
backed securities, in both the UK and overseas. 62% (2016: 53%) of the asset-backed securities are backed by UK assets. 
Further details in respect of concentrations in the wholesale assets portfolio are given in note 13. 

The Group operates primarily in the UK and adverse changes to the UK economy could impact all areas of the Group’s 
business. Residential loans to customers are all secured on property in the UK. 33% (2016: 57%) of residential loans to 
customers are concentrated in the buy-to-let market; most of the remaining balances are secured on residential owner- 
occupied properties. 

The residential loan book of £18.9bn (2016: £34.7bn) is geographically spread across the UK broadly in line with the 
country’s housing stock. Consequently, there is a geographic concentration of mortgages secured on properties in London 
and the South-East representing 37% (2016: 43%) of the book. 

The residential loan book includes £887.8m (2016: £895.7m) of lifetime (equity release) loans. On redemption, Group does 
not have the right to seek to recover any shortfall from the borrower or estate; hence the Group has insurance risk in respect 
of these loans. An insurance provision of £130.3m (2016: £111.1m) is carried against these balances (see note 15). The 
risks in respect of the lifetime loans are common across the lifetime book. 

Within the commercial mortgage portfolio there are 52 loans (2016: 71) totalling £257.3m (2016: £440.5m), with the largest 
10 loans accounting for 89% (2016: 88%) of the portfolio. All of these loans are secured on commercial and housing 
association properties. 

 

(b) Liquidity risk 

The Group closely monitors its liquidity position against the Board’s liquidity policy. Minimum and target liquidity levels are 
established through stress testing and cash flow forecasting, taking into consideration an assessment of any emerging and 
potentially extreme funding conditions. 
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(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings: 
 

   
Within 

After 
three months 

After 
six months 

After 
one year 

  

On three but within but within but within After 
demand months six months one year five years five years Total 

At 31 March 2017 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Financial assets:        

Cash at bank and in hand 2,112.4 0.3 - - - - 2,112.7 

Amount owed in respect of sale of 
loans 

 
- 

 
11,483.9 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
11,483.9 

Investment securities 10.6 0.2 - 0.1 6.4 265.1 282.4 
Loans to customers 181.8 92.5 106.3 176.1 1,453.3 17,452.8 19,462.8 

Fair value adjustments on portfolio 
hedging 

 
- 

 
1.8 

 
1.9 

 
2.9 

 
19.1 

 
428.9 

 
454.6 

Derivative financial instruments - 1.8 - - - - 1.8 
Other financial assets - 25.5 - - - - 25.5 

Total financial assets 2,304.8 11,606.0 108.2 179.1 1,478.8 18,146.8 33,823.7 

 
Financial liabilities: 
Statutory Debt and HM Treasury 
loans 25,016.7 
Derivative financial instruments - 
Debt securities in issue - 
Other financial liabilities - 

 

Total financial liabilities 25,016.7 
 

 

 
 After After After   
  

On 
Within 
three 

three months 
but within 

six months 
but within 

one year 
but within 

 
After 

 demand months six months one year five years five years Total 

At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Financial assets: 
Cash at bank and in hand 

 
5,551.7 

 
46.6 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
5,598.3 

Investment securities 11.8 0.7 21.0 0.2 7.6 311.5 352.8 
Loans to customers 265.4 168.0 167.6 357.1 2,612.0 31,962.5 35,532.6 

Fair value adjustments on portfolio 
hedging 

 
- 

 
0.8 

 
0.8 

 
1.6 

 
6.0 

 
427.4 

 
436.6 

Derivative financial instruments - 339.1 - 1.0 - 441.3 781.4 
Other financial assets - 22.8 - - - - 22.8 

Total financial assets 5,828.9 578.0 189.4 359.9 2,625.6 33,142.7 42,724.5 

 

Financial liabilities: 
Amounts due to banks 

 
 

553.9 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- - - 553.9 

Statutory Debt and HM Treasury 
loans 

 
28,332.3 

 
21.6 

 
- 

 
- - - 28,353.9 

Derivative financial instruments - 1.3 8.2 2.7 8.3 507.2 527.7 

Debt securities in issue 1.6 1,945.6 110.8 214.2 1,958.6 928.4 5,159.2 
Capital instruments - 0.1 - 4.1 - 5.0 9.2 
Other financial liabilities - 182.6 - - - - 182.6 

Total financial liabilities 28,887.8 2,151.2 119.0 221.0 1,966.9 1,440.6 34,786.5 

 

HM Treasury has indicated that it expects the loans and the WCF provided to the Group by HM Treasury and the Statutory 
Debt due to the FSCS to be repaid out of the cash flows generated by the Group during its wind-down. It is not possible to 
specify the contractual maturity dates of the loans to the Group from HM Treasury and from the FSCS and therefore they 
have been included in the table above as though repayable on demand. As disclosed in note 37, on 26 April 2017 
£10,976.6m of the Statutory Debt owed to the FSCS and £440.7m of the WCF were repaid. 

35. Financial risk management (continued) 

14.6 - - - - 25,031.3 
0.9 1.8 0.3 0.7 523.5 527.2 

 - - 4.2 200.0 - 204.2 
127.9 - - - - 127.9 

143.4 1.8 4.5 200.7 523.5 25,890.6 
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(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

Debt securities in issue included notes which securitised loans to customers through SPVs. These notes were repaid on a 
pass-through basis. In the above table, maturities of such notes were based on the expected repayment of notes which, in 
turn, were derived from the expected redemption profiles of securitised loans. 

In the above table, where derivatives had been taken out to hedge mortgage backed securitised notes, the timings of 
derivative payments were based on the expected repayment dates of the hedged notes. 

Other assets and liabilities are included in the above table according to the earliest date that payment can be contractually 
demanded. It should be noted that many financial instruments are settled earlier than their contractual maturity date; in 
particular, many mortgage loans are repaid early, in full or in part. 

Assets and liabilities with a remaining period to contractual maturity of within one year are classed as current and those with 
a remaining period of more than one year are classed as non-current.   Non-financial assets and liabilities amount to 
£506.4m and £346.9m respectively (2016: £544.7m and £593.0m) of which £21.9m and £80.9m respectively are classed as 
current (2016: £8.9m and £280.3m) and £484.5m and £266.0m respectively are classed as non-current (2016: £535.8m and 
£312.7m). 

 
Non-derivative cash flows 

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative cash flows payable into relevant periods. The assumptions used in the 
preparation of this table are consistent with those used in the maturity table on page 138. The amounts disclosed are the 
contractual undiscounted cash outflows; these differ from Balance Sheet values due to the effects of discounting on certain 
Balance Sheet items and due to the inclusion of contractual future interest flows. 

 

 After After After   
  

On 
Within 

three 
three months 

but within 
six months 
but within 

one year 
but within 

 
After 

 demand months six months one year five years five years Total 

At 31 March 2017 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Financial liabilities:        

Statutory Debt and HM 
Treasury loans 

 
25,016.7 

 
14.6 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
25,031.3 

Debt securities in issue - - - 12.8 225.5 - 238.3 
Other financial liabilities - 127.9 - - - - 127.9 
Loan commitments 424.6 0.1 0.1 0.3 1.7 2.2 429.0 

Total 25,441.3 142.6 0.1 13.1 227.2 2.2 25,826.5 

    
After 

 
After 

 
After 

  

  
On 

Within 
three 

three months 
but within 

six months 
but within 

one year 
but within 

 
After 

 

 demand months six months one year five years five years Total 

At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Financial liabilities:        

Amounts due to banks 553.9 - - - - - 553.9 
Statutory Debt and HM        

Treasury loans 28,332.3 21.6 - - - - 28,353.9 
Debt securities in issue - 1,901.4 116.4 238.9 2,068.5 1,066.8 5,392.0 
Capital instruments - 0.2 - 4.7 1.5 15.7 22.1 
Other financial liabilities - 182.6 - - - - 182.6 
Loan commitments 613.4 0.2 0.2 0.2 1.9 2.8 618.7 

Total 29,499.6 2,106.0 116.6 243.8 2,071.9 1,085.3 35,123.2 

35. Financial risk management (continued) 
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(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
Derivative cash flows 

The following table analyses cash outflows for the Group’s derivative financial liabilities. The amounts are allocated into 
relevant periods using assumptions consistent with those used in the preparation of the maturity table on page 138. 

 
   

Within 
After 

three months 
After 

six months 
After 

one year 
  

On three but within but within but within After 
demand months six months one year five years five years Total 

At 31 March 2017 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Derivative financial liabilities to 
be settled on a net basis 

 
- 

 
11.5 

 
11.1 

 
20.3 

 
157.0 

 
537.0 

 
736.9 

Derivative financial liabilities to        

be settled on a gross basis: 
- outflows 

 
- 

 
158.6 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
158.6 

- inflows - (157.9) - - - - (157.9) 

Total - 12.2 11.1 20.3 157.0 537.0 737.6 

   
 

Within 

 

After 
three months 

 

After   
six months 

 

After 
one year 

  

 On three but within but within but within After  

 demand months six months one year five years five years Total 

At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Derivative financial liabilities to        

be settled on a net basis - 12.9 12.7 22.8 152.5 579.4 780.3 
Derivative financial liabilities to        

be settled on a gross basis:        

- outflows - 0.4 79.7 0.9 7.1 127.9 216.0 
- inflows - (0.9) (73.7) (1.4) (11.1) (137.4) (224.5) 

Total - 12.4 18.7 22.3 148.5 569.9 771.8 

 
 

(c) Market risk 

The following table describes the significant activities that were undertaken by the Group prior to nationalisation and which 
currently give rise to financial or market risk, the potential consequences associated with such activities and the derivative 
instruments used by the Group to mitigate the risks arising. 

 

Activity Risk Type of derivative instrument used 

Fixed rate mortgages Sensitivity to changes in interest 
rates 

Interest rate swaps 

Variable rate mortgage balances Sensitivity to changes in interest 
rates 

Interest rate swaps 

Legacy investments and funding in foreign 
currencies 

Sensitivity to changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates 

Foreign exchange contracts 

 

Interest rate swaps: 

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts in Cash Flow Hedge Relationships ('CFHR') 
as at 31 March 2017 were £0.7bn (31 March 2016: £1.8bn). 

Gains and losses recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve on interest rate swap contracts as at 31 March 2017 will be 
continually released to the Income Statement up until the maturity of the hedging instruments in August 2017. 

 

Cross currency swaps: 

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding cross currency swaps in an eligible CFHR as at 31 March 2017 were £nil 
(31 March 2016: £3.3bn). 

The accounting policy for derivatives and hedge accounting is described in note 1(h), and further details of hedge accounting 
are provided in note 33(d). 

35. Financial risk management (continued) 
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(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk typically arises from mismatches between the repricing dates of interest-bearing assets and liabilities on the 
Group’s Balance Sheet, and from the investment profile of the Group’s capital and reserves. The Group’s Treasury function 
is responsible for managing this exposure within the risk exposure limits set out in the Treasury Risk policy, as approved by 
the Board. This policy sets out the nature of the market risks that may be taken along with aggregate risk limits, and 
stipulates the procedures, instruments and controls to be used in managing market risk. 

Market risk is the potential adverse change in income or net worth arising from movements in interest rates, exchange rates 
or other market prices. Effective identification and management of market risk is essential for maintaining stable net interest 
income. 

The Group measures, monitors and controls the following interest rate risks and sensitivities: 

• Mismatch risk 

• Curve 

• Prepayment risk 

• Basis risk 

• Reset risk 

Interest rate risk exposure is predominantly managed through the use of interest rate derivatives, principally interest rate 
swaps. 

Interest rate sensitivities are reviewed by senior management with a frequency between daily and monthly dependant on the 
granularity of the position and reported to ERC monthly. Exposures are calculated using a range of interest rate scenarios, 
including non-parallel shifts in the yield curve and the main metrics used by management are: 

(i) the change in value of the Group’s net worth due to a notional 2% parallel move in market and base rates. 
 

 31 March 2017 
£m 

31 March 2016 
£m 

2% increase (0.7) (29.1) 
2% decrease (9.4) 29.8 

 

(ii) the sensitivity of the Group’s interest margin over 12 months to a notional 2% parallel move in market and base rates. 
 

 31 March 2017 
£m 

31 March 2016 
£m 

2% increase 281.8 516.3 
2% decrease (43.8) (130.6) 

 

Foreign currency risk 

The Group’s policy is to hedge all material foreign currency exposures by use of naturally offsetting foreign currency assets 
and liabilities or by the use of derivatives. Consequently, at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 the Group had no net 
material exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations or changes in foreign currency interest rates. The impact on the 
Group’s profit and equity of reasonably possible changes in exchange rates compared to actual rates would not have been 
material at 31 March 2017 or 31 March 2016. 

35. Financial risk management (continued) 
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(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

Foreign currency risk (continued) 

The table below summarises the Group's exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the Balance Sheet date. 
Included in the table are the Group's financial instruments under the relevant currency headings. The amounts disclosed are 
the sterling equivalents of the notional amounts due on maturity, including interest accrued at the Balance Sheet date, less 
any impairment provisions. 

 

 
At 31 March 2017 

€ 
£m 

$ 
£m 

Other 
£m 

Total 
£m 

Financial assets:     

Cash at bank and in hand 0.6 1.0 - 1.6 
Investment securities 163.4 8.5 - 171.9 
Derivative financial instruments (98.1) (8.0) - (106.1) 

Total financial assets 65.9 1.5 - 67.4 

 
Financial liabilities: 

    

Derivative financial instruments 64.0 - - 64.0 

Total financial liabilities 64.0 - - 64.0 

Net currency gap 1.9 1.5 - 3.4 

 

 
€ $ Other Total 

At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m 

Financial assets: 
Cash at bank and in hand 

 
570.1 

 
27.0 

 
- 

 
597.1 

Investment securities 208.7 10.4 - 219.1 
Derivative financial instruments 3,036.2 834.2 175.9 4,046.3 

Total financial assets 3,815.0 871.6 175.9 4,862.5 

 

Financial liabilities: 
Amounts due to banks 

 
 

551.1 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

551.1 
Derivative financial instruments 312.6 34.8 - 347.4 
Debt securities in issue 2,949.6 839.4 175.9 3,964.9 

Total financial liabilities 3,813.3 874.2 175.9 4,863.4 

Net currency gap 1.7 (2.6) - (0.9) 

35. Financial risk management (continued) 
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37. Events after the reporting period 

 

 
 

(a) On 20 January 2009 a solicitor's letter was received notifying B&B and certain present and former B&B directors of a 
potential claim by former individual shareholders who subscribed for additional shares in the £401m rights issue approved 
on 17 July 2008. These former shareholders claim to have suffered loss through having been induced to subscribe for 
shares in the rights issue by allegedly materially misleading and/or incomplete statements made in the associated 
prospectus dated 24 June 2008 as revised and supplemented by the supplementary prospectus dated 11 July 2008. Should 
such a claim result in proceedings which are pursued through the courts and which succeed, the defendant directors and/or 
B&B could be liable in damages to certain former shareholders in B&B who subscribed for shares in the rights issue. In May 
2009 B&B together with its legal advisors responded to the allegations raised. Nothing further was heard until 23 January 
2012 when correspondence was received from the solicitors representing the former shareholders, to which B&B together 
with its legal advisors responded. This correspondence contained no further allegations or details of the former 
shareholders' potential claim. It is not possible at this stage to determine the outcome or timing of any conclusion to this 
matter. No provision has been made in respect of these allegations. 

 

(b) B&B has provided certain warranties and indemnities to Prudential and to Blackstone in respect of the sale of loans in 
March 2017 detailed in note 14. The sale agreements set various time limits for bringing claims under the warranties. For 
most of the warranties this time limit is 12 months from the date on which legal title is transferred to the purchasing entities; 
legal title is expected to transfer no later than April 2018. As detailed in note I the Company has provided a guarantee to 
Prudential and to Blackstone that should B&B fail to make payment to Prudential or to Blackstone under a valid claim made 
under the warranties and indemnities that B&B provided to them in respect of the March 2017 sale of loans then UKAR will 
make payment to Prudential or to Blackstone in satisfaction of the claims. Through commitments made by HM Treasury in 
relation to the sale, the Company is satisfied that it will have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities arising from any claims 
made under the guarantees. 

 

(c) As detailed in note 26, whilst the Court of Appeal provided clarity that loans greater than £25,000 were not covered under 
the Consumer Credit Act, there is a risk that individual customers could make claims against NRAM. This could result in 
costs to NRAM where such claims are upheld. It is not possible to provide any meaningful estimate or range of the possible 
cost. 

 
(d) The Group’s lending and other consumer credit business is governed by consumer credit law and other regulations. 
Claims upheld in favour of customers in relation to potential breaches of requirements could result in costs to the Group. It 
is not possible to provide any meaningful estimate or range of the possible cost. 

 

(e) NRAM Limited provided certain warranties and indemnities to Cerberus in respect of the sale to Cerberus of certain loans 
and the shares in NRAM plc. The sale agreement set various time limits for bringing claims under the warranties. For most 
of the warranties this time limit is 5 May 2018 or 5 May 2019, while for certain tax-related warranties the time limit is 5 May 
2023. 

 
(f) B&B provided certain warranties and indemnities to Computershare in respect of the transfer of the mortgage servicing 

business. The sale contract set various time limits for bringing claims under the warranties and indemnities which vary 

depending upon their nature, with the majority being limited to June 2018. No provision has been made. 

 
 

 

As described in note 14, on 31 March 2017 UKAR announced that following an open and competitive process B&B had 
agreed to sell two separate asset portfolios for a total of £11.8bn. Financial completion occurred on 25 April 2017; on 26 
April 2017 the proceeds were used to repay £10,976.6m of the Statutory Debt owed to the FSCS and £440.7m of the WCF. 
At the point of contract signature the best estimate was recognised in respect of the amount of the sale proceeds and of the 
loss on sale.   In the Financial Statements for the year to 31 March 2017 these amounts have been adjusted to reflect the 
final proceeds as determined on financial completion in April; this adjustment is considered to be an adjusting event as 
defined by IAS 10 ‘Events after the Reporting Period’. 

36. Contingent liabilities 
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Independent Auditor’s Report Annual Report & Accounts 2017 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s report to the Members of UK Asset Resolution Limited 

 
I have audited the Parent Company Financial Statements of UK Asset Resolution Limited for the year ended 31 March 2017 
which comprise: 

• the Company Balance Sheet; 

• the Company Statement of Changes in Equity; 

• the Company Cash Flow Statement; and 

• the related notes. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and as regards the Parent Company Financial Statements, as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. I have also audited the information in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited. 

 
Respective responsibilities of the Directors and the auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 78, the Directors are responsible for 
the preparation of the Financial Statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. My responsibility is to 
audit and express an opinion on the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require me and my staff to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors. 

 

Scope of the audit of the Financial Statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the Financial Statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Parent Company’s circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 
by the Directors; and the overall presentation of the Financial Statements. In addition I read all the financial and non- 
financial information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited Financial Statements and to 
identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge 
acquired by me in the course of performing the audit. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies I consider the implications for my report. 

 

Opinion on Financial Statements 

In my opinion: 

• the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2017; and 

• the Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

as adopted by the European Union; and 

• the Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 

 
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In my opinion: 

• the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 

2006. 

• the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report and Governance Statement for the financial year 

for which the Financial Statements are prepared is consistent with the Financial Statements and these reports have 

been prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements; and 

• in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, I 

have not identified any material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report and Governance 

Statement. 
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Independent Auditor’s report to the Members of UK Asset Resolution Limited (continued) 

 
Matters on which I report by exception 

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires me to report to you if, in 
my opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for my audit have not 

been received from branches not visited by my staff; or 

• the Financial Statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my audit. 

 
Other matter 

I have reported separately, on pages 79 to 83 on the Group Financial Statements of UK Asset Resolution Limited for the 
year ended 31 March 2017. 

 
 
 

Hilary Lower (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

For and on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General (Statutory Auditor) 
National Audit Office 
157-197 Buckingham Palace Road 
Victoria 
London 
SW1W 9SP 

 
3 July 2017 
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Note 

31 March 2017 
£m 

31 March 2016 
£m 

 
Assets 

   

Investments in Group undertakings D 2,634.1 2,634.1 
Other assets  0.1 0.1 

Total assets  2,634.2 2,634.2 

 
Equity 

   

Issued capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent: 
- share capital 

 
28 

 
1.2 

 
1.2 

- merger reserve E 2,632.8 2,632.8 
- retained earnings  0.2 0.2 

Total equity  2,634.2 2,634.2 

 

 
The notes on pages 148 to 152 and note 28 on page 125 form an integral part of these Financial Statements. 

The Company's profit after tax for the financial year was £25,000 (31 March 2016: £22,000). As permitted by s408 of the 
Companies Act 2006, the Company's individual Income Statement, Statement of Comprehensive Income and related notes 
have not been presented in these Financial Statements. The Company’s retained earnings at 31 March 2017 were 
£202,000 (2016: £177,000). 

The Financial Statements on pages 146 to 152 were approved by the Board of Directors on 3 July 2017 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

 
 
 
 
 

John Tattersall Ian Hares 

Chairman Chief Executive Officer 
 

UK Asset Resolution Limited is registered in England and Wales under company number 07301961. 

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET 
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COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 

 COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  

 

 
For the 12 months to 31 March 2017  

Share 
capital 

£m 

 

Merger 
reserve 

£m 

 

Retained 
earnings 

£m 

Total share 
capital and 

reserves 
£m 

 
At 1 April 2016 

 
1.2 

 
2,632.8 

 
0.2 

 
2,634.2 

Profit for the financial year - - - - 

At 31 March 2017 1.2 2,632.8 0.2 2,634.2 

 

For the 12 months to 31 March 2016 

    

Total share 
 Share Merger Retained capital and 
 capital reserve earnings reserves 
 £m £m £m £m 

 
At 1 April 2015 

 
1.2 

 
2,632.8 

 
0.2 

 
2,634.2 

Profit for the financial year - - - - 

At 31 March 2016 1.2 2,632.8 0.2 2,634.2 

 

 

 

During the 12 months to 31 March 2017 and the comparative 12 months to 31 March 2016 the Company had no material 
cash flows or balances. Consequently no Cash Flow Statement has been presented. 

 
The Company had no significant non-cash transactions during the current or previous year. 
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B. Critical judgements and accounting estimates 

C. Taxation 

D. Investments in Group undertakings 

 

 

The Company is a private limited company incorporated on 1 July 2010 and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The principal 
activity of the Company is to provide management services to its subsidiary undertakings. The Company applies the 
accounting policies of the UKAR Group, set out on pages 92 to 100, with the following additional item. 

 

Investments in Group undertakings 

In the Financial Statements of the UKAR Company, investments in Group undertakings are carried at cost less any 
impairment. UKAR's acquisition of the entire issued share capital of B&B and NRAM plc in a share-for-share exchange has 
been accounted for under 'predecessor accounting' and the cost of each of these investments has been deemed to be the 
net assets of the B&B company and the NRAM plc company at 30 June 2010. On 29 April 2016 NRAM Limited acquired 
NRAM plc from the Company by way of a share-for-share exchange, NRAM Limited issuing the same number and class of 
shares as were acquired from UKAR. Investments are reviewed at each published Balance Sheet date for any indication of 
impairment. If there is indication of impairment of any investment, the carrying value of the investment is reviewed, and any 
impairment identified is charged immediately to the Company's Income Statement. 

 
 

 

In preparing the Financial Statements, management have made the following critical judgement. 
 

Investments in Group undertakings 

The Directors consider the value of the Company's investments in subsidiary undertakings to be supported by their 
underlying assets. 

 
 

 

The Company bears tax at the standard weighted average rate of UK corporation tax of 20.0% (2016: 20.0%) and has no 
deferred tax provided or unprovided. 

 
 

 

The investments in Group undertakings represent the Company's holdings of the entire issued share capital of B&B, NRAM 
and of UKARcs which was incorporated on 20 June 2013. 

The Company's principal subsidiary undertakings at 31 March 2017 held directly or indirectly, all of which are wholly owned 
and are fully consolidated into the Group Financial Statements, are listed below. All operate in their country of incorporation. 

Country of 

 
Direct 

Nature of business incorporation Class of shares held 

Bradford & Bingley plc Mortgage administration UK Ordinary 
Northern Rock (Asset Management) 
Limited 

Non-trading UK Ordinary 

NRAM Limited Mortgage administration UK Ordinary 
UKAR Corporate Services Limited  Administration UK Ordinary 

Indirect 

Mortgage Express Mortgage administration UK Ordinary 
 

 

Each of these companies has its registered office at Croft Road, Crossflatts, Bingley, West Yorkshire, BD16 2UA. 

A. Principal accounting policies 
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The following companies are also fully consolidated into the Group Financial Statements; all operate in their country of 
incorporation. All are indirectly wholly-owned except where indicated. 

 

 Registered 
number 

Nature of 
business 

Country of 
incorporation 

Class of 
shares held 

 
Bradford & Bingley Homeloans Limited 

 
02405307 

 
Non-trading 

 
UK 

 
Ordinary 

Bradford & Bingley Investments 03326913 Non-trading UK Ordinary 

Bradford & Bingley Mortgage Management Limited 02405306 Non-trading UK Ordinary 

Community Housing Initiatives Limited 02433437 Non-trading UK Ordinary1
 

F&NE (1990) Limited 02481908 Non-trading UK Ordinary* 

F&NE Limited 02428779 Non-trading UK Ordinary* 

F.F.M. Limited 02397984 Non-trading UK Ordinary 

Finance for Mortgages Limited 02220176 Non-trading UK Ordinary 

Heron’s Reach Developments Limited 02554549 Non-trading UK Ordinary 

HSMS 01192730 Non-trading UK Ordinary 

Leamington Mortgage Corporation Limited 02066450 Non-trading UK Ordinary 

Mortgage Express (No. 2) 00891681 Non-trading UK Ordinary 

Mortgage Express Holdings 02412659 Non-trading UK Ordinary 

NRAM (No. 2) Limited 02190427 Non-trading UK Ordinary 

NRAM Homes Limited 02306045 Non-trading UK Ordinary 

Scotlife Homeloans (No. 2) Limited 02220177 Non-trading UK Ordinary 

Silhouette Mortgages Limited 02356078 Non-trading UK Ordinary 

 
* The Group owns 50% of the shares of these companies. 

 
The Directors consider the value of investments in Group undertakings to be supported by their underlying assets. All have 
their registered office at Croft Road, Crossflatts, Bingley, West Yorkshire, BD16 2UA except for the following: 

 
1 The Group owns 50% of the shares of this company, which has its registered office at Berkeley House, 19 Portsmouth 

Road, Cobham, Surrey, KT11 1JG. 

D. Investments in Group undertakings (continued) 
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SPVs 

The following entities were SPVs established in connection with the Group’s securitisation and secured funding programmes 
(see note 24). UKAR, B&B and NRAM had no contractual arrangement or intention to provide additional financial or other 
support to these SPVs. Although the Company had no direct or indirect ownership interest in these entities and no rights to 
vote or to receive dividends they were regarded as subsidiaries. This is because they were principally engaged in providing 
a source of long-term funding to the Group, which in substance, had the rights to all benefits from the activities of the SPVs. 
They were, therefore, effectively controlled by the Group. B&B was a member of Bradford & Bingley Covered Bonds LLP 
and NRAM was a member of NRAM Covered Bond LLP. All were fully consolidated until the funding structures were 
unwound and the companies were placed into liquidation. 

 

 
Nature of business 

Country of incorporation 
and operation 

 

 

Aire Valley Funding 1 Limited1 Liquidation UK 

Aire Valley Funding 2 Limited1 Liquidation UK 

Aire Valley Holdings Limited2 Holding company UK 

Aire Valley Mortgages 2004-1 plc1 Liquidation UK 

Aire Valley Mortgages 2005-1 plc1 Liquidation UK 

Aire Valley Mortgages 2006-1 plc1 Liquidation UK 

Aire Valley Mortgages 2007-1 plc1 Liquidation UK 

Aire Valley Mortgages 2007-2 plc1 Liquidation UK 

Aire Valley Mortgages 2008-1 plc1 Liquidation UK 

Aire Valley PECOH Limited2 Post-enforcement call option holder UK 

Aire Valley Trustee Limited Dissolved Jersey 

Bradford & Bingley Covered Bonds LLP1 Liquidation UK 

Designated Member No.1 Limited Dissolved Jersey 

Designated Member No.2 Limited2 Member of Bradford & Bingley Covered UK 
Bonds LLP 

Ivybond Holdings Limited Dissolved Jersey 

GPCH Limited4 Liquidation UK 

Granite Finance Funding Limited4 Liquidation Jersey 

Granite Finance Funding 2 Limited3 Liquidation UK 

Granite Finance Holdings Limited3 Liquidation UK 

Granite Finance Trustees Limited4 Liquidation Jersey 
Granite Master Issuer plc3 Liquidation UK 

Granite Mortgages 03-2 plc3 Liquidation UK 

Granite Mortgages 03-3 plc3 Liquidation UK 
Granite Mortgages 04-1 plc3 Liquidation UK 
Granite Mortgages 04-2 plc3 Liquidation UK 
Granite Mortgages 04-3 plc3 Liquidation UK 

Moore Investments Limited4 Member of NRAM Covered Bond LLP Jersey 

NRAM Covered Bond LLP3 Liquidation UK 

Whinstone Capital Management Limited4 Liquidation Jersey 

Whinstone 2 Capital Management Limited4 Liquidation Jersey 

 
1 Registered office: 40A Station Road, Upminster, Essex, RM14 2TR. 
2 Registered office: 35 Great St Helen's, London, EC3A 6AP. 
3 Registered office: 15 Canada Square, London, E14 5GL. 
4 Registered office: 13 Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE4 5UT. 
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E. Merger reserve 

F. Related party disclosures 

 

 
 

Summarised financial information for material SPVs 

 
Set out below is summarised financial information for each material SPV: 

Debt securities in issue Net assets Profit after tax 
 

At 31 March At 31 March At 31 March At 31 March 12 months to 12 months to 
 2017 

£m 
2016 

£m 
2017 

£m 
2016 

£m 
31 March 2017 

£m 
31 March 2016 

£m 

 
Aire Valley Mortgages 2004-1 plc 

 
- 

 
480.3 

 
- 

 
4.1 

 
(4.1) 

 
0.9 

Aire Valley Mortgages 2005-1 plc - 306.5 - 2.2 (2.2) 0.9 

Aire Valley Mortgages 2006-1 plc - 1,644.5 - 12.4 (12.4) 0.5 

Aire Valley Mortgages 2007-1 plc - 1,096.0 - 2.2 (2.2) (0.6) 

Granite Mortgages 03-2 plc - - - 0.1 (0.1) (0.3) 

Granite Mortgages 03-3 plc - - - 0.1 (0.1) (0.1) 

Granite Mortgages 04-1 plc - - - 0.1 (0.1) (0.3) 

Granite Mortgages 04-2 plc - - - 0.1 (0.1) 0.2 

Granite Mortgages 04-3 plc - - - 0.1 (0.1) (0.1) 

Granite Master Issuer plc - - - 0.5 (0.5) 4.0 

Granite Finance Funding Limited - - - 0.2 (0.2) (0.2) 

Granite Finance Funding 2 Limited - - - - - (0.1) 

Whinstone Capital Management Limited - 78.9 - 0.2 (0.2) (48.2) 

Whinstone 2 Capital Management Limited - - - - - (49.0) 

 

During the year the remaining debt securities were redeemed. 

 
 

 

£m 

At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 2,632.8 
 

 

The merger reserve was generated on 1 October 2010 when the Company acquired all the issued shares of B&B and 
NRAM plc from the Treasury Solicitor via a share-for-share exchange. The merger reserve represents the difference 
between the value attributed to the Company's investment in each company and the nominal value of the share capital 
issued by the Company in exchange. On 29 April 2016 NRAM Limited acquired NRAM plc from the Company by way of a 
share-for-share exchange, NRAM Limited issuing the same number and class of shares as were acquired from UKAR. 

 

(a) Subsidiary companies 

The Company had no material balances outstanding with subsidiary companies during the year. 

The Company had transactions with its subsidiaries as follows: 

 

 12 months to 
31 March 2017 

£000 

12 months to 
31 March 2016 

£000 
Management charges to subsidiary undertakings 528 626 
Costs recharged by subsidiary undertakings 503 599 

 
(b) Key management personnel 

The Group considers the Boards of Directors and the members of the Executive Committees of UKAR, B&B and NRAM to 
be the key management personnel. The Company had no transactions or balances directly with any key management 
personnel during the year. The Company's non-executive Directors have service contracts with the Company. Their fees 
are paid by B&B and recharged at cost to the Company, along with other related costs. 

 
(c) Directors' emoluments 

The aggregate UKAR Group emoluments of the Directors of the UKAR Company for the 12 months to 31 March 2017 were 
£1,529,449 and of the highest paid Director £766,169 (12 months to 31 March 2016: £2,159,628 and £966,611 respectively). 
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H. Ultimate controlling party 

I. Contingent liabilities 

 

 
 

The Company has no significant financial risks. 

 
 

 

All shares in the Company are owned by the Treasury Solicitor as nominee for HM Treasury, and the Company considers 

the UK government to be its ultimate controlling party. The results of the UKAR Group are consolidated into those of HM 

Treasury as presented in HM Treasury’s Annual Report & Accounts. 

 
 

 

The Company has provided a guarantee to Prudential and to Blackstone that should B&B fail to make payment to Prudential 
or to Blackstone under a valid claim made under the warranties and indemnities that B&B provided to them in respect of the 
March 2017 sale of loans then UKAR will make payment to Prudential or to Blackstone in satisfaction of the claim. Through 
commitments made by HM Treasury in relation to the sale, the Company is satisfied that it will have sufficient funds to meet 
its liabilities arising from any claims made under the guarantees. 

G. Financial risk management 



 

 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

UK Asset Resolution Limited 
 

Registered Office: 
Croft Road 
Crossflatts 
Bingley 
West Yorkshire 
BD16 2UA 

 

Registered in England and Wales under company number 07301961 

www.ukar.co.uk 

http://www.ukar.co.uk/
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